TR FIF CUP

DETERMINISTIC AND STOCHASTIC WAVEFIELDS IN THE NEAR-FIELD FROM EXPLOSIVE SOURCES

AD-A210 057

Annual and Final Report

Grant AFOSR-84-0016

15 Oct 87 - 14 Apr 89



6 29 018

PI: Brian W Stump

Department of Geological Sciences

Southern Methodist University

Dallas, Texas 75275

89

Approved to public Jahrens; Distribution Unlimited

	OCUMENTATIO	N PAGE		ļ	rorm Approved OMB No. 0704-0188
a. REPORT SECURITY CLASSIFICATION		16. RESTRICTIVE	MARKINGS		
UNCLHSS上ド上ED . SECURITY CLASSIFICATION AUTHORITY		3. DISTRIBUTION	AVAILABILITY C	OF REPORT	
	15	. Approv	red to such 11	c release	;
D. DECLASSIFICATION / DOWNGRADING SCHEDU		distr:	ibution unli	mitod.	
SMU G-5	ER(S)	5. MONITORING	ORGANIZATION	REPORT NUM	18 4 5
Southern Methodist Univ.	6b. OFFICE SYMBOL (If applicable)	7a. NAME OF N AFOSR	IONITORING ORG	ANIZATION	
ic. ADDRESS (City. State and 710 Code)		76 ADDRESS (C	ity, State, and ZIF	P Code)	<u>,</u>
Southern Methodist Univer	sity	Bld, 41	0		1.1.10
Dept. of Geological Scier Dallas. Texas 75275	ices	Bolline	AFBDC .	20332.1	6448
Ba. NAME OF FUNDING (SPONSORING	8b. OFFICE SYMBOL	9 PROCUREMEN	IT INSTRUMENT I	DENTIFICATIO	N NUMBER
ORGANIZATION	(If applicable)	ALACO	.84-0016		
Arusk/NP	NV NV	10 500000		ERS	
DG., ADURENS (City, State, and ZIP Code)		PROGRAM	PROJECT	TASK	WORK UNIT
Building 401 Bolling AFB, DC 20332		ELEMENT NO. 61102F	NO. 2309	NO AZ	ACCESSION NO
12. PERSONAL AUTHOR(S) B. W. Stump, L. Grant, M	<u>Bogaards, E</u>	Flynn, R	Reinke ORT (Year Mon	th, Day) 115	PAGE COUNT
12. PERSONAL AUTHOR(S) B. W. Stump, L, Grant, M. 13a. TYPE OF REPORT 13b. TIME OF REPORT 15. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTATION A Seis seismic modeling. 17. COSATI CODES FIELD GROUP Ug.11 19. ABSTRACT (Continue on covers if cove	Bogaards, E OVERED SOCt87014Apr85 Smology, explo 18. SUBJECT TERMS Ucc Ulum y and identify by black	Flynn, R 14. DATE OF REP 82 05 OSION SOUR (Continue on reve 16 number)	Reinke ORT (Year, Monto 24 Ce, momen rse if necessary a	h, Day) 15. t tenso: Ind identify b	PAGE COUNT 316 rs, inversio y block number)
12. PERSONAL AUTHOR(S) B. W. Stump, L. Grant, M. 13a. TYPE OF REPORT Final Technical 13b. TIME OF FROM 1 13b. TIME OF FROM 1 FROM 1	Bogaards, E OVERED OCt87014Apr89 smology, explo 18. SUBJECT TERMS Juce Ulum y and identify by block e for character ifferent geology xplosion in a te characteri erization mus properties at	Flynn, R 14. DATE OF REP 80 05 DSION SOUR (Continue on reve 16 number) erizing th ogical mat lluvium is zation pri t include the test	<u>Reinke</u> ORT (Year, Mont 24 ce, momen rse if necessary a e seismic erial is given. or to the determina site.	h, Day) 15. t tensor ind identify b source present The imp experi: tion of	PAGE COUNT 316 rs, inversio y block number) from ed. The ortance ment is both
2. PERSONAL AUTHOR(S) B. W. Stump, L. Grant, M. 3a. TYPE OF REPORT Final Technical 6. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTATION Seis seismic modeling. 17. COSATI CODES FIELD GROUP SUB-GROUP 19. ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse if necessar An experimental technique chemical explosions in d specific example of an ex- of a complete seismic si- emphasized. This character compressional and shear 20 DISTRIBUTION/AVAILABILITY OF ABSTRACT DISTRIBUTION/AVAILABILITY OF ABSTRACT SALVE ASSOCIATION AVAILABILITY AND AVAILABILITY AND AVAILABILITY ASSOCIATION AVAILABILITY AND	Bogaards, E. OVERED OCt87014Apr89 smology, explo 18. SUBJECT TERMS Juc Uum y and identify by block of or character ifferent geologication in a te characterif erization mus properties at	Flynn, R 14. DATE OF REP 82 05 DSION SOUR (Continue on reve 16 number) erizing th ogical mat lluvium is zation pri t include the test 21. ABSTRACT VN	Reinke ORT (Year, Mont 24 ce, momen rse if necessary a e seismic erial is given. or to the determina site. SECURITY CLASSI ('1 A 5 5 1.4	h, Day) 15. t tensor ind identify b source present The imp experi- tion of	PAGE COUNT 316 rs, inversio y block number) from ed. The ortance ment is both
2) PERSONAL AUTHOR(S) B. W. Stump, L. Grant, M. 3a. TYPE OF REPORT Final Technical 6. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTATION Seis seismic modeling. 17. COSATI CODES FIELD GROUP SUB-GROUP 19. ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse if necessar An experimental technique chemical explosions in d specific example of an e: of a complete seismic sime emphasized. This character compressional and shear 20 DISTRIBUTION/AVAILABILITY OF ABSTRACT 20 DISTRIBUTION/AVAI	Bogaards, E OVERED OCT8 7014Apr85 Smology, explo 18. SUBJECT TERMS Juc Ulum r and identify by block is e for character ifferent geologication must properties at te characteri properties at	Flynn, R 14. DATE OF REP 80 05 DSION SOUR (Continue on reve 16 number) erizing th ogical mat lluvium is zation pri t include the test 21. ABSTRACT 225 TELEFHON 225 TELEFHON	Reinke ORT (Year, Monto 24 ce, momento rse if necessary a e seismic erial is given. or to the determina site. SECURITY CLASSI (1/4/3 > 1.4 E (include Area C 1/4 7.4/90K	h, Day) 15. t tensor ind identify b source present The imp experin tion of	PAGE COUNT 316 rs, inversio y block number) from ed. The ortance ment is both FICE SYMBOL J12

DETERMINISTIC AND STOCHASTIC WAVEFIELDS IN THE NEAR-FIELD FROM EXPLOSIVE SOURCES

Annual and Final Report

Grant AFOSR-84-0016

15 Oct 87 - 14 Apr 89

PI: Brian W Stump

Department of Geological Sciences

Southern Methodist University

Dallas, Texas 75275

INTRODUCTION

The work performed over the past year of this contract is summarized in three sections. The first is comprised of the final report documenting the work of Lori Grant on characterizing small explosion seismic source functions. Section two summarizes talks and papers given in the past year under this contract. The final section contains reprints of three papers published under this contract in the last year.

Experimental Determination of Seismic Source Characteristics for Sinall Explosions by Lori Grant describes a set of experiments and analysis designed to characterize the equivalent elastic source functions of explosions in different media. The particular tests studied were in alluvium and a set of site characterization procedures were developed to support the source study. The techniques and format developed in this study could be applied to other geological media. Bounds are placed upon the explosive source function constrained with only the site characterization data and then compared to the model developed from the actual explosion data. This comparison quantifies the predictive capability for the explosive source function in a new media. In the inversion of the observational data for the equivalent seismic source function a strong trade-off is identified between the shear wave velocity of the medium and the symmetry of the equivalent source function. This last result emphasizes the need to include a good characterization of the P and S wave properties of a test site. Unfortunately S or shear wave characterization tools are not as well developed as those for P or compressional waves.

Two papers were presented at a variety of technical meetings in the last year. The abstracts from these talks are included in section 3.

Three papers were published in the past year. Two appeared in the **Bulletin** of the Seismological Society of America, Stochastic Geologic Effects on Near-Field Ground Motions in Alluvium and Experimental Confirmation of Superposition from Small Scale Explosions. The third paper published in Journal of Geophysical Research is entitled Effects of Source Depth on Near-Source Seismograms.

This year of research has focused on a transition from our previous source studies to an increased emphasis on the geophysical characterization of the shallow near-surface environment. This characterization is needed to improve our ability to quantify the seismic source function as well as estimate the explosive ground motion loading one might expect in a particular geological material. The papers in the Bulletin summarize our early attempts to separate the *stochastic and deterministic* parts of the wavefield. EXPERIMENTAL DETERMINATION OF SEISMIC SOURCE CHARACTERISTICS FOR SMALL CHEMICAL EXPLOSIONS

A Thesis Presented to the Graduate Faculty of

Dedman College

of

Southern Methodist University

in

Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree of

Master of Science

with a

Major in Geophysics

by

Lori T. Grant

(B.S., University of Texas at Dallas, 1985)

December 17, 1988

Grant, Lori Teresa

B.S., University of Texas at Dallas, 1985

Experimental Determination of Seismic Source Characteristics for Small Chemical Explosions

Advisor: Dr. Brian W. Stump Master of Science degree conferred December 17, 1988 Thesis completed December 10, 1988

A deterministic source model is defined using threecomponent acceleration data from seven 5 lb. test shots recorded with identical instrumentation all within the same test bed. Observational ranges are between 5 and 60 meters with good azimuthal coverage.

Inversions are done utilizing the moment tensor representation (M=G⁻¹U), where M is the second order moment tensor containing source information, G is the matrix of Green's functions and U are the observed seismograms. The Green's functions are based on a velocity model derived for the test site. Moment tensor inversions with observational data mosult in source strengths of between .6 and 4 X 10^{15} dyne-cm for the layered half-space and between 2 and 8 X 10^{15} dyne-cm when the half-space path functions are used.

Forward models are calculated for a range of site models. The moment calculated from forward models is between 1.1 and 2.5 \times 10¹⁵ dyne-cm. Sensitivity studies with the synthetic data set emphasize the importance of shear velocity in separating source-path trade-offs.

iv

CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES viii
LIST OF TABLES x
LIST OF SYMBOLS xi
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS xii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS xiii
CHAPTER Page
1. INTRODUCTION 1
A. Explosion Seismic Source Function
1. The Isotropic Source
2. The Non-isotropic Source 12
B. Source Scaling 14
C. Examples of Experimental Seismology
D. Specifics of This Study 17
2. OBSERVATIONAL DATA 20
A. Explosion Data 20
1. Experimental Layout 20
2. Data Corrections 23
3. Data Characteristics
B. Site Characterization Data
1. Refraction Surveys 41
2. First Arrivals 48
3. Shear Velocities 49
4. Q in Dry Alluvium 50

3. FORWARD SYNTHETIC MODELS	53
A. Introduction	53
B. Theoretical Source Function: RDP	55
1. BASIC Model	60
a) Long period level: LPL	64
b) Source Overshoot	66
c) Corner frequency	67
2. Source Depth of Burial	68
3. CART Reduced Displacement Potentials	70
C. Path Calculations	74
1. Half-space Greens Functions	74
2. Layered Half-space Greens Functions	83
4. MOMENT TENSOR INVERSIONS	91
A. Moment Tensor Representation of the Source	92
B. Solution of the Inverse Problem	95
C. Source Inversions with Synthetic Data	98
1. Synthetic Inversions Input: Us=MG	99
2. Noise Tests	102
3. Example of Source-Path Trade-offs	115
4. Station Distribution Tests	120
5. Condition Numbers	121
6. Time Domain Fits	123
D. Source Inversions with Observational Data	129
1. Half-space Inversions	129
2. Layered Half-space Inversions	137
3. Condition Numbers	148
4. Time Domain Fits	150

5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	. 145
A. McCormick Ra. 2. Geological Model	. 115
B. Forward Modeling	. 146
C. Source Physics	. 146
1. Repeatability	. 146
2. Source Symmetry	. 147
3. Source Coupling	. 147
D. Source Scaling	. 147
E. Recommendations	. 148
APPENDICES	
A. DATA CORRECTIONS	. 149
B. COMPLETE EXPLOSION DATA SET	. 183
C. CART PEAK TIME DOMAIN AMPLITUDES	. 240
D. ART PEAK TIME DOMAIN AMPLITUDES	. 242
REFERENCE LIST	. 245

ø

¢

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure Pa	age
1.1 Magnitude Versus Yield for Explosions at NTS	3
1.2 Peak Scaled Acceleration Versus Scaled Range	4
1,3 Reduced Displacement Potenetials in Four Media	9
2.1 ART Array Configuration	22
2.2 CART Array Configuration	24
2.3 Particle Motion Diagrams 5 - 13.5 Meters	26
2.4 Particle Motion Diagrams 20.3 - 40.6 Meters	28
2.5 ART Observed Velocity at 30 Meters	30
2.6 CART/ART Peak Velocity Versus Range	37
2.7 CART/ART Peak Acceleration Versus Range	38
2.8 CART/ART Peak Displacement Versus Range	39
2.9 CART/ART Peak Transverse Amplitudes Versus Range	40
2.10 Map View of CART/ART Refraction Surveys	43
2.11 ART/CART Refraction Profiles: Long and Short Line	45
2.12 ART/CART Refraction Profile: Short Line	46
2.13 Amplitude Ratio Versus Shear Velocity Ratio	51
3.1 Pressure Function	57
3.2 RDP Sensitivity Analysis	63
3.3 Effect of Source Burial Depth on RDP	69
3.4 Range of CART Reduced Displacement Potentials	72
3.5 Half-space Synthetics: HS115 Path, Basic Source	77

3.6 Half-space Synthetics at 9 Meters: Source Study 79
3.7 Half-space Synthetics at 27 Meters: Source Study 82
3.8 Layered Half-space Synthetics: Fath N, Basic Source . 86
3.9 Layered Half-space Synthetics: Source Study 88
4.1 Moment Tensor Representation of the Basic Source 101
4.2 Green's Functions at 27 Meters (a) HS115 (b) HS366 103
4.3 Synthetic Inversion 115BIC1N00 106
4.4 Synthetic Inversion 115BICIN1 108
4.5 Synthetic Inversion 115BIC1N10 109
4.6 Green's Functions and Synthetics at 27 Meters 112
4.7 Synthetic Inversion 366BIC1X 114
4.8 Condition Numbers for Synthetic Inversions 117
4.9 Fits for Synthetic Inversion 115BIC1N10 1?1
4.10 Fits for Synthetic Inversion 366BIC1X 122
4.11 Fits for Synthetic Inversion OMEGAN1 123
4.12 Observational Inversion 115Cl 127
4.13 Observational Inversion 366C1 129
4.14 Observational Inversion ClF 133
4.15 Observational Inversion ClH 134
4.16 Observational Inversion CIN
4.17 Observational Inversion C10 137
4.18 Condition Numbers for Observational Inversions 138
4.19 Fits for Observational Inversion 115C1 141
4.20 Fits for Observational Inversion 366C1 142
4.21 Fits for Observational Inversion ClN

LIST OF TABLES

Tab!	le Pag	е
1.	Summary of Observational Data 21 2	. 1
2.	Amplitude Decay Exponents 3	6
3.	McCormick Ranch Site Model 4	2
4.	Source Parameters: in Figure 3.2	2
5.	CART Source Parameters 7	1
6.	Half-space Velocity Models 7	6
7.	Layered half-space Velocity Models 8	4
8.	Source Inversion with Synthetic Data	0
9.	Peak Time Domain Amplitudes of Synthetic Source Inversions)5
10.	Correlation Coefficients of Synthetic Source Inversions	20
11.	Peak Time Domain Amplitudes of CART 1 Observational Inversions	25
12.	Correlation Coefficients of Synthetic Source Inversions	10
13.	Types of Observed Slopes with Percentages	,2

LIST OF SYMBOLS

.

Symbol	Units	Notes
W	kt	yield in equivalent kt of TNT
h	m	(source) depth of burial below surface
T.	m	range; source-receiver offset
r _{el}	m	elastic radius
rc	m	cavity radius
$\psi\left(\tau\right)$	m ³	reduced displacement potential
α	1/s	decay constant (of pressure function)
с	m/s	compressional velocity
β	m/s	shear velocity
λ	dyne-cm/s ²	Lame's constant
μ	dyne-cm/s ²	shear modulus
ρ	gm/cm ³	density
P_{CC}	dyne-cm/ ε^2	steady-state pressure
Pos	dyne-cm/s ²	peak shock pressure
Po	dyna-cm/s ²	pressure amplitude; $P_0 = P_{0S} - P_{0C}$
ω _c	1/s	characteristic frequency
σ		Poisson's ratio
Uo	m,′s	observational velocity
Us	m/s	synthetic velocity
G		Green's function
Mij	dyne-om	seismic moment tensor

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ART	Array Test Series
CART	Contained Array Test Series
CHEAT	Contained High Explosive Alluvium Test
CRY	Cube-Root-Yield
ESSF	Explosion Seismic Source Function
GLI	Generalized Linear Inversion
HFRO	High frequency roll off (of spectrum)
kt	Kilotons
LPL	Long period level (of spectrum)
NTS	Nevada Test Site
RDP	Reduced Displacement Potential
RVP	Reduced Velocity Potential
SD	Scaled depth (of burial)
SNR	Signal to Noise Ratio
UNE	Underground Nuclear Explosion

xii

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Many thanks to my advisor Professor Brian Stump. He provided the project, the funding, the technical support and an enormous amount of patience. I feel fortunate to have been one of his graduate students. I would also like to thank the other members of my committee, Gene Herrin, Bob Reinke and David Blackwell for their guidance.

This project was funded by Air Force Contract No. AFOSR-84-0016. The field data for this thesis was collected by Bob Reinke and Al Leverette, both at the Air Force Weapons Laboratory. I appreciate their efforts and Bob Reinke's technical advice throughout the project.

Many thanks to my friends among the students, faculty and staff at SMU for making the research environment both stimulating and enjoyable.

And most important of all, I dedicate this thesis to my parents, Pat and John Grant. I thank them for their continual support, their guidance and their love.

xiii

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

The objective of this research is to improve our understanding of explosion source functions. Carefully controlled small scale tests are utilized in a two-step approach to define a deterministic source model. The first step is to produce forward models of near-field waveforms using analytic source functions and numerical Green's functions. These synthetic seismograms are then compared to the observed seismograms to quantify the path effects. The second step utilizes the Green's functions obtained in Step 1 in an inversion of the observed seismograms for the six time functions of the second order moment tensor representing the source. The inversion scheme was developed by Stump and Johnson (1984 (see also Stump and Johnson (1977) and Stump (1975)).

The main application of results from this study is to aid in the refinement of yield-scaled source models with the goal of better estimating explosion yield from seismic observations. Interest in this subject has recently increased as requirements of a verifiable test ban treaty are becoming more severe.

A large body of observational data exists and has been used to empirically constrain source parameter scaling rela-

tions for the explosion seismic source function (ESSF). However, despite the advances in modeling the ESSF the relationship of seismic amplitude to event yield is still not clear. The problem is illustrated in Figure 1.1 taken from OTA report of May 1988. Seismic magnitude is plotted against event yield from UNE tests at NTS. Magnitude is related to the log of the amplitude of teleseismic body waves. The scatter in the data points represents a variation in seismic magnitude for a given yield. Assuming the appropriate magnitude-yield curve has been calculated, the ability to predict event yield from magnitude is at least limited by the scatter of the data.

As another example, peak acceleration versus distance from the source is plotted in Figure 1.2 for several UNEs at Pahute Mesa, NTS. The Kearsarge test is the most recent event at a yield approaching the 1974 Test Ban Treaty threshold of 150 kt. Kearsarge observations exhibit a factor of 7 scatter in peak acceleration at a single range. (B. Stump personal communication, August, 1988).

The scatter illustrated in Figures 1.1 and 1.2 makes it difficult to develop a simple magnitude-yield scaling relation even when the tests have the same source medium as in Figure 1.2.

A. Explosion Seismic Source Function

The fundamental goal in source studies is to obtain a specific time history of the explosion seismic source



Figure 1.1. Magnitude versus yield for explosions at the Nevada Test Site. (Modified from Office of Technology and Assessment Report, May 1988)



Figure 1.2. Peak scaled acceleration versus scaled range for nuclear explosions at Pahute Mesa, Nevada Test Site. This plot illustrates the factor of 2 scatter that is observed in the peak accelerations from nuclear explosions. (From B. Stump, personnal communication)

function (ESSF). Masse (1981), in his review of underground nuclear explosion source models, suggests that an adequate source model may combine several different mechanisms in sequence to explain observed seismic signals. Stump (1985), for example, has successfully modelled near-field explosion waveforms as a combination of the spherically symmetric explosion followed by cylindrically symmetric spallation of the near surface layers. It is convenient to branch into two categories of source studies at this point. The first describes that part of the source which is spherically symmetric or isotropic and concerned with the transfer of chemical (or nuclear) energy into seismic disturbance; the second includes all non-isotropic source contributions.

1. The Isotropic Source

Rather than beginning at the exact point of detonation, the task of describing the isotropic source function is simplified by assuming an "equivalent" source acting at the "elastic" radius. The elastic radius defines a volume inside which pressures are too large to apply infinitesimal strain theory. At radial distances beyond the elastic radius pressures are sufficiently reduced so that Hooke's law can be applied relating pressure to displacement.

For this approximation to be valid, the data should be dominated by wavelengths that are longer than the elastic radius. The reasoning is that when the seismic wavelengths of the data are longer than the elastic radius, the details

cf the source inside the elastic radius cannot be resolved by the data. In other words, the data are not contaminated by source details which are not included in the physical description.

The smallest expected wavelength for this data set is 4.5 m. This value is the ratio of the slowest expected P velocity in the test site (270 m/s, Section 2.B.1) with the highest frequency in the data (60 Hz, Section 2.A.2). The dominant frequency in the velocity spectra (shown in Appendix B), 10 Hz, corresponds to a wavelength of 27 m.

This method of assuming an equivalent elastic radiator was first discussed by Sharpe (1942) who formulated the response of an elastic whole space to an arbitrary pressure pulse on the inside of a spherical cavity. In the idealized statement of the problem the perfectly spherical cavity exists in an isotropic homogeneous elastic wholespace. Under these conditions an explosion produces displacements only in the radial direction; spherical compressional waves emanate from the center of the equivalent radiator.

The wave equation for this problem reduces to one dimension in spherical coordinates

(1.1)
$$\frac{\partial^2 \Psi}{\partial r^2} = \frac{1}{c^2 \partial t^2}$$

where solutions are in terms of the potential, $\psi.$ Displacements are related to the potential by

(1.2)
$$u(r,t) = \frac{\partial}{\partial r} \left(\psi(\tau)/r \right)$$

where $\tau = t - (r - r_{el})/c$ is the arrival time at r as a function of the compressional velocity, c.

Sharpe found solutions to Equation 1.1 satisfying the boundary condition that the pressure applied to the interior cavity must equal the radial stress in the medium at the cavity radius $(r = r_{el})$

(1.3)
$$-\left[(\lambda+2\mu)\partial u/\partial r + 2\lambda(u/r)\right]_{r=rel} = p(t)$$

Solving Equation 1.3 for displacement and substituting into Equation 1.2 gives the relation between potential $\Psi(t)$ and pressure, p(t).

(1.4)
$$-\left[\frac{(\lambda + 2\mu)}{r_{el}^2 c} \ddot{\psi}(t) + \frac{4\mu}{r_{el}^2 c} \dot{\psi}(t) + \frac{4\mu}{r_{el}^3 c} \psi(t)\right]_{r=r_{el}} = p(t)$$

Frequency domain solutions have been published by Latter (1959) and Blake (1952).

Dimensional analysis of Equation 1.2 shows that the potential has units of volume. Because the potential is independent of distance from the source it is often called "reduced" displacement potential abbreviated RDP. Carrying out the partial derivative Equation 1.2 becomes

R

(1.5)
$$u(r,t) = r^{-2} \left(\psi(\tau) \right) + \frac{1}{cr} \left(\frac{d\psi}{d\tau} \right)$$

At large distances from the source, the first term in Equation 1.5 is much smaller than the second. Thus the farfield ($r >> r_{el}$) displacement is approximated by

(1.6)
$$u(r,t) = \frac{1}{cr} \left(\frac{d\psi}{dt} \right)$$

Equations 1.4 and 1.6 are the foundation for calculating the seismic source function. Specific pressure functions in Equation 1.4 lead to a predicted shape of the reduced displacement potential (RDP) independent of travel path and distance from the source. When the potential is inserted into equation 1.6, ground motion is predicted.

Once scaling relationships of the RDP are known, equations 1.6 can be used to predict the ground motion of an unknown explosion source. What is necessary in developing scaling relations is to determine how the RDP changes as each of the variables in Equation 1.4 change.

Werth and Herbst (1963) used Equation 1.6 in a different approach. They obtained potentials from measurements of ground motion near the elastic radius of nuclear explosions detonated in four media types. Their far-field RDPs for tuff, salt, granite and alluvium are shown in Figure 1.3a.



Figure 1.3. Reduced Displacement Potentials. Curves are for explosions in tuff, salt, granite and alluvium. (a) Time domain (b) Frequency domain. (From Warth and Herbst, 1963)

The Fourier transforms of the far-field RDPs are shown in Figure 1.3b. The data used by Werth and Herbst were free field measurements. The instruments were at depth in a horizontal plane with the device. Thus the free surface effect which may increase the amplitude by a factor of two does not contaminate the data.

Near-source free-field data of the type used by Werth and Herbst are not often available. The standard approach is to correct observed seismograms for features not related to the detonation (e.g. attenuation, and then fit an analytic function to the remaining data which is interpreted as the equivalent source.

Haskell (1967) fit the curves in Figure 3b with simple analytic functions describing the characteristics in terms of three parameters: steady state or DC level of potential, $\psi(0)$, which is related to the residual displacement produced by the explosion; source overshoot, the ratio of the peak potential to the steady state potential; and a time constant specifying the characteristic time of the source function (i.e. corner frequency).

Mueller and Murphy (1971) followed Latter's (1959) steps to express the RDP in the frequency domain in terms of the pressure function. From forward models of close-in observations of UNEs they incorporated the effects of device burial depth and medium characteristics in defining the pressure function. The Mueller-Murphy model is one of the most extensively used source models. It is the primary model

used in this study because of the ability to incorporate depth effects and other physical measurements affecting the source function. Section B in Chapter 3 is devoted to the description of the Mueller-Murphy source model.

Several additional models have been developed over the past 30 years which fit near-field and teleseismic observations: von Seggern and Blanford (1972) modified Haskell's model based on teleseismic observations of three UNEs; Helmberger and Hadley (1981) utilized both local and teleseismic observations of two NTS events to propose yet another modification of Haskell's model. Burger et.al.(1987) made comparisons between the Helmberger-Hadley model and the Mueller-Murphy model to determine Q.

Physical phenomena which may vary with explosive type, emplacement media, depth of burial, shape and size of cavity among other parameters complicate the problem of RDP yield scaling. Problems arise when the RDP obtained for a source detonated in one medium is used to predict the RDP of a source of different yield detonated in a different medium at a different depth because scaling relations are not adequately known. Recent review articles which outline current understanding in this area include: Minster (1985), Bache (1982), and Masse (1983).

Many of the unresolved questions center around the dependency of source coupling on shot parameters. Basically, coupling efficiency decreases as ma rial strength increases (increasing depth) because the amplitude of the pressure

function depends on the residual displacement which is smaller for more competent rock. Coupling efficiency also decreases as air-filled porosity increases (decreasing depth) because more energy is spent in collapsing the pore spaces. Trade-offs must be understood before observations can be adequately modeled to develop yield-scaling relations that are good over a large range of event magnitudes.

2. The Non-isotropic Source

The above methods of determining the ESSF assume spherical symmetry. This assumption may not be strictly valid. Thus ron-isotropic components of the explosion may lead to biased estimates of the RDP. In other words, the source function is model dependent. Departures from spherical symmetry have long been observed for large underground explosions (Minster, 1985,. To develop seismic magnitude-yield relations it would be best to use the isotropic source only. In order to separate the isotropic from the non-isotropic source contributions a more thorough understanding of the non-isotropic source is necessary.

Lay (1984) proposed two methods to explain the generation of non-isotropic source contributions by explosions: driven motion on pre-existing planes of weaknets, and stress relaxation around the fracture zone. Both of these sources have earthquake-like radiation patterns and both contribute shear waves to the radiated seismic energy. The generation of surface waves and shear waves by \in losions

is not very well understood. More effective discrimination between earthquakes and small explosions is one of the areas that will benefit from the study of the generation of surface waves and shear waves from small explosions.

Another non-isotropic contribution is spall, failure of near surface layers produced upon conversion of compressional waves to tensile waves at the free surface. When the spalled layers fall back to the surface the downward impulse produces P, Sv and Rayleigh waves which are delayed in time relative to the initial explosion (Viecelli 1973). The first order symmetry of this delayed source is cylindrical and, because of its proximity to the free surface, the spall source is a very efficient generator of surface waves. Stump (1984) has shown that spall may explain the late Rayleigh wave arrivals on near-field seismograms following explosions. Day (1982), however, showed that there is no spall contribution to surface waves at 20 seconds and therefor spall will not complicate the magnitude-yield relations calculated from surface waves at the 20 second period. Stump (1985) modeled the time function of the spall source which is controlled by the shape of the isotropic pulse and the tensile strength of the medium and found that the contribution from spall dominates in the period range of 0.5 to 2.0 seconds. His findings suggest that magnitude-yield estimates from nearsource body waves should take into account the spall contribution to the seismic energy. More work is necessary to develop scaling relations for the spall source.

B. Source Scaling

We wish to make yield determinations based on the scaling of the isotropic source (RDP). Assuming that nonisotropic radiation has been accounted for, comparisons are made between source spectra based on changes in long-period level, corner frequency and high-frequency roll-off with increasing yield.

Haskell's model utilizes cube-root-yield (CRY) scaling based on the assumption that the scale lengths change as the radius of the explosive device. The inclusion of depth effects by Mueller and Murphy (1971) causes a change in the scaling characteristics of the RDP resulting in a modified scaling model.

Haskell's model predicts a long-period level (LPL) proportional to yield $(W^{1.0})$ while Mueller-Murphy's LPL is proportional to $W^{.76}$. The implication is that for a given LPL, classical CRY scaling results in a smaller yield interpretation than the modified source model.

If CRY scaling applies then the corner frequency scales as W $^{-1/3}$ compared to W $^{-.19}$ for the Mueller-Murphy model. Beyond the corner frequency the CRY spectrum is proportional to W^{1/3} and the Mueller-Murphy spectrum is proportional to W^{.53}. High-frequency decay for these two models is asymptotic to frequency raised to the -4 and -2 power respectively Another widely used model was proposed by von Seggern and Blanford (1972). The frequency spectrum of the RDP is expressed in a much simpler form than the Mueller-Murphy

model yet the spectra exhibit the ω^{-2} roll-off at high frequencies.

It is difficult to compare the utility of one model over another because scaling relations are derived from different data sets. The Mueller-Murphy model is often more desirable because of the ability to include measurements of the elastic radius and other parameters. On the other hand, use of the Mueller-Murphy model requires estimation of a large number of variables and introduces considerable capacity for error.

C. Examples of Experimental Seismology

In an alternative approach to the problem of quantifying the explosion source function, experimental seismology is exploited. Small scale chemical tests are conducted which reduce complexities by isolating certain variables (depth of burial for example) while reproducing important features of the underground nuclear explosion. Insights into physics of near-source phenomena gained from small scale chemical tests may then be used to model the large body of available observational data and to develop yield-scaled source mode)s that are site specific. The following paragraphs describe two experiments conducted by the SMU research group.

Depth of burial effects in alluvium were quantified by Flynn (1986). The data set included observations of a series of detonations of 253 lbs. of TNT ranging from underburied excavarion events (1.85 m) to overburied, fully contained events (11.5 m). As overburden increases, there is suf-

ficient vertical coupling to form an initially spherical explosion. Uncontained events release energy through the free surface resulting in initially cylindrical symmetry. Flynn related the shift to higher frequencies with increasing depth to a shift from cylinurical Sv-kayleigh energy to spherical P-wave energy. Her energy calculations estimate P-wave source coupling efficiency to be 40% of the total seismic energy for the shallow event. The deeper, fully contained event partitioned 80% of the total seismic energy into the Pwave.

Reinke and Stump (1988) quantified the azimuthal coherence of near-source waveforms from 5 pound explosions in alluvium. Waveforms are coherent to 35 Hz. Variations above 35 Hz are attributed to scattered energy from waves that interact with test bed inhomogeneities. They ruled out, through small tests, the possibility of instrument variation. They also confirmed the repeatability of the source in this test series through a series of detonations in a controlled pit in which every shot variable remained constant.

Small scale tests such as these are relatively inexpensive and instrumentation of a significant part of the wavefield is possible. An additional advantage is that test results are directly applicable to other studies in the same test environment.

D. Specifics of This Study

The current study is unique to the standard yield scaling approach in two ways. First, the observed seismograms result from tests designed specifically to isolate the effects of containment and to quantify source symmetry. Secondly, the moment tensor representation is used to allow for non-isotropic source contributions.

The inversion scheme used in this study is that of Stump and Johnson (1984) wherein they represent the explosion source in terms of the seismic moment tensor. A point source is assumed and observed seismograms are inverted for the temporal details of the source function.

This procedure requires careful modeling of the path contributions in order to minimize source-path trade-offs. It is really another way of correcting observed seismograms to obtain an estimate of the source time history just outside the non-linear region.

The isotropic moment tensor represents the volume change due to the spherically symmetric explosion source. It has the same shape and time dependence as the reduced displacement potential (RDP):

(1.7) $M(\tau)_{1SO} = 4\pi\rho\alpha^2 \psi(\tau)$

where $\Psi(\tau)$ is the potential function introduced in Equation 1.1. Thus the isotropic moment and reduced displacement potential are similar analytical forms of the seismic source

function. The units of seismic moment are force by distance. The development of the moment tensor source representation is found in Chapter 4.

The isotropic component of the source is represented by the trace of the moment tensor. The deviatoric source is that which remains after the isotropic component is removed (Stump, 1984).

$$(1.8) M_{\rm ISO} = \frac{1}{3} M_{\rm ij} \delta_{\rm ij}$$

$$(1.9) D_{ij} = M_{ij} - M_{ISO}\delta_{ij}$$

Similar analyses to the one contained in this thesis have been completed for a 253 pound chemical explosion (Stump 1987) and three nuclear explosions (Stump and Johnson (1984)). The depth and observational ranges of the test reported in this study are a scaled version of the 253 lb test.

This work is presented in four primary sections: (1) Observational Data: Description of the data includes general observations of amplitude decay with range, development of surface waves with range and a summary of the velocity and attenuation model of the test site. (2) Synthetic Data: The propagation contribution is modeled with theoretical Green's functions and checked by convolution with a Mueller-Murphy source to produce synthetic seismograms in a series of forward models. (3) Inversions: Generalized linear inversions are first done with synthetic seismograms to verify the inversion code and replicate experimental conditions. The observed seismograms are then inverted for the moment tensor representing isotropic and deviatoric components of the source. Several different inversions were completed to investigate the effects of station distribution and dependency on the Green's functions. (4) The conclusions are presented in terms of the physical models for contained sources. The analysis and comparisons focus on the isotropic peak time amplitude and the long-period level of the frequency spectrum.

CHAPTER 2

OBSERVED DATA SET

The data consist of near-source observations recorded on triaxial accelerometers for seven 5 lb (2.5 X 10^{-6} kt) chemical shots in dry alluvium. Explosive yield, explosive type and test medium are held constant, the only variations being source burial depth and station distribution. In addition to the explosive tests, refraction surveys have been completed to constrain the velocity structure of the test site. Experimental data are summarized in table 1.

A. Explosion Data

1. Experimental Layout

Two series of tests were designed specifically to constrain source symmetry and to quantify containment. The Array Test Series (ART) with a source burial depth of 1 meter resulted in uncontained shots. Three of the ART arrays werc in a circular pattern with 6 stations distributed at a single range (10, 20 and 30 meters) for each test. The ART Line Test consisted of 11 stations distributed at 5 meter intervals a single azimuth between 10 and 60 meters. ART test configurations are illustrated in Figure 2.1. Data in the Contained Array Test Series (CART) were generated by

TABLE 1

SUMMARY OF OBSERVATIONAL DATA

at	Components Recorded each station	Range (meters)	Array Type	Number Stations
ART: 5 lbs. TNT_at 1	meter_depth			
ART 1:	3	10	circular	6
ART 2:	3	20	circular	6
ART 3:	3	30	circular	6
ART LINE TEST:	3	10-60	linear	11
CART: 5 lbs. TNT at	3 meters dopt	h		
CART 1:	3	13.5-40.6	azimuthal	1 7
CART 2:	3	5-13,5	azimuthal	L 7
CART 3:	3	5-40.6	linear	6
Refraction Surveys:	Betsy Seisgu	n TM source	at 1_mete	r
l-m spacing EW	vertical	1.0-72.0	linear	24
1.5-m spacing NS	vertical	1.5-36.5	linear	24
7.6-m spacing EW	vertical	5.0-183.0	linear	24

۲

0










AR'î 1









ART LINE

C υ 040 m

H SHOT LOCATION WRECEIVER AT 10 m RECEIVER AT 20 m RECEIVER AT 30 m

t e' HORTH

Figure 2.1. Array configuration of the four tests in the ART series. Shot depth is 1 meter below the surface.

÷

three fully contained explosions with a source burial depth of 3 meters below the surface. CART arrays are shown in Figure 2.2. CART data includes two arrays in which 7 stations were distributed at various azimuths and one linear array of 6 stations along a single azimuth. CART observational ranges are between 5 and 40.6 meters.

Instrumentation for all tests is identical. Force balance accelerometers were buried below the surface and digital data were recorded in the field with a sample rate of 200 samples/second. A 5 pole anti-alias filter with cutoff at 70 Hz was applied before recording. A total of 147 channels of explosion data were recorded.

2. Data Corrections: Acceleration to Velocity

Inversions of the ART/CART data set utilize velocity records. In obtaining velocity from the raw field data, several steps were necessary. First the data were deglitched and rescaled. Next each channel was integrated to yield velocity waveforms. After integration two corrections were applied; slope removal and a high-pass filter. Additionally. all corrected velocity records have been integrated a second time to displacement so time domain displacement amplitudes could be estimated. No further corrections were necessary after integration to displacement because the displacement waveforms did not exhibit a step or ramp.

The data corrections are explained and illustrated in Appendix A. Additionally Appendix A documents different



⊕ SHOT LOCATION ₩ 5.0 m + 9.7 m ▲ 13.5 m > 20.3 m ● 27.0 m ♦ 40.6 m

1 a' HORTH

Figure 2.2. Array configuration of the three tests in the CART series. Shot depth is 3.0 meters below the surface.

types of slope corrections that have been applied to the CART data and justifies the design of the high-pass filter.

As a result of tests outlined in Appendix A, the frequency band of usable data has been quantified as 5 - 60 Hz. The long period cut off is determined by the 2-pole high pass Butterworth filter with corner 3 dB down at 3.5 Hz. At the short periods, the cut-off is determined by the antialias filter; 5-pole at 70 Hz applied before recording. Thus interpretation of results outside this frequency band will be pursued with caution. Details about this bandwidth are given in Appendix A.

3. Data Characteristics

The complete explosion data set is presented in Appendix B. The data are, by design, simple in character; the explosion is the simplest source; the test bed is not complex; and travel paths are short and therefore simplified. The following sections list important characteristics of the data.

a) Simple Waveforms at Close Ranges

As an example of the simple waveforms at close ranges, the vertical and radial components of velocity at the 5, 9.7 and 13.5 meter ranges of CART 3 are illustrated in Figure 2.3. The particle motion diagrams shown at the right of the figure are the plot of radial versus vertical amplitude. At these close ranges radial and vertical waveforms are dominated by



Figure 2.3. Particle motion plots from CART 3 linear array. On the left are the radial and vertical time series and on the right are the particle motion in the vertical-radial plage. The vertical line between .2 and .4 seconds indicates the picks for Rayleigh wave arrival.

one cycle. This arrival is the P-wave energy package identifiable by linear particle motions. The surface waves, associated with elliptical retrograde particle motion have only 20 - 30 % of the amplitude of the body wave at these close ranges. At 5 meters the signal duration is typically .25 - .4 seconds increasing to .4-.65 seconds at 13.5 meters with little development of surface waves.

b) Development of Surface Waves with Range

The signals recorded at 20.3, 27 and 40.6 meters are shown in Figure 2.4. The waveforms become more complex with increasing range as shear and surface wave energy arrives. Two particle motion windows separate the early P-wave energy (dashed line) from the later SV-Rayleigh energy (solid line). The Sv and Rayleigh energy packages are difficult to separate because there is not sufficient dispersion at these ranges. At the onset of the Sv-Rayleigh package the radial and vertical components are about 90 degrees phase shifted from each other resulting in the elliptical particle motion. There is an increase in signal duration associated with the longer travel paths. At the 20 - 27 meter range signal duration has increased to 1 second. Beyond 30 meters the surface wave amplitudes are relatively equal to or greater than the body wave amplitudes.





Figure 2.4. Particle motion plots from CART 3 linear array. On the left are the radial and vertical time series and on the right are the particle motion in the vertical-radial plane. The vertical line between .2 and .4 seconds indicates the picks for Rayleigh wave arrival.

c) Azimuthal Symmetry of Waveforms

As observations are compared azimuthally, radials and verticals appear very similar in shape while the transverse do not show such similarities. As an illustration, the ART 3 observed velocities are shown in Figures 2.5a-c. The surface wave at about .2 seconds can be seen on the radials and verticals at this range. ART 3 peak radial amplitudes average 1 cm/s with a maximum of 30% variation. The ART 3 peak vertical amplitudes average 0.5 cm/s with only 17% variation. The amplitude of the radial component is twice the vertical at this range. ART 3 peak transverse amplitudes average .22 cm/s and vary as much as 81%. The transverse components appear dissimilar especially in terms of when the energy arrives in time.

It is worth noting that the above similarities in radial and vertical components apply to the lower frequencies which dominate the time series. Reinke and Stump (1988) have studied similar waveforms from the same test site and report incoherence in the data above 35 Hz.

d) Amplitudes with Range

This section will quantify the ART/CART amplitude decay with distance. For competent rock at distances where the medium is responding elastically, the body wave amplitude is expected to decay due to geometrical spreading at a rate inversely proportional to distance. When attenuation is taken into account the decay rate is higher.







 \oplus





O NORTH



(a)

Figure 2.5. ART velocitiy records at 30 meters. (a)radial (b)transverse (c)vertical



D

9

Ô

•

•

Figure 2.5 Continued.



(c)

Figure 2.5 Continued.

0.32 0.64 TIME (s)

0.00

Perret and Bass (1975) studied amplitude decay rates of measurements from 60 underground nuclear explosions ranging in yield from 67 kt to 2.5 kt (compared with 2.5 x 10⁻⁶ kt for ART/CART). Instruments were typically fielded along a horizontal radius at shot depth. The data were compiled from published reports and include all known tests up until the time of the report. Eight of these explosions were detonated in dry alluvium at burial depths between 300 and 500 meters (compared with 1 and 3 meters for ART and CART). One of the eight alluvial events was under-buried for partial containment.

Perret et.al. compiled plots of peak vertical particle velocity versus scaled range and fit linear trends of the form

$$(2.1) U = Uo \left(\frac{r}{W^{1/3}}\right)^{-n}$$

where U_0 is the amplitude, r is the distance between source and receiver in meters (scaled by $kt^{1/3}$), W is the energy yield in equivalent kilotons of TNT and n is the power exponent describing the decay rate.

Data corresponding to measurements in dry alluvium showed much faster decay rates than those for dry tuff, wet tuff or hard rock. Two distinct trends were identified for dry alluvium. Between 30 and 150 m/kt^{1/3}, the best fit line

(2.2)
$$U_1 = 1.52 \times 10^6 \left(\frac{r}{W^{1/3}}\right)^{-3.27}$$

was found. Between 100 and 350 m/kt^{1/3} the amplitudes were observed to decay slower according to the best fit line

(2.3)
$$U_2 = 3.68 \times 10^1 \left(\frac{r}{W^{1/3}}\right)^{-1.16}$$

Perret and Bass attribute the two different attenuation rates to regions of non-linear and linear material response. Because dry alluvium has stronger attenuation properties than other media the crossover to a decay rate close to the inverse first power (Equation 2.3) is observed within the span of observational ranges. This crossover was not observed for the other media types studied by Perret and Bass. Thus at scaled ranges greater than 150 m/kt^{1/3} the alluvium response is classified as linear.

ART/CART peak vertical and radial velocity as a function of scaled range is plotted in Figure 2.6. The closest observation, 5 m, corresponds to a scaled range of 368.4 $m/kt^{1/3}$ and the most distant observation, 60 m, to a scaled range of 4420.8 $m/kt^{1/3}$.

The line fitting the ART/CART vertical trend in Figure 2.6a is given as

(2.4)
$$U_v = 1 \times 10^{5.17} \left(\frac{r}{w^{1/3}}\right)^{-1.67}$$

Similar analysis of the radial component in Figure 2.6b gives,

(2.5)
$$U_r = 1 \times 10^{4.94} \left(\frac{r}{w^{1/3}}\right)^{-1.48}$$

The exponent,-1.48, falls within the range reported by Perret et. al.

The transverse peak amplitudes are plotted in Figure 2.9. Here the amplitudes are smaller and the scatter in the amplitude is much greater.

Considering the differences in yield and depth of burial of the ART/CART data compared to the Perret and Bass data, the amplitude decay trends for alluvium compare favorably (Equation 2.3). The ART/CART trend has a larger amplitude and a faster decay rate. The larger amplitudes occur because the material, being much closer to the surface, has slower velocities and the faster decay rate because the material, being much closer to the surface is less consolidated and thus more attenuative. These comparisons have not accounted for the factor of 2 amplitude often introduced between chemical and nuclear explosions. Nor have these comparisons accounted for the amplitude effects of the free surface.

Perret and Bass also fit linear trends to acceleration and displacement records. Figures 2.7 and 2.8 illustrate the amplitude decay of the ART/CART acceleration and displacement observations. The ART/CART trends are summarized in table 2.

TΑ	BL	Έ	2

APMLITUDE DECAY EXPONENTS

	Vertical	Radial
<u>Acceleration</u>		
ART	-1.79	-1.37
CART	-1.89	-1.29
ALL	-1.88	-1.32
Velocity		
ART	-1.54	-1.63
CART	-1.87	-1.56
IIA	-1.75	-1.56
<u>Displacement</u>		
ART	-1.12	-1.70
CART	-1.70	-1.85
ALL	-1.57	-1.81

















B. Site Characterization Data

The ART/CART experimental test site is part of McCormick Ranch near Albuquerque, N.M., chosen in part because of the available site characterization data. The site is on an old playa composed of plane layered dry alluvium with the water table at a depth of 75 meters. Caliche is present on the test site and has been exposed by several of the test shots. Trenching at the site confirms geometry of the caliche to be discontinuous stringers within the upper few meters of the test bed. The significance of these inhomogeneities is in their ability to scatter waves.

The velocity model for the ART test site is based on previous models by Stump and Reinke (1982) with modifications resulting from additional refraction surveys and analysis of three-component waveforms recorded in the ART Line Test. The current model is two layers over a half-space as shown in table 3. For comparison, the velocity model used by Stump and Reinke (1982) is also given in table 3. The following sections discuss the model components and their derivation.

1. Refraction Surveys

Three refraction surveys were completed on the ART/CART test site on McCormick Ranch using a BetsyTM seisgun source. Figure 2.10 shows the acquisition geometry. Two East-West lines run through the ART test area; one with 7.6 meter

TABLE 3

MCCORMICK RANCH SITE MODEL

	α (m/s)	β (m/s)	ho (gm/cm ³)	Q_{α}	Qβ	Depth (m)	Q.
<u>Grant Model</u>	1988						
Layer 1:	270	120	1.8	10	4	0.0	.38
Layer 2:	670	230	1.9	50	22	3.0	. 43
Half Space:	930	360	2.0	100	44	19.0	. 41
Stump-Reinke	<u>e 1982 M</u>	lode1			. <u></u>		
Layer 1:	366	244	1.8			0.0	.10
Layer 2:	€71	366	1.9			3.4	.29
Layer 3:	823	366	2.0			13.4	.38
Half Space:	1128	610	2.1			24.0	.29

ŧ

Т



Figure 2.10. Three refraction surveys over the ART/CART test site. The line illustrated at upper left contains 72 receivers at 1 meter spacing for a total length of 235'; upper right: 24 receivers at 5' spacing for a total length of 115'; bottom: 24 receivers at 25' spacing for a total length of 575'.

geophone spacing for a total length of 575' (187 meters) and the other with a 1 meter geophone interval for a total length of 235' (72 meters). The third line runs North-South over the CART test area which is about 50 meters to the northwest of the ART test area. This line is 115' (36.5 meters) in length with a 1.5 meter geophone spacing.

Travel time curves for the long and short East-West lines are plotted together in Figure 2.11. The large symbols represent the travel times of the long line and the smaller symbols represent the travel times of the short line. While the short line with closer receiver spacing affords more detailed interpretation than is possible for the long line, the slopes of the two profiles closely agree. The long line is thus used for a gross model and the short line for details of the upper few meters.

Interpretation of the long line is as follows: two distinct branches on the travel time curves correspond to a slow velocity between 650 and 659 m/s and a fast velocity of 931-958 m/s. The crossover distance at 99 meters suggests the velocity increase is at a depth of 19-20 meters. The symmetry of the forward and reverse profiles confirms a plane layered model. In summary, the interpretation of the long line is a layer over a half-space.

Interpretation of the short line is facilitated by Figure 2.12. The forward and reverse profiles are plotted in the same direction to emphasize the similarities and differences. The travel time curves agree well except at



Figure 2.11 ART/CART refraction profiles. The forward and reverse times for both the long and short lines are plotted. Detail of the short line is shown in Figure 2.12. Large symbols denote first arrival times picked from CART explosion data at 5, 13.5, 20.3, 27.0 and 40.6 meters.



Figure 2.12 ART/CART refraction profiles. The forward and reverse times from 1-meter spacing line are plotted in the same direction. Travel times match between 0-20 meters and between 40-65 meters.

offsets from 18 to 38 meters. Two possibilities exist: either the times on the forward line are early in the 18-38 meter range or the reverse times are late. Referring back to Figure 2.11, the former assumption is made. The receivers at offset distances between 18 and 38 meters from the forward shot are affected by a subsurface structure that results in anomalously early travel times on the forward travel time curve. Following this reasoning three branches were drawn on the reverse travel time curve for the initial interpretation. Layer one velocity is 277 m/s with a thickness of 2.0 meters. Layer two velocity is 544 m/s with a thickness of 2.8 meters. The third layer begins at 4.8 meters and has a velocity of 782 m/s. The short line interpretation consists of velocity increases at 2.0 meters and 4.8 meters while the long line interpretation shows a velocity increase of a 19-20 meters depth.

To merge the information from the long and short lines, the slowest velocity of 277 m/s is assigned to the uppermost layer. The velocity increase from 5 - t. The velocity formula is a single velocity to find the 20 - t m/s value of the 20 meter thick layer in the long line interpretation.

The north-south line through the CART test area indicates velocities and depths consistent with the above interpretations. The exception is that the top layer append to be more shallow and slower than indicated by the short east-west line.

To summarize, the current velocity model is 2 layers over a half-space and is compared to the 1982 Stump-Reinke model in table 3. The velocities of the layers have been rounded down and the thickness of the upper layer has been increased to 3.0 meters. Derivation of the shear velocities is discussed in Section 2.B.3. The high Poisson's ratios are consistent with measurements of P and S travel time as shown in table 6 and discussed in Section 3.C.1.

2. First Arrivals

Ot the 20 CART observations, the precise shot times were recorded on the seismograms for only 8 stations. These stations do cover the range of CART observations (5.0 - 40.6 meters) and there are multiple observations because of the overlap of station locations. The arrival times of the first breaks on the vertical component of the CART data have been plotted on the refraction profile to confirm the velocity interpretations in Figure 2.11. The agreement between CART arrival times and the refraction arrival times on the 1-m line is poorest at 27 meters within the range of the anomalous arrival times discussed above. The time difference between CART and the forward travel time is 16 ms and only 7 ms between CART and the reverse travel time. This is further confirmation that the 1 m forward line is anomalous and may be affected by an inhomogeneity. This inhomogeneity could be in the form of a caliche stringer.

3. Shear Velocities

While the P-velocities and layer thicknesses are straightforward calculations from the refraction surveys and first arrival data, the S-velocities are more difficult to constrain. One reason is that the close-in observations do not allow time for good separation between P and S energy. Previous studies on the test site by Stump and Reinke (1982) used cross-hole shear surveys to get a shear velocity of 366 m/s between 13.5 and 24 meters which will be used for the ART/CART half space shear velocity. Their surveys were less reliable above 13 meters due to scatter in the data. Section C.2 in Chapter 3 discusses the more realistic multi-layered model with the 366 m/s velocity in the halfspace.

Particle motion plots have been completed for the ART Line Test and used to estimate the layer shear velocities listed in table 3. The time of the change from rectilinear to retrograde motion was noted for each station from 10 to 60 meters. Also recorded was the ellipticity or the ratio between the radial and vertical axes of the particle motion of the Rayleigh wave as well as the period of the first full Rayleigh cycle.

Mooney and Bolt (1966) produced by numerical analysis curves detailing the relationship between Rayleigh wave dispersion and the medium parameters for a layer over a half space. They emphasized that the most important parameter is the ratio between shear velocities. One of their curves, reproduced in Figure 2.13 was used to constrain the shear

velocity in the most shallow layer. The ratio β_1 T/h is plotted along the x-axis and the ratio of horizontal to vertical amplitudes (ellipticity) is plotted along the yaxis. With a layer thickness (h) of 3 meters from the refraction profiles, Rayleigh period (T) of .105 seconds at 55 meters, ellipticity of 2.05 from the particle motion plots and half-space shear velocity of 360 m/s the Mooney and Bolt curve suggests the shear velocity ratio is 3. Thus with a reliable measurement of the half space shear velocity of 360 m/s, the upper layer velocity is estimated at 120 m/s. Layer 2 shear velocity is estimated at 230 m/s. This value was chosen because it is intermediate between 120 m/s and 360m/s and because it was used by Stump and Reinke (1982) for their most shallow layer. This estimation of the shear velocities is only a first approximation. Further analysis would include a complete dispersion analysis and possibly structure inversion.

4. Q in Dry Alluvium

Q estimates are included in the site model to account for seismic attenuation due to absorption and something. The ART/CART test medium is low velocity, low density and low Q resulting in rapid absorption of seismic energy with wave propagation. As quantified by the amplitude decay plots in Figures 2.6-2.8, the observed exponent describing decay rate for spherical waves was larger than expected based on the results of Perret and Bass (1975). No corrections have been



Figure 2.13. Amplitude ratio versus shear velocity ratio. (From Mooney and Bolt, 1966).

made for differences between chemical and nuclear explosives or for free surface effects.

Standard measurements of Q are impractical in low-Q environments. Anderson (1988) has addressed this problem in measuring Q for unconsolidated backfills. Using standard refraction equipment, he made base measurements taken close to the (sledge hammer) source to quantify the change in pulse shape with distance. Anderson focused on the first cycle of the P-waves for which propagation distances are between 3 and 10 meters. He reports average Q values between 7.5 and 10.

A value of Q_{α} for the first layer of ART/CART site model is appropriately low at 10. Based on synthetic tests of modeling observational waveforts, Q increases with depth. Modeling exercises also showed that the estimates of Q for Layer 2 and the half space do not strongly affect the synthetics. Q_{α} in the second and third layers is 50 and 100 respectively. QB for the ART/CART site model is assigned a value of 40% Q_{a} in Layer 1 and 44% Q_{a} layer 2 and the Halfspace.

CHAPTER 3

FORWARD SYNTHETIC CALCULATIONS

A. Introduction

In the previous chapter observational refraction and explosion velocity data were analyzed for geophysical parameters of the test site. Velocities, layer thicknesses and attenuation factors define the McCormick Ranch site model listed in table 3. In the current chapter these parameters are used to predict the velocity response of the test site to a 5 lb. charge representing the complete the complete the complete the current chapter source.

The general approach to building the synthetic velocity, Us, is the representation theorem abbreviated

$$(3.1) U_{S}(\omega) = S(\omega)G(\omega)$$

where seismograms are calculated in the frequency domain as a product of the source function $S(\omega)$ and the Green's functions $G(\omega)$ representing the path effects. Both $S(\omega)$ and $G(\omega)$ will be tested. Equations 4.4 and 4.5 which are discussed in the next chapter are a more precise representation of the way the synthetics are calculated.

The Mueller-Murphy (1971) characterization of the synthetic source was chosen because it provides a physical basis for incorporating depth effects and variations in

material constants. Their model predicts the tar-field reduced displacement potential (RDP) for yield, W, at a depth, h, in a test medium with specified density and velocities. A range of $S(\omega)$ are possible given the uncertainty of the McCormick Ranch site model specifically the shear velocity at the source burial depth of 3 meters.

Path models are calculated first for a simple half space and then for a layered half space structure. Results are presented as a suite of forward models derived by combining the range of source functions with the range of path functions. Comparisons are then possible between synthetic and observed waveforms and any differences are attributed to a deficiency in the theoretical source or path model.

This forward modeling exercise serves several purposes. First, a preliminary investigation of a range of source functions provides a basis for comparison of the isotropic moment to be calculated in the next chapter. A catalog of Mueller-Murphy theoretical source function changes with material constants will allow better interpretation of the inverted source function and quantify the resolvability of the model with this data set.

Secondly the trade-offs between $S(\omega)$ and $G(\omega)$ are addressed. $G(\omega)$ are not known exactly but are approximated and any errors in G(f) map into the inverted source functions, $S_i(\omega)$,

 $(3.2) \qquad \qquad S_{1}(\omega) = G(\omega)^{-1} U_{G}(\omega)$

where $G(\omega)^{-1}$ is the inverse of the Green's functions and $U_{0}(\omega)$ are the observed seismograms. This equation will be discussed in the next chapter. The set of path models are utilized in a series of inversions in the next chapter to proceed with the quantification of how $S_{i}(\omega)$ is affected by errors in $G(\omega)$.

A third application of the synthetic seismograms calculated in this section is to use them in trial inversions. Several synthetic trials were designed to show the effects of noise in the waveforms and the effects of station distribution ; e calculation of the inverted source.

D. Theoretica) Source Function: RDP

The historical basis of the reduced displacement potential (RDP) as a suitable description of the isotropic component of the explosion seismic source function (ESSF) was reviewed in Chapter 1. Now the exact form of the Mueller-Murphy (1971) RDP is given in order to study the effect various parameters have on theoretical predictions. The Mueller-Murphy RDP is singled out here because it is the only source model that directly incorporates depth of burial effects and other physical parameters.

At distances much greater than the elastic radius, r_{el} , the far-field RDP is described in the frequency domain for an arbitrary pressure pulse acting at the elastic radius in an

isotropic homogeneous wholespace

(3.3)
$$\psi(\omega) = \frac{r_{c1}c^2}{4\mu} \frac{p(\omega)}{(\omega_0^2 - \beta'\omega^2 + i\omega_0\omega)}$$

where $p(\omega)$ is the Fourier transform of the pressure pulse, p(t); c is compressional velocity; $\omega_o = c/r_{el}$ is characteristic frequency; and $\beta' = (\lambda + 2\mu)/4\mu$ for Lame's constant, λ , and shear modulus, μ (Equation 10, Mueller and Murphy, 1971).

Mueller and Murphy analyzed free-field observations at close ranges to several UNE's to propose the analytical description of the pressure time function

(3.4)
$$p(t) = (P_0 e^{-\alpha t} + P_{0C}) H(t)$$

illustrated in Figure 3.1. Poc is the steady state pressure; $P_o = P_{os} - P_{oc}$ is the magnitude of the pressure difference between peak pressure, P_o and steady state pressure, P_{oc} ; α is the decay constant; and H(t) is the unit step function. Source overshoot is the ratio of the peak pressure to the step pressure

$$(3.5) \qquad \qquad B = P_{os}/P_{oc}$$

and is greater for hard rock than for soft or porous rock. Source overshoot controls the peak in the source spectrum.



Figure 3.1. Pressure function used to calculate the reduced displacement potential. P_{oc} is steady state pressure, P_{os} is peak shock pressure and $P_s = P_{os} - P_{oc}$. (From Moeller and Murphy, 1971)
Note that von Seggern and Blanford (1972) defined source overshoot as the ratio of pressure amplitude to steady-state pressure (B = P_0/P_{oc}).

Calculation of the theoretical RDP using Equation 3.3 requires an estimate of the pressure function in Equation 3.4. Mueller-Murphy developed the following scaling relations for parameters in Equation 3.4 in terms of the basic shot variables: yield, W, depth of burial, h, P-wave velocity, S-wave velocity and density.

Peak shock pressure, P_{os} , measured from close-in freefield data is in general slightly larger than the overburden pressure

(3.6)
$$P_{os} = 1.5 \rho g h$$

for density, ρ , gravitational acceleration, g, and depth, h.

The relation for steady state pressure, P_{oc} , was derived by considering permanent displacement at the elastic radius. In an incompressible solid

(3.7)
$$P_{oc} = k_1 \frac{4}{3} \mu \left(\frac{r_c}{r_{el}}\right)^3$$

where a compaction factor, k_1 (< 1.0), is necessary to lower the step pressures to match observations of steady state pressures in porous (compressible) rocks (Equation 18, Mueller and Murphy, 1971). The step pressure in Equation 3.7 depends on elastic radius and cavity radius which scale with yield and burial depth as follows:

(3.8)
$$r_{e,l} = k_2 \frac{W^{1/3}}{h^{.42}}$$

(3.9)
$$r_c = k_3 \frac{W^{.29}}{h^{.11}}$$

Cavity radius is smaller for competent rock in which there is little pore space to collapse as the cavity grows and is larger for porcus material.

The decay constant, α , of the pressure function is proportional to the theoretical corner frequency, ω_o :

$$(3.10) \qquad \alpha = k_4 \, \omega_0$$

The proportionality constants, k_i , in Equations 3.7 – 3.10 are medium dependent. Mueller-Murphy constants for the uuff-rhyolite of Pahute Mesa at NTS, the most intensely studied and modeled source medium, are k_1 = .4, k_2 = 1490, k_3 = 31.4 and k_4 = 1.5. Mueller-Murphey also list some of the constants for granite, salt, shale and alluvium.

The CART yield and depth of burial are

 $(3.11) W = 2.5 \times 10^{-6} \text{ kt}$

(3.12)

The UNEs studied by Mueller-Murphy were all buried at depths large enough to ensure containment. The normal scaled depth for containment,

(3.13)
$$SD = h / W^{1/3} \pi$$

is $122W^{1/3}$ m for h in meters and W in kilotons. The CART explosion is overburied at $221W^{1/3}$ m while the ART explosion is underburied at $74W^{1/3}$ m.

The above scaling relations (Equations 3.7 - 3.10) predict the shape of the RDP from basic shot parameter: and medium parameters. Many realizations of Equation 3.3 were calculated to study the change in the RDP with changing parameters.

1. BASIC Model

In this section (3.B.1) the characteristics of the BASIC source model are discussed followed in Section 3.B.2 by a summary of depth effects on the BASIC model. Section 3.E.3 gives physical evidence for the parameters of the BASIC model along with two other models summarizing a realistic range of possible parameters for the ART/CART source.

The BASIC model used for the CART test site was first calculated for a scaled depth of $122W^{1/3}$ m assuming a cavity radius of 0.64 m, elastic radius of 7.0 m, compressional

velocity of 366 m/s, shear velocity of 244 m/s and density of 1.9 gm/cm³. These parameters result in a source spectrum with a long period level of 0.035 m³, no overshoot (B=1.0), and a theoretical corner frequency of 8.3 Hz.

Figure 3.2a-d illustrates the result of varying the following four parameters with respect to the BASIC RDP; (a) cavity radius, (b) elastic radius, (c) velocities (compressional and shear) and (d) Poisson's ratio (changing shear velocity only). The BASIC RDP is the dashed curve in Figure 3.2. The parameters for these trials are listed in table 4. Because the RDP is only slightly affected by changing density the effect of density is not illustrated.

The three characteristics that change in Figure 3.2 are: long period level LPL), source overshoot (B), and corner frequency (f_{0}). These are notably the three parameters that Haskell and others have used to fit analytical functions to observed RDPs (Haskell (1967), von Seggren and Blanford (1972), Helmberger and Hadley (1984).

The following sections relate the parameters in table 4 to the trial RDPs in Figure 3.2. The discussion is grouped into aspects of the RDP concerning the long-period level (LPI), source overshoot and corner frequency. Following the d scussion of the characteristics of the RDP, a range of RDPs for the CAPT explosion are presented along with the reasoning for assignment of each parameter. Since high-frequency level is proportional to W-53 and has a slope of ω^{-2} for all

ñ1

			····	
	Cavity	Elastic	Velocity	Poisson
h	1.6	1.6	1.6	1.6
rc	(.64)(.53)(.43) .64	.64	. 64
rel	7.0	(10.0) (8.8) (7.0)) 7.0	7.0
ρ	1.9	1.9	1.9	1.9
B	(1) (1.8) (3.3)	(1)(2)(3)	(1)(2)(2.9)	(1) (2) (2.9)
с	366	366	(366) (258) (216)	366
β	244	244	(244) (172) (144)	(244) (172) (144)
σ	.1	.1	.1	(.1)(.35)(.4)
kl	. 4	. 4	. 4	. 4
k2	417	(597) (525) (417) 417	417
k3	(28) (24) (19)	28.5	28.5	28.5
ką	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5

TABLE 4

SOURCE PARAMETERS IN FIGURE 3.2



Figure 3.2. Sensitivity of reduced displacement potential to (a) cavity radius (b) elastic radius (c) compressional and shear velocity (d) Poisson's ratio.

realizations of Equation 3.3, no comparisons of highfrequency level or high-frequency roll-off are necessary.

a) Long period level: LPL

The long period level (LPL) of the source spectrum is obtained by taking the limit of Equation 3.3 as ω approaches zero and substituting Equation 3.7 for Poc,

(3.14)
$$\Psi(\omega) |_{\omega} = 0 = \frac{r_{e1}^{3} P_{oc}}{4\mu} = \frac{1}{3} k_{1} r_{c}^{3}$$

The LPL of the source spectrum is related to final cavity volume which increases as the cube of the cavity radius for increasing yield.

In classical cube-root-yield (CRY) scaling the cavity radius is assumed proportional to the cube root of yield so LPL is directly proportional to yield

 $\Psi(\omega)|_{\omega = 0} \sim (r_c)^3 \sim W^{1.0}$

In contrast Mueller-Murphy allow cavity radius to get larger as overburden pressure decreases or yield increases. Substituting Equations 3.13 and 3.9 into 3.14 relates Mueller-Murphy LPL to yield:

(3.15)
$$\psi(\omega)|_{\omega = 0} \sim (r_c)^3 \sim W^{.76}$$

This step allows a quantification of the yield ratio error associated with cavity radius error. In other words, if the true cavity radius is r_{c1} and the parameter is estimated at r_{c2} then the true yield, W_1 , would be different from the predicted yield, W_2 . The difference between true and expected yield can be measured as a ratio of true and predicted cavity radius.

(3.16)
$$\left(\frac{r_{c1}}{r_{c2}}\right)^{3/.76} \sim \frac{W_1}{W_2}$$

Figure 3.2a illustrates the RDP for cavity radii of 0.43, 0.53 and 0.64 m with all other parameters held constant according to the BASIC model. The k₃ proportionality factors which determine the estimated cavity radii are 28.5, 38.0 and 43.7 respectively. For a cavity radius increase from .43 to .64 meters the expected yield ratio is 5.0. The predicted yield ratio increases approximately as the ratio of predicted cavity radius (r_{c1}) to true radius (r_{c2}) raised to the fourth power. The implication is that estimation of relative yield from forward models is strongly dependent on the estimation of cavity radius. This weakness could be avoided with empirical measurements of $r_{c.}$

In this example, the LPL increases by a factor of 3.3 for a factor of 1.5 increase in cavity radius. This large variation in LPL could have a significant impact on calibration tests using small explosions in an innomogeneous

test bed. Equation 3.9 predicts a cavity radius of 28 meters for 10 kt explosion in tuff-rhyolite at a scaled depth of $122W^{1/3}$ m. The actual cavity radius may vary around the sphere but the result seen at one station is an average. For small explosions, the entire cavity radius could be contained by an inhomogeneity with a scale length of two meters so that the proportionality constant, k₄, derived for a test site would be in error.

Because cavity radius depends on pore fluids, it is also notable that small explosions can easily be placed above or below the water table. A saturated rock is less compressible leading to a smaller cavity radius for a given yield.

b) Source Overshoot

Source overshoot is sensitive to all parameters tested as shown in Figure 3.2a-d. The peak pressure according to Equation 3.6 for the BASIC model at a scaled depth of $122W^{1/3}$ m (1.65 m) is 46.1 x 10⁴ dyne/cm² The maximum step pressure calculated by Equation 3.7 should be less than the peak pressure. Rewriting Equation 3.7 with $\mu = \rho \beta^2$

(3.17)
$$P_{oc} = k_1 \frac{4}{3} \rho \beta^2 \left(\frac{r_c}{r_{e1}}\right)^3$$

shows that step pressure is decreased and overshoot is increased for decreasing r_c (Figure 3.2a); increasing r_{ul} (Figure 3.2b); decreasing shear velocity (Figure 3.2c); and increasing Poisson's ratio (Figure 3.2d). The effect of increasing the overshoot in Figures 3.2b-d is to shift the apparent corner toward the low frequencies. The LPL is not changed by overshoot in Figures 3.2b - 3.2d.

c) Corner frequency

The corner frequency dependence on elastic radius and compressional velocity is given by

$$(3.18) \qquad \qquad \omega_0 = \frac{c}{r_{el}}$$

If the elastic radius is proportional to cube root of yield then the corner frequency is inversely proportional to the cube root of yield.

(3.19)
$$\omega_{\rm o} \sim \frac{c}{w^{1/3}}$$

The Mueller-Murphy corner scales inversely as yield raised to the .19 power as shown by substituting Equation 3.13 and 3.8 into 3.17

$$(3.20) \qquad \qquad \omega_{\rm o} \sim \frac{c}{w^{.19}}$$

The inverse relationship of corner frequency and elastic radius is illustrated in Figure 3.2b (arrow is in direction of increasing elastic radius) As elastic radius increases from 7.0 to 10.0 meters the corner frequency decreases from 8.3 Hz to 5.8 Hz. Figure 3.2c illustrates the corner frequency shift with increasing P-velocity for a constant Poisson's ration of .1. The theoretical corner shifts from 8.3 Hz to 4.9 Hz for a decrease in P-velocity from 366 m/s to 216 m/s. The change in apparent corner frequency is also related to overshoot.

Figure 3.2d shows the effect of changing only the shear velocity and allowing Poisson's rat to change. As Poisson's ratio increases the overshoot increases and the "apparent" corner shifts form 8.3 Hz to 7.0 Hz while the theoretical corner frequency does not change.

2. Source Depth of Burial

The BASIC model was calculated for normal SD of $122W^{1/3}$ m (= 1.65 m). Depth of burial effects associated with CART (SD = $221W^{1/3}$) and ART (SD = $74W^{1/3}$ m) are illustrated in Figure 3.3.

For a ky proportionality constant of 28.5 in Equation 3.9, the predicted CAPT cavity radius is.68 m compared to .60 for ART. The effect of decreasing the depth of burial from CART to ART is to increase the cavity radius. As a result of increased cavity radius, the LFL of the underburied ART ROF is 1.5 times larger than that of the overburied CART ROF. The theoretical corner frequency of the predicted CART ROF. The theoretical corner frequency of the predicted CART ROF. The theoretical corner frequency of the predicted CART ROF. At frequencies below 9 F: ART chould produce greater anglitudes and at frequencies the 9 Hz, CART of corner is to serve dreater actification. At hence, will differ the context of the predicted cavity for the serve of the serve of the cavity for the cavity for the serve of the cavity for the serve of the cavity for the cavity for the serve of the cavity for the



Figure 2.3. Sensitivity of the reduced displacement potential to depth of burial. Curves for normal (SD=122W1/3), overheried (SD=221W1/3) and undurburied (SD=74W1/3) scaled depths are shown. The dashed curve is the Basic source corresponding to the dashed curve in Figure 3.2.

apparent in the peak velocity versus range plots in Figure 2.7, the result is not conclusive because Figure 2.7 doesn't separate frequencies. (Perret and Bass filtered their data to get correct time domain amplitude comparisons).

3. CART Reduced Displacement Potentials

Table 5 lists the parameters of two additional models: SLOW92 and FAST60. These models were chosen to illustrate the extremes in LPL and corner frequency that are possible for the McCormick Ranch test site. The RDPs are plotted in Figure 3.4. Between the two extreme models, SLOW92 and FAST60, there is a factor of 3.6 increase in LPL and the corner frequency shifts by a factor of 3.5. It is believed that the RDP for the CART explosion is somewhere in between these two extreme models. Derivation of the appropriate cavity radius, elastic radius, P-velocity and S-velocity are given below.

Equation 3.9 predicts a cavity radius of 0.66 meters for the CART source in tuff-rhyolite $(k_3=31.4)$. Stump (1984) used $k_3= 28.7$ for dry alluvium suggesting a cavity radius of 0.60 meters. Since the CART tests are very near the surface the source medium should be less consolidated and more comprescible. A lower limit of .60 to 0.66 meters is taken for cavity radius. The upper limit of the cavity radius is taken from photographs of the AET craters which are 2.0 meters in diameter. Thus the CAPT cavity radius is less than 1.0 meter.

	BASIC	SLOW92	FAST60
h (m)	1.6	3.0	3.0
r _c (m)	.64	. 92	.60
r _{el (m)}	7.0	7.5	5.2
ρ (gm/cm ³)	1.9	1.9	1.9
В	1.0	3.1	1.0
с (т./ S)	366	270	600
β (m/ 5)	244	120	230
σ	.1	.38	.41
k ₁	. 4	. 4	. 4
k ₂ (r _{e1})	417	1490	876
k3(r _c)	28.5	43.7	28.5
kg	1.5	1.5	1.5
t o	8.3	5.7	18.4

TABLE 5

CART SOURCE PARAMETERS IN FIGURE 3.4



Figure 3.4 Range of possible CART reduced displacement potentials. Curves are computed from parameters listed in table 5.

Mueller-Murphy set k_2 in Equation 3.8 equal to 1490 for tuff-rhyolite. This constant predicts a CART r_{el} of 12.74 m. Based on the study of amplitude versus range presented earlier (see Fig. 2.6 - 2.8), the CART elastic radius appears to be smaller than 12.74 m hence the k_2 constant was assigned a lower value and 12.74 m is taken as the upper limit for the CART elastic radius. Since the linear trend fit through all peak radial velocities has a slope of -1.56, linear motion is most likely observed as close to the source as 5.0 - 10.0 meters. The BASIC model incorporates an elastic radius of 7.0 meters with a k_2 value of 417.

SLOW92 combines the maximum cavity and elastic radii with the minimum wave velocities. The velocity pair, c = 270 and β = 120, for SLOW92 is representative of the top layer in the McCormick Ranch site model given in table 3. The low shear velocity and high Poisson's ratio of .38 results in a large overshoot; B = 3.1. The low shear velocity with the large elastic radius results in the minimum theoretical corner frequency of 5.7. The analytic (or apparent) corner frequency, roughly equal to the peak in the spectrum, is at 5 Hz.

FAST60 combines the minimum radii with the maximum wave velocities. The velocity pair, c = 600 and β = 230, corresponds to layer 2 in the McCormick Ranch site model given in table 3. The P-velocity was lowered from 670 m/s in the site model in order reduce Poisson's ratio to .41. While source overshoot for the FAST60 RDP is 1.0 there is a peak in

the spectrum due to the high Poisson's ratio. The theoretical corner frequency is 18.4 Hz and the spectrum is peaked at about 15 Hz.

C. Path Calculations

This section documents the path models that were tested in an attempt to forward model the CART observed seismograms. These calculations begin with simple half-space (HS) models of the test site and conclude with the more complex and realistic layered half-space models (LHS). A series of models are included in each group to explore the effects of different model parameters on the synthetic seismograms.

The results of this section are displays of the various possible source models combined with the various path models. Figures 3.5, 3.6 and 3.7 are representative of the balf-space models and Figures 3.8, 3.9 and 3.10 illustrate the layered half stace models. Trade-offs associated with the forward modeling procedure are summarized in Section D following this section.

1. Half-space Greens Functions

Seismograms are first synthesized for the simplest path model; an elastic half-space. The purpose is to test how much of the characteristics of the observed waveforms can be matched by the simplest model.

Green's function: are calculated for spherical waves emanating from a point source = 0 meters below the free

surface in an isotropic, homogeneous, elastic half-space. The Cagniard de Hoop transform technique of Johnson (1974) calculates the total wavefield.

Two half-space models are discussed here. Model HS366 assumes the parameters of the second layer in the CART site characterization listed in table 3. P-wave velocity is 670 m/s, S-wave velocity is 366 m/s and density is 1.9 gm/cc. Poisson's ratio for this model is 0.29.

The second HS model was derived directly from CART first arrival times. The CART observations were used to calculate a P-wave velocity at each range. Sv-P times were then used to get S travel time and S-velocity at each range. The velocities of this range varying half-space model are listed in the upper part of table 6. The velocity pairs resulted in a constant Poisson's ratio of 0.43-0.45 for the six ranges. The average velocities chosen for the HS115 model are 400 m/s and 115 m/s for P and S velocities.

In summary there is a fast HS model, HS366 with a shear velocity of 366 m/s and a slow HS model with a shear velocity of 115 m/s. Green's functions were computed for each HS model at each CART range and convolved with the Mueller-Murphy source function, BASIC, discussed in the previous section. The result is a set of radial and vertical velocity synthetics for the two half-space models.

Figure 3.5 illustrates the HS115 path model with the BASIC source model. Kadial and vertical synthetic

		m	α	β	ρ	σ
1.	Range	varying	half-space			
		5.0	227		1.9	
		9.7	303	100	1.9	. 4 4
		13.5	355	115	1.9	. 4 4
		20.3	425	125	1.9	. 45
		27.0	465	150	1.9	.44
		40.6	527	180	1.9	.43
Av	erage I	Half-spac	:e			
2.	HS366		670	366	1.9	.29
3.	нс115		400	115	1.9	. 45

TABLE 6

THREE HALF-SPACE VELOCITY MODELS

HALF SPACE VELOCITY SYNTHETICS PATH: HS115, SOURCE: BASIC

RADIAL

VERTICAL



TIME (0.64 s)

Figure 3.5. Velocity synthetics resulting from the halfspace velocity model, HS115, and the Basic source model. Offset distance of calculation is shown on the left. At the right of each trace is the peak velocity. seismograms are plotted for each CART range. Synthetic (predicted) amplitudes are given at the right of each trace.

These synthetics reproduce some important aspects of the observational data that were outlined in Section 2.A.3. Specifically, the development of surface waves with range matches the observational data. The body waves dominate the signal between 5 and 13.5 meters and the surface waves dominate between 20.3 and 40.6 meters.

Another measure of the fit of synthetics to observations is the ratio of the peak radial velocity to the peak vertical velocity. The radial and vertical peaks for CART data are listed in Appendix C. At close ranges (5-13.5 m) the observed R/Z ratio is around 1.5. At more distant ranges the ratio increases to 2 or more. The half-space synthetic peak ratios show the opposite trend; at near ranges, the ratio is around 1.2 and at far ranges the ratio is .65. This suggests the peak radial component at large offsets is too small relative to the peak vertical component for the HS115 model.

Figure 3.6 shows the effect of sources on the synthetic calculations at the 9.7 meter range. In Figure 3.6a the HS115 path model is convolved with the 3 RDPs in Figure 3.4 (after converting the RDPs to moment according to Equation 1.7 as required by Equation 4.4.) Synthetics are compared to the CART3B observation at 9.7 meters.

The factor of 3.5 -3.8 variation in amplitude is related to the relative amplitude of the source moment functions. When compressional velocity is used in Equation 1.7 to

HALF SPACE VELOCITY SYNTHETICS 9 METERS





Figure 3.6. Radial and vertical velocity synthetics at 9 meters (a)Slow half-space model, HS115, with three sources. (b)Fast half-space velocity with three sources. The peak amplitudes are plotted at right. The bottom trace in each figure is the observed velocity from station B (at 9.7 meters) of CART 3.

convert from reduced displacement potential to seismic moment, the order of the largest to smallest source functions changes from SLOW92 having the highest long period level followed by BASIC and FAST60 to the order in which FAST60 is largest followed by SLOW92 and BASIC. The peak cbserved amplitude falls within the range of synthetic amplitudes for both the radial and vertical components in Figure 3.6a.

The R/Z ratio is 1 - 1.4 for the synthetics compared to 0.9 for the CART3B observation. The relative contributions of radial and vertical components are well modeled by the HS115 synthetics at this range.

While the BASIC and FAST60 source models produce synthetics of similar shape, the SLOW92 model results in a synthetic richer in long period. This is a result of the low corner frequency of 5.7 Hz in the SLOW92 source model.

Figure 3.6b is the same as 3.6a except this time the faster HS366 path model was convolved with the 3 RDPs. Amplitudes vary by a factor of 3.8. The observed peak radial velocity falls within the range of calculated amplitudes but the calculated vertical peaks are smaller than the observed peaks.

The R/Z ratios are around 3.0 for the synthetics as compared to 0.9 for the observed seismograms. This synthetic R/Z ratio is larger for the HS366 path than for the HS115 path models because the faster shear velocities in HS366 produce lower radial peaks than for the HS115 model. The

faster model shows a smaller contribution of surface waves and in general a higher frequency content.

Figure 3.7 is the same as Figure 3.6 but synthetics are now calculated at the 27 meter range and compared to the CARTID observation at 27.0 meters. Figure 3.7a is the slow HS115 path model convolved with the 3 source models and Figure 3.7b is the fast HS366 model with the same source models.

Comparing Figure 3.7 to 3.6 it is obvious that as offset increases, the surface waves become more pronounced on both the synthetic and observed signals. The most notable difference between Figures 3.7a and 3.7b is the time of the surface wave arrival. HS115 results in a surface wave arrival that is consistent with the observation. HS366 results in a surface wave arrival that is very close in time to the body wave arrivals. This argues for a slow shear velocity as in the HS115 model. Another explanation could be a secondary source which is richer in long periods. This trade-off is discussed in Section 4.C.3.

The F/2 ratio of the surface wave peaks of CARTID is 2.4. The same F/2 ratio of the HS115 synthetics is around 0.6 and around 0.8 for the HS366 model.

The most provinent defect in the HS115 synthetics is that the vertical surface wave peak is too large relative to the radial surface wave peak. The main defect in the HS366

HALF SPACE VELOCITY SYNTHETICS 27 METERS





Figure 3.7. Radial and vertical velocity synthetics at 27 meters (a)Slow half-space model, HS115, with three sources. (b)Fast half-space velocity with three sources. The peak amplitudes are plotted at right. The bottom trace in each figure is the observed velocity from station D (at 27 meters) of CART 1.

synthetics is that the arrival time of the surface wave is early.

2. Layered Half-space Greens Functions

Half-space synthetics calculated in the previous section provided no way to return down-going energy to the receiver. In this section LHS Green's functions are convolved with the 3 RDPs to investigate the more realistic situation of a velocity structure that increases with depth and thus includes turning rays in the synthetics. Green's functions are calculated for models consisting of 2 layers over a halfspace. In addition to P and S velocities, the reflectivity solution used in this section allows the specification of Q (intrinsite attenuation) for each layer. The code follows a generalized method suggested by Fuchs and Mueller (1971).

The number of variables to be specified in the LHS models has increased 6-fold over the number of variables required for the HS models. To reflect this, the number of models necessary for comparison has also increased. Four combinations of S velocities, three combinations of Q structure and location of the source above or below the three-meter interface have been studied in 12 different models. Six of the 12 models are presented in table 7. In these particular models labeled F,H,I,K,N and O, P velocity is constant for all three layers. The effect of changing P velocities was not addressed because P-velocity was assumed the most reliable of all the estimates. Q structure does not

	F	Н	I	K	N	0	
β1	120	80	80	80	120	120	$(\alpha_1 = 270)$
β ₂	360	360	360	230	230	230	$(\alpha_2 \approx 670)$
β ₃	500	500	500	360	360	360	(α ₃ = 930)
Above			А			A	
Below	В	В		В	В		
Q1	10	10	10	10	10	10	
Q2	50	50	50	50	50	50	
Q3	100	100	100	100	100	100	

TADTE /	TABLE	7
---------	-------	---

LAYERED HALF-SPACE VELOCITY MODELS

change between these models because preliminary calculations showed that a change of Q over the range of estimates for the ART/CART test site does not severely effect the resulting synthetic.

The most important parameter and the least well constrained is the shear velocities structure. Related to this is the location of the shot relative to the most shallow interface. The 3.0 meter interface in the velocity structure in table 3 is the same as the CART shot depth. Path calculations were made with the source just above and just below the 3-meter interface. To study this parameter models H and I were completed with exactly the same parameters except the source in H was placed just below the 3-meter interface and the source in I was place just above the interface. This comparison is repeated with the pair of models N and O.

The product of this section will be a series of models with different shear structures. Inversions in the next chapter will utilize the series to address the question of how uncertainty in shear structure maps into the inverted source function.

To illustrate the general form of the LHS synthetics Figure 3.8 shows the seismograms resulting from the convolution of the path model, N, with the BASIC source. Radial and vertical synthetic velocities are plotted for each CART range with peak amplitudes listed to the right of each trace. Comparison of the this figure to Figure 3.5 shows the

LAYERED HALF SPACE VELOCITY SYNTHETICS PATH: N, SOURCE: BASIC

RADIAL

VERTICAL





Figure 3.8. Velocity synthetics resulting from the LHS path model N, and the Basic source model. Offset distance of calculation is shown at left. At the right of each trace is the peak velocity. Compare to HS models in Figure 3.5.

difference between the HS and LHS models. The LHS synthetics are more complex and show a more oscillatory character as energy is trapped in the upper layers.

87

The R/Z ratio decreases with increasing offset. Radial (body wave) peaks are larger than vertical peaks at close ranges and vertical (surface wave) peaks are larger than radial peaks at 27.0 and 40.6 meters.

Figure 3.9 is the LHS source study. The 3 RDPs were each convolved with the path model, N. Calculations made at 9.7 meters are compared with the CART3B observation in Figure 3.9a. This figure is comparable to Figure 3.6 of the HS study. The observed peak amplitude falls within the range of peak synthetic amplitudes for both the radial and vertical calculations. Calculations made at 27.0 meters are compared with the CART1D observation in Figure 3.9b. This figure is comparable to Figure 3.7 of the HS study. Here the peak amplitudes of the radial synthetics underestimate the observation and the peak amplitudes of the vertical component overestimate the observation.

Synthetic R/Z ratios at 9.7 meters vary from 1.2 to 3.4 between source models. These ratios are high compared to the value of .9 for the observation. At the 27.0 meter range the surface waves are predominantly the peak amplitudes. The R/Z ratios at 27.0 meters which vary from .3 to .4 are low compared to the observed ratio of 2.43 at 27.0 meters.

Figure 3.10 is the LHS path study. The six path models (F,H,I,K,N,O) were convolved with the BASIC source. Figure

LAYERED HALF SPACE VELOCITY SYNTHETICS

PATH : N, SOURCE STUDY



²⁷ METERS



(b)

Figure 3.9. Velocity synthetics at (a)9.7 meters and (b) 27.0 meters resulting from the LHS path model N with three sources. Peak amplitudes are plotted at the right of each trace. The bottom trace in (a) is the observed velocity from station B of CART 3. The bottom trace in (b) is from station D of CART 1. Compare to HS models in Figures 3.6 and 3.7.

LAYERED HALF SPACE VELOCITY SYNTHETICS SOURCE: BASIC, PATH STUDY

C



Figure 3.10. Velocity synthetics path study. Synthetics were calculated at (a) 9.7 meters and (b) 27.0 meters for the Basic source with 6 different LHS path models. The lower trace in each figure is the observed seismogram. LHS path models are summarized in table 7.

3.10a makes the comparisons at the 9.7 meter range with the CART3B observation. The synthetic radial amplitudes vary by a factor of 3.2 and the synthetic vertical amplitudes vary by a factor of 6.4 over the range of path models. Both the observed radial and vertical peak amplitudes fall within the ranges of peak synthetic amplitudes.

Models H and I have the same shear structure but the source is above the 3-meter interface in I and below the 3meter interface in H. This difference results in a factor of 1.8 difference in amplitudes at 9.7 meters and a factor of 3.4 at 27 meters. The larger amplitudes are associated with the slower shear velocity of the upper layer. Similarly model O and N have the same shear structure but the source in O was above the 3-meter interface and the source in model N was below the 3-meter interface. Notice that the observed amplitude is more closely matched by the synthetics that were calculated with the source in the lower layer. This suggests the shear velocity of the layer that contained the explosives is closer to the shear velocities in the second layer of the two models. In particular this is between 230 m/s and 360 m/s.

CHAPTER 4

MOMENT TENSOR INVERSIONS

The work presented in this chapter follows the method developed by Stump and Johnson (1977) who inverted radiated seismic waves to determine the seismic source in terms of a moment tensor. A detailed derivation of the theory is given in Stump (1979). Stump showed that when the source is represented in terms of a moment tensor the relationship between data, source and propagation can be posed as a linear problem. Once the problem is linearized, the wealth of techniques for linear inversion can be utilized. The method of calculating the generalized linear inverse used in this study follows Lanczos (1961). Stump (1984) demonstrated that this method is well suited for explosion seismograms especially when the depth of the explosion is known or can be estimated.

Formulation of the inverse problem is outlined in Section 4.A and the generalized linear inverse solution is given in Section 4.B. In Section 4.C, inversions are completed with the synthetic seismograms discussed in Chapter 3. This step provides a check of the inversion code and a resolution study of the source matrix, M. In Section 4.D, inversions are completed with observational data.

A. Moment Tensor Representation of the Source

The moment tensor representation of the source begins with the solution of the elastodynamic equations of motion written in terms of a Green's function integral with sources in terms of boundary conditions, initial conditions and body forces. The initial and boundary conditions are rewritten in their equivalent form of body forces through the application of the representation theorem.

The moment tensor representation of the source was derived from the general representation

(4.1)
$$U_{k}(\vec{x}',t') = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{V_{o}} G_{\kappa i}(\vec{x}',t';\vec{x},t) f_{i}(\vec{x},t) dx^{3} dt$$

where U_k is the displacement in the k direction at (\vec{x}',t') ; G_{ki} are the Green's functions for the point source in the i direction observed in the k direction at (\vec{x}',t') ; f_i are body forces in the i direction at (\vec{x},t) ; and V_o is the source volume.

Stump and Johnson (1979) expanded the Green's functions in equation 4.1 in a Taylor series about the center of the source volume, $\vec{x} = \vec{0}$

$$(4.2) | G_{\kappa i}(\vec{x}',t';\vec{o},t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} x_{j_1} \dots x_{j_n} | G_{\kappa i, j_1 \dots j_n}(\vec{x}',t';\vec{o},t)$$

and defined the volume integral over force by distance as the force moment tensor, M_{ij} ,

(4.3)
$$M_{j_1,...,j_n}(\vec{o},t) = \int_{v_0} x_{j_1}...x_{j_n} f_j(\vec{x},t) dx^3$$

Substituting Equations 4.2 and 4.3 into 4.1 the displacement solution can be written:

(4.4)
$$U_{k}(\vec{x}',t') = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} G_{ki,j_{1}...j_{n}}(\vec{x}',t';\vec{o},o) \otimes M_{j_{j_{1}...j_{n}}}(\vec{o},t')$$

where $^{\bigotimes}$ is the symbol for temporal convolution.

For an explosion, the forces act at the elastic radius of the source region. Since the elastic radius of small explosions is smaller than the seismic wavelength of interest, it is realistic to simplify Equation 4.4 by localizing the force in space: a point source is assumed and only the first term in equation 4.4 is necessary.

(4.4)
$$U_k(\vec{x}',t') = G_{ki,j}(\vec{x}',t';\vec{o},o) \otimes M_{ij}(\vec{o},t')$$

The equation is further simplified by writing it in the frequency domain:

(4.5)
$$U_{\kappa}(\vec{x}',\omega) = G_{\kappa i,j}(\vec{x}',\omega;\vec{o},o) \cdot M_{j}(\vec{o},\omega)$$
where the temporal convolution is replaced by multiplication.

Equation 4.5 is the frequency domain solution to the elastodynamic equations of motion utilizing the moment tensor representation of the equivalent body forces. This equation is linear involving ground displacement, U, propagation path effects, G, and source effects, M. The equation is most conveniently written in matrix form

(4.5 abbreviated) U = GM

The moment tensor, M, represents the force moments and their directions as a function of time. Conservation of angular momentum requires the moment tensor be symmetric so there are 6 unique time functions:

$$\left[\begin{array}{ccc} M_{11} & M_{12} & M_{13} \\ & M_{22} & M_{23} \\ & & M_{33} \end{array}\right]$$

A purely explosion source contains identical diagonal elements, M_{11} , M_{22} , M_{33} and off-diagonal elements equal to zero.

$$M_{ij} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \\ & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$

The diagonal components of the explosion source are equal in

three orthogonal directions. This theoretical explosion source is purely volumetric: it has spherical symmetry with zero deviatoric component.

A pure earthquake source has diagonal elements that sum to zero making the volumetric source equal zero. An example is the moment tensor for a strike-slip fault:

$$M_{ij} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

Equation 4.5 was utilized in the forward models in Chapter 3 to predict ground motion, U, as a result of a 5 lb. explosion (M) in various velocity structures (G). In this Chapter, Equation 4.5 is utilized in the inverse modeling of the source, M.

B. Solution of the Inverse Problem

The method used in this study is to solve Equation 4.5 in the frequency domain and convert the moment tensor estimates to the source time functions. The equation is written for each frequency. In matrix notation the left side of Equation 4.5 is a vector containing the velocity values of each channel at a particular frequency. The right side of the equation contains the Fourier transform of the Green's functions multiplied by the Fourier transform of the moment tensor at a particular frequency. To obtain the estimate of M, one must calculate the inverse of the G matrix. The task of inverting the matrix, G, is accomplished by the method of singular value decomposition following the work of Lanczos (1961)

$$(4.6) G = WQV^{T}$$

$$(4.7) G^{-1} = VQ^{-1}W^{T}$$

Equation 4.7 is the generalized inverse of G. The matrices W consists of the eigenvectors associated with eigenvalues of GG^{T} . V similarly consists of the eigenvectors associated with the eigenvalues of $G^{T}G$ and Q is a matrix whose diagonal elements are the positive square roots of the eigenvalues of $G^{T}G$.

Both sides of Equation 4.5 are multiplied by G^{-1} and the moment tensor estimation is complete.

$$(4.8) G^{-1}U = G^{-1}GM$$

$G^{-1}U = M$

The eigenvalues obtained in Equation 4.6 are important in defining the resolution of the inverse problem. The solution is ill-defined in directions associated with small eigenvalues. Likewise the solution has poor resolution in the directions in which there are very small eigenvalues. The condition numbers, the ratio of largest to smallest eigenvalue, when calculated at each frequency give an indication of the frequency band of resolvable solutions. When the eigenvalues are approximately equal in magnitude the the condition numbers are small and the problem has good resolution.

The degree of fit is quantified by substituting the inverted moment tensor, M, obtained from Equation 4.8 and the input Green's functions, G, back into Equation 4.5 to produce calculated seismograms.

$$U_{\rm C} = G \left(G^{-1} U_{\rm o} \right)$$

These calculated seismograms, U_c , are then compared to the input seismograms, U_c , by measuring the correlation coefficient. A correlation coefficient equal to 1.0 is a perfect fit.

The accuracy of the moment tensor calculation is measured as a function of the variance of the data, U_{j} , as follows

(4.10)
$$\operatorname{var}(M_{k}) = \sum_{k=-1}^{L} (G_{jk}^{-1})^{2} \operatorname{var}(U_{j})$$

(Stump 1979, equation 4.5).

The above three tools of error analysis: condition numbers, time domain fit and frequency domain variance, will be discussed as they apply to inversions in Section 4.C. and 4.D. Condition numbers and variances quantify the resolution of the moment tensors. Correlation coefficients quantify the degree of fit in the time domain.

C. Source Inversions with Synthetic Data

Eight trials with synthetic data were completed to demonstrate the feasibility of source inversions with the CART observational data described in Chapter 2. This has been accomplished by simulating the ranges, azimuths and noise conditions of the observational data. The trials were designed to test the effects of signal to noise ratio (SNR), station distribution and the Green's functions on the inversions. Trial inversions suggest the CART data set meets conditions necessary to invert real data for source characteristics when the interpretations are limited to the frequency band between 1.5 and 60 Hz. Analysis of the data in Section 2.A.2 suggests a frequency band between of useable data between 3.0 and 60 Hz. The combination of these limitations results in a frequency band of 3 - 50 Hz for interpretation.

The data qualities include good SNR, good station distribution and a thorough site characterization which improves accuracy of the Green's functions. Additionally the synthetic tests emphasize the importance in calculating the correct Green's functions for reducing trade-offs between source and path functions. The eight synthetic trials are listed in table 8. The first 3 trials investigate noise effects, the next illustrates the effects of using the incorrect Green's function and the last 4 investigate the influence of station distribution.

1. Synthetic Inversions Input: U_s=MG

The synthetic seismograms were calculated according to Equation 4.5 using the Mueller-Murphy source for a 5 lb. explosion at a normal scaled depth of 122 m/kt^{1/3}. The Basic source model was discussed in Section 3.B.1, listed in table 5 and plotted in Figure 3.4. The plot in Figure 3.4 is the time derivative of the reduced displacement potential, also called reduced velocity potential (RVP), with units of m^3/s . Equation 1.6 was used to convert the RVP in Figure 3.4 to seismic moment rate.

The moment rate tensor of the Basic source is plotted in Figure 4.1a. Since this is a purely explosion source, $M'_{11} =$ $M'_{22} = M'_{33} = M'_{1SO}$. The off-diagonal components are zero $(M'_{12} = M'_{13} = M'_{23} = 0)$ and the deviatoric moment is zero. The moment rate peak of the diagonal components is equal to 3.485 X 10¹⁶ dyne-cm/s. The integral of the moment rate is the moment tensor plotted in Figure 4.1b.

The spectrum in Figure 4.1c is the M'_{11} component which is the RVP of Figure 3.4 with a different scale. The zerofrequency or long-period level (LPL) of the isotropic moment is equal to 1.119 X 10¹⁵ dyne-cm as shown in 4.1c.

SOURCE INVERSIONS WITH SYNTHETIC DATA

TR	IAL NAME	Stations	Ranges	Channels	<pre>%Noise</pre>
1.	115BIC1N00	A-G	13.5-40.6	21	0
2.	115BIC1N1	A-G	13.5-40.6	21	1
з.	115BIC1N10	A-G	13.5-40.6	21	10
4.	366BIC1X	A-G	13.5-40.6	21	1
5.	GAMMAN 1	A-E	13.5, 27.0	15	1
6.	ALPHAN1	A,B,C	13.5	9	1
7.	OMEGAN 1	A,D	13.5, 27.0	6	1
8.	C3N1	J,D,M	13.5-40.6	9	1
	¢ a				
		AC UL		@SH07 LOC.	KTIOM
	A 0	⊕ ▲▲		≜13.5 m	
		▲ 」		● 17.0 m ♦ 40.8 m	
		• 0		1 е нояти	1
	\$ 7	∲ м			





Figure 4.1 Basic source. (a) moment rate (b) moment (c) amplitude spectrum of M'11. Time domain plots are scaled to the maximum shown by vertical bar. LPL of $M'_{11} = 1.119 \times 10^{15}$ dyne-cm.

A sample of the path functions utilized in the trial inversions are represented by the 10 canonical Green's functions illustrated in Figure 4.2a. These functions are the responses at the 27.0 m range of an elastic half-space to four source types: Strike-Slip fault observed across a vertical plane (R,T,Z); Dip-slip fault observed across a vertical plane (R,T,Z); Compensated Linear vector dipole (CLVD) observed in a horizontal plane (R,Z); and the explosion(R,Z) (Stump 1979).

The synthetic velocity seismograms used in this section result from the convolution of the moment tensor in Figure 4.1a with the explosion Green's functions for the slow halfspace model (HS115) in Figure 4.2a according to Equation 4.5. These synthetics were presented in Figure 3.5 and compared to the fast half-space synthetics, HS366, and to the Layered half-space synthetics in Section 3.C.2.

2. Noise Tests

Three noise tests were designed to study the sensitivity of the inversions to noise in the input velocity seismograms. The CART 1 configuration, shown in Figure 2.2, consists of seven stations with good azimuthal coverage (seven different azimuths) and good range coverage (3 ranges: 13.5, 27.0, and 40.6 m) for a total of 21 components. Noise tests were completed with 0%, 1% and 10% noise. As an example of the naming convention used for these trials, 115BIC1N00 indicates the HS115 path functions with the Basic source including the



CANONICAL GREEN'S FUNCTIONS: HS366 27.0 METERS



Figure 4.2. The ten canonical Green's fucntions for strike slip (SS), dip slip (DS), compensated linear vector dipole (CLVD) and explosion (EXPL) sources calculated for the 27.0 metel range in (a) slow half-space model and (b) the fast half-space model. Model parameters are listed in table 6.

instrument in a CART 1 configuration with 0 % noise. The time domain peaks of the source time functions resulting from synthetic noise trials are listed in table 9.

The results of trial inversion 115BIC1N00 are given in Figure 4.3. The moment rate tensor and its integral, the moment tensor, are shown in 4.3a and 4.3b. The moduli of the M'_{11} and M'_{12} elements are plotted in Figure 4.3c.

The moment rate tensor has been separated into its isotropic and deviatoric components below according to Equations 1.8 and 1.9

4.11
$$M_{ISO} = 3.32 \times 10^{16} \begin{bmatrix} 1.0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1.0 & 0 \\ 1.0 \end{bmatrix} dyne-cm/s$$

4.12
$$D_{ij} = 5.4 \times 10^{13} \begin{bmatrix} 1.0 & .17 & .83 \\ & 1.37 & .10 \\ & & -2.37 \end{bmatrix} dyne-cm/s$$

The isotropic moment rate peak is 4.6% smaller than the input source amplitude of 3.485 X 10^{16} dyne-cm/s. The inversion results exhibit spherical symmetry. The diagonal components vary from the isotropic estimate at most by 0.4%. The isotropic moment rate is much larger than the deviatoric moment rate (3.32 X 10^{16} / 5.4 X 10^{13} = 615). The LPL of the M'11 amplitude spectrum of 1.0 X 10^{15} dyne-cm matches closely the LPL of the input, 1.119 X 10^{15} dyne-cm.

The second trial, 115BICIN1, includes white noise that is 1 % of the peak vertical amplitude at the 27.0 m range in

TABLE 9

PEAK TIME DOMAIN AMPLITUDES FROM SYNTHETIC SOURCE INVERSIONS

MOMENT RATE (dyne-cm/s X 10¹⁶)

NAME	M'11	M'12	M'13	M'22	M'23	<u>M'33</u>	M'150
N00	3.328	.0007076	.003394	3.330	.0004466	3.310	3.324
N1	3.338	.0005518	.003412	3.342	.001598	3.322	3.334
N10	3.582	.006268	.009900	3.578	.008172	3.618	3.592
х	4.326	.2402	1.035	4.192	.7170	9.958	6.158
	3.330	.002126	.003842	3.330	.001140	3.306	3.322
	3.428	.0006358	.002084	3.428	.001011	3.426	3.426
	3.294	.002242	.01482	3.292	.02564	3.276	3.288
	3.208	.002006	.02060	3.224	.04842	3.148	3.192
	NAME N00 N1 N10 X	NAME M'11 N00 3.328 N1 3.338 N10 3.582 X 4.326 3.330 3.428 3.294 3.206	NAME M' ₁₁ M' ₁₂ NOO 3.328 .0007076 N1 3.338 .0005518 N10 3.582 .006268 X 4.326 .2402 3.330 .002126 3.428 .0006358 3.294 .002242 3.206 .002006	NAME M' ₁₁ M' ₁₂ M' ₁₃ NOO 3.328 .0007076 .003394 N1 3.338 .0005518 .003412 N10 3.582 .006268 .009900 x 4.326 .2402 1.035 3.330 .002126 .003842 3.428 .0006358 .002084 3.294 .002242 .01482 3.206 .002006 .02060	NAME M'11 M'12 M'13 M'22 NOO 3.328 .0007076 .003394 3.330 N1 3.338 .0005518 .003412 3.342 N10 3.582 .006268 .009900 3.578 X 4.326 .2402 1.035 4.192 3.330 .002126 .003842 3.330 3.428 .0006358 .002084 3.428 3.294 .002242 .01482 3.292 3.206 .002006 .02060 3.224	NAME M'_{11} M'_{12} M'_{13} M'_{22} M'_{23} NOO3.328.0007076.0033943.330.0004466N13.338.0005518.0034123.342.001598N103.582.006268.0099003.578.008172x4.326.24021.0354.192.71703.330.002126.0038423.330.0011403.428.0006358.0020843.428.0010113.294.002242.014823.292.025643.206.002006.020603.224.04842	NAME M' ₁₁ M' ₁₂ M' ₁₃ M' ₂₂ M' ₂₃ M' ₃₃ NOO 3.328 .0007076 .003394 3.330 .0004466 3.310 N1 3.338 .0005518 .003412 3.342 .001598 3.322 N10 3.582 .006268 .009900 3.578 .008172 3.618 X 4.326 .2402 1.035 4.192 .7170 9.958 3.330 .002126 .003842 3.330 .001140 3.306 3.428 .0006358 .002084 3.428 .001011 3.426 3.294 .002242 .01482 3.292 .02564 3.276 3.206 .002006 .02060 3.224 .04842 3.148

MOMENT (dyne-cm X 10¹⁴)

TRIAL NAME	E M ₁₁	M12_	M13	M ₂₂	M ₂₃	M33	Miso
115BIC1N00	9.552	.012206	.06058	9.564	.007174	9.428	9.514
115BIC1N1	9.620	.007530	.05728	9.634	.015060	9.500	9.584
115BIC1N10	11.480	.074400	.09686	11.450	.074560	11.720	11.550
366BIC1X	23.300	.865000	4.50000	21.920	2.202000	36.740	27.240
GAMMAN1	9.592	.037040	.06796	9.602	.018420	9.432	9.542
Alphan1	10.120	.011040	.03306	10.130	.009996	10.070	10.110
OMEGAN1	8.984	.016290	.12860	8.954	.255400	8.896	8.948
C3N1	8.841	.032560	.24120	8.928	.932400	8.478	8,750



Figure 4.3. Synthetic inversion 115BIC1N00. (a)moment rate (b)moment (c)amplitude spectra. Refer to Figure 4.1 for labels. LPL of $M'_{11} = 1.04 \times 10^{15}$ dyne-cm.

the synthetic seismograms. The results are shown in Figure 4.4. A comparison of Figure 4.4 with 4.3 shows that the inversion was not greatly affected by the addition of this noise. The peak time domain amplitude of the M'_{ISO} element is 3.334×10^{16} dyne-cm/s. This peak value is 4.3% smaller than the input source peak. The moment rate tensor exhibits spherical symmetry; M'₁₁ and M'₂₂ are within 1% of M'₃₃ and the isotropic amplitude is 833 times larger than the deviatoric amplitude when the moment rate tensor is separated into its respective components.

The dashed curves in Figure 4.4c are the variances of the moment components as a function of frequency computed from the level of the white noise added to the synthetic seismograms (Stump, 1979). The standard deviation is 200 times smaller than the modulus of M'_{11} at 8 Hz and at least 5 times smaller between 1.5 and 50 Hz. LPL measured from M'_{11} is 1.0 X 10¹⁵ dyne-cm. Compare this to the input LPL of 1.119 X 10¹⁵ dyne-cm.

In the third noise test, 115BIC1N10, a similar trial inversion was completed with a noise level equal to 10% of the peak vertical amplitude at 27.0 m. As shown in Figure 4.5, the source was successfully modeled with the exception of long-period and short-period noise in the inverted source time function. The peak time domain amplitude of the M'_{ISO} element is 3.592×10^{16} dyne-cm/s. This value represents a 3% increase over the input value.

Again the moment rate tensor exhibits spherical symmetry. The peaks of M'_{11} and M'_{22} are within 1% of M'_{33} . The isotropic moment rate is 336 times larger than the deviatoric moment rate when separated into its respective components.

The variance curves in Figure 4.5c suggest the frequency band of the interpretable source function is more limited than the case of 1 % noise. The calculated M'_{11} modulus is 20 times larger than the variance at 8 Hz and is at least 5 times larger only between 4 and 15 Hz. However, as demonstrated in Section 3.B.1 one of the salient characteristics of the source is long-period level of the isotropic source function. Even with this limited frequency band, one would still be able to quantify the source function in terms of LPL by projecting the LPL between 4-15 Hz to the vertical axis. The LPL of M'_{11} in Figure 4.5c i: 1.1 X 10¹⁵ dyne-cm/s.

Table 9 lists peak time domain moment estimates of the six moment rate and the six moment components. The conclusion drawn from the noise tests is that although noise as little as 1 % limits the frequency band of the interpretable source function to 1.5 - 50 Hz, the LPL of the inverted source function can still be quantified. Even for the case of 10 % noise this characteristic of the source is stable. The addition of noise does decrease the spherical symmetry of the inversions slightly by increasing the deviatoric relative to the isotropic component. With 0%



Figure 4.5. Synthetic inversion 115BIC1N10. White noise equal to 10% of the peak velocity at 27 meters was added to the synthetics before inverting for (a)moment rate (b)moment (c)amplitude spectra. Refer to Figure 4.1 for labels.

Again the moment rate tensor exhibits spherical symmetry. The peaks of M'_{11} and M'_{22} are within 1% of M'_{33} . The isotropic moment rate is 336 times larger than the deviatoric moment rate when separated into its respective components.

The variance curves in Figure 4.5c suggest the frequency band of the interpretable source function is more limited than the case of 1 % noise. The calculated M'_{11} modulus is 26 times larger than the variance at 8 Hz and is at least 5 times larger only between 4 and 15 Hz. However, as demonstrated in Section 3.B.1 one of the salient characteristics of the source is long-period level of the isotropic source function. Even with this limited frequency band, one would still be able to quantify the source function in terms of LPL by projecting the LPL between 4-15 Hz to the vertical axis. The LPL of M'_{11} in Figure 4.5c is 1.1 X 10¹⁵ dyne-cm/s.

Table 9 lists peak time domain moment estimates of the six moment rate and the six moment components. The conclusion drawn from the noise tests is that although noise as little as 1 % limits the frequency band of the interpretable source function to 1.5 - 50 Hz, the LFL of the inverted source function can still be quantified. Even for the case of 10 % noise this characteristic of the source is stable. The addition of noise does decrease the spherical symmetry of the inversions slightly by increasing the deviatoric relative to the isotropic component. With 65

added noise, the ratio was 615. The ratio decreases to 336 for 10 % noise.

As reported in Chapter 2, the noise level of the observational data is below 1% so that successful source inversions using the CART data set are possible. Through synthetic testing the sensitivity of the inversion method to noise in the input seismograms was demonstrated. However, these tests were completed only for random white noise. If the actual noise is polarized or otherwise non random then the same reliability in the data may not be assumable.

3. Example of Source-Path Trade-offs

One synthetic trial was run as an example of source-path trade-offs. The same synthetic seismograms were input as for the 14 noise tests but this time the wrong Green's functions were input. The Green's functions used in this test are those of the fast half-space model, HS366 (table 6). Figure 4.2 illustrates the differences between the two sets of Green's functions at the 27 meter range.

Figure 4.6 compares H0115 synthetic velocity at 27 meters with the two different sets of explosion Green's functions. Radial synthetics and Green's functions are plotted on the left and vertical on the right of the figure. On the left in Figure 4.6a the radial HS115 Green's function is plotted below the radial HS115 synthetic. On the left on Figure 4.6b the radial HO366 Green's function is plotted below the radial HO366 Green's function is plotted



Figure 4.6 The HS115 radial and vertical velocity synthetics at the 27.0 meter range compared to the 27.0 meter Green's functions of the two HS models. Arrows point to the surface wave arrivals. vertical synthetic and Green's functions are made on the right of the figure. The surface waves in the Green's functions are indicated by the arrows. Figure 4.6b illustrates how Green's functions with too fast a shear velocity fail to match the synthetic velocity. The separation between the body and surface waves in the Green's functions does not match that of the velocity records.

The results of the 366BIC1X inversions are given in Figure 4.7. The source and path have traded off to compensate for the lack of late surface wave arrival in the Green's function as shown in Figure 4.6. The result is a delayed time pulse in the diagonal moment tensor that is largest on the M'₃₃ component. M'₃₃ is 56% larger than the M'₁₁ and the M'₂₂ components.

The moment rate tensor is separated into its isotropic and deviatoric components below.

4.13 $M_{ISO} = 6.16 \times 10^{16} \begin{bmatrix} 1.0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1.0 & 0 \\ 1.0 \end{bmatrix} dyne-cm/s$

4.14
$$D_{ij} = 1.8 \times 10^{16} \begin{bmatrix} -1.0 & .13 & .56 \\ & -1.1 & .39 \\ & & 2.1 \end{bmatrix}$$
 dyne-cm/s

The moment tensor is no longer spherically symmetric; The isotropic amplitude is only 3.42 times larger than the deviatoric moment rate amplitude. Recall that this ratio was 833 when the correct Green's functions were used in inversion



TIME (s)



Figure 4.7. Synthetic inversion 366BIC1X. Same synthetic velocities went into the inversion but the HS366 Green's functions were substituted for the HS115 Green's functions. (a)moment rate (b)moment (c)amplitude spectra. Refer to Figure 4.1 for labels.

HS115BIC1N1. The deviatoric elements have increased in strength relative to the isotropic element.

The frequency spectra of M'_{11} and M'_{12} shown in Figure 4.7c are different from the 115BICIN1 spectra in several ways. The moment estimate is 5 times larger than the variance between 2 - 20 Hz whereas it was 5 times larger than the variance between 1.5 - 50 Hz for the 115BICIN1 inversion. The M'_{11} LPL is 4 X 10¹⁵ dyne-cm. This is 4 times larger than the LPL of the input source shown in Figure 4.1.

This example illustrates the source-path trade-offs. In an attempt to match the observations, even when the wrong Green's functions are specified, the inversion results in errors in the source. In this case source errors showed up as an increase on the M'_{33} components and an increase in LPL by a factor of 4.

4 Station Distribution Tests

Four station distribution trials were completed to show the sensitivity of inversions to limitations in the ranges, azimuths and number of components in the data set. The following four tests were run with a 1% white noise level in the synthetics velocities. GAMMAN1 includes only the 13.5 and 27.0 meter ranges (5 stations). ALPHAN1 was limited to only the 13.5 meter ranges (3 stations). OMEGAN1 was limited to two stations; one at 13.5 and one at 27.0 meters. Trial C3N10 replicates the linear CART3 configuration. For

comparison to trial inversion 115BIC1N1, only stations at 13.5, 27.0 and 40.6 m were included.

The results are shown in table 9 in the form of the time domain peak amplitudes of the moment rate and moment estimates. GAMMAN1 moments are approximately equal to 115BIC1N1 moments in time domain amplitude and symmetry. ALPHAN1 moments are larger than 115BIC1N1 by 3%. OMEGAN1, with only 2 stations has diagonal moment rate components within 1% of each other. In terms of time domain amplitudes and effect on symmetry, the trial inversions shown above do not show sensitivities to station distribution.

5. Condition Numbers

Condition numbers are a measure of how sensitive the inversion procedure is in the presence of noise in the data. Inversions with good station distribution are less sensitive to noise. Condition numbers are obtained by taking the ratio of the largest to the smallest eigenvalue as discussed in Section 4.B. Condition number as a function of frequency for the above 5 trial inversions plus the 115BIC1N00 inversion are plotted in Figure 4.8. 115BIC1N10 and 115BIC1N1 have the sene condition numbers as 115BIC1N00. This means that for the CART 1 station distribution (denoted C1 in the synthetic trial names), the inversion is just as sensitive to 1% noise as it is 10% noise.

The condition numbers of inversions 115BIC1N00, C3N1, GAMMAN1 and ALPHA are similar. These trials have minima



Figure 4.8. Condition numbers versus frequency for 6 synthetic inversions.

between 2 - 8 Hz where the average condition number is 50. Between 1.5 and 50 Hz the condition numbers are below 300. ALPHAN1 has a peak of 5200 at 25 Hz corresponding to a spectral hole in the Green's functions. The spectral hole results when Green's functions are all calculated for the same distance from the source. OMEGAN1 condition numbers are larger because only two stations are used. The average condition number of OMEGAN1 is 1500. In general the trial inversions with the fewest stations have the largest condition numbers.

The condition numbers associated with inversion 366BIC1X have an average value of 10, which is 10 times smaller than all other tests. This result suggests that the velocity of the test medium could affect the ability to resolve source characteristics such as size of source excitation. This observation can be explained by the peak time domain amplitudes of the Green's functions. Two sets of Green's functions calculated at the 27 meter range are plotted in Figure 4.2 with the peak amplitudes at the right of each trace. For the fast half-space model, the amplitudes of the 10 Green's functions are of the same order of magnitude. In contrast the Green's functions corresponding to the slow half-space model have amplitudes that are 400 times larger on the transverse component of the CLVD source than the radial and vertical components of the EXPL source.

This imbalance in amplitudes is related to Poisson's ratio. The HS366 model has a Poisson's ratio of .29 and the

HS115 model has a Poisson's ratio of .45. Based on information in table 6, the Poisson's ratio of .45 is believed to be more correct for the McCormick Ranch Site.

6. Time Domain Fits

Equation 4.9 was used to obtain a calculated velocity from the input Green's functions and the inverted source. The correlation coefficients measuring the degree of fit between the input (synthetic) velocity and the calculated velocity are given in table 10 for all synthetic trials. Inversion 115BIC1N00 has a correlation coefficient above .9 for all radial (R) and vertical (Z) components and a value of 0 for all transverse (T) components. As the noise increases, the R and Z correlation coefficients reduce slightly. The T correlation coefficients increase to .18 - .69.

As a visual example, the fit for 115BIC1N10 is shown in Figure 4.9. Input (synthetic) velocity is plotted above calculated velocity for each component at the 3 different ranges. The fits are almost perfect for the R and Z components. The pure noise in T is not modeled very well which is a good result.

Inversion 366BIC1X with the Green's functions that were too fast shows smaller correlation coefficients in table 10. The fits are correspondingly degraded as shown in figure 4.10. The fits of the transverse components are most noticeable because the inversion erroneously put signal on the transverse velocities. This result showed up in the

TABLE 10

CORRELATION COEFFICIENTS FOR SYNTHETIC SOURCE INVERSIONS

RANGE (m)	13.5	13.5	13.5	27.0	27.0	40.6	40.6			
AZIMUTH	90	270	0	180	35	215	325			
TRIAL NAME										
115BIC1N00	.9973	.9950	.9952	.9991	.9997	.9877	.9946	(R)		
	.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000	(T)		
	.9454	.9471	.9472	.9864	.9864	.9990	.9999	(Z)		
115BIC1N1	.9973	.9949	.9952	.9988	.9994	.9866	.9940	(R)		
	.1891	.4288	.3716	.4641	.5165	.6415	.6956	(T)		
	.9457	.9466	.9473	.9860	.9866	.9998	.9997	(2)		
115BIC1N10	.9929	.9896	.9891	.9778	.9811	.9271	.9326	(R)		
	.3446	.2196	.3758	.4613	.2834	.6767	.7513	(T)		
	.9397	.9443	.9391	.9750	.9755	.9828	,9819	(2)		
366BIC1X	.9030	.8193	.9260	.5561	.5124	.4579	.4107	(R)		
	.1250	0504	.0108	.0685	.1726	.1349	.0393	(T)		
	.8373	.7334	.0558	.2327	.1552	.8447	.8509	(2)		
GAMMAN1	.9991	.9993	.9960	.9991	.9980			(R)		
	.0950	1428	.0703	.3418	.9374			(T)		
	.9910	.9905	.9675	.9555	.9891			(2)		
ALPHAN1	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000					(F.)		
	.6993	.7341	.5992					(T)		
	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000					(2)		
OMEGAN1	1.0000			1.0000				(Fc)		
	.9993			1.0000				(T)		
	1.0000			1.0000				(Z)		
C3N1	1.0000			.9946		.9856		(R)		
	.8615			.5753		.9122		(T)		
	.9992			.9782		.9994		(2)		



TIME (s)

Figure 4.9. Synthetic inversion 115BIC1N10. Comparisons are made at three ranges for radial (R), transverse (T) and vertical (Z) components. In each pair, the top trace is the input velocity record and the bottom trace is the calculated velocity record. .64 seconds of data are plotted.



TIME (s)

Figure 4.10. Synthetic inversion 366BIC1X. Comparisons are made at three ranges for radial (R), transverse (T) and vertical (Z) components. In each pair, the top trace is the input velocity record and the bottom trace is the calculated velocity record. .64 seconds of data are plotted.



TIME (s)

Figure 4.11. Synthetic inversion OMEGAN1. Comparisons are made at only the two ranges for radial for which data was input: 13.5 and 27 meters. Radial (R), transverse (T) and vertical (Z) components. In each pair, the top trace is the input velocity record and the bottom trace is the calculated velocity record. .64 seconds of data are plotted.

larger off-diagonal components in the moment tensors relative to the noise trails.

The correlation coefficients for the station distribution tests are similar to those of the noise tests. The difference here is that with fewer stations, the noise in the transverse is modeled because there are not enough stations to distinguish noise from signal. For example, OMEGAN1 has almost perfect correlation coefficients on all six components. Figure 4.11 shows how the noise on the transverse components was modeled.

D. Source Inversions with Observational Data

Table 11 gives the peak time domain amplitudes of the source inversions with the CAET1 observational velocity records. Similar analyses to the ones completed for the synthetic trials will describe these inversions. Here the input is actual observed velocity waveforms. In Section 4.D.1 the results of inversions utilizing half-space Green's functions are given. Section 4.D.2 describes the inversion utilizing layered half-space Green's functions. Condition numbers are discussed in Section 4.D.3 and correlation coefficients and fits are discussed in Section 4.D.4.

1. Halfspace Inversions

This section describes the results of inversions using the CARIL observational velocity seismograms and half space Green's functions. Two half space inversions were run. One

TABLE 11

PEAK TIME DOMAIN AMPLITUDES FROM CART OBSERVATIONAL SOURCE INVERSIONS

MOMENT RATE (dyne-cm/s X 10¹⁶)

TRIAL	NAME	M'11	M'12	M'13	M'22	M'23	M'33	M'ISC
11501	5	.086	.006168	.03768	5.062	.0433	4.938	5.030
366C1	13	.64	,45160	1.869	13.60	.7028	35.56	20.90
ClF	3	.302	.2254	.7868	3.492	.4632	5.912	4,155
Ç1H	1	.659	.4189	1.208	2.210	.7223	3.154	1.705
CIN	2	.515	.3103	.5248	2.596	.4600	3.427	2.769
C10		.9724	.3260	.0789	1.134	.0412	.7122	.8019
CSN	8	.665	.1403	.4585	8.340	4.039	18.03	11.64
сзи	3	.250	.4354	2.671	7.227	.5965	7.305	4.871

MOMENT (dyne-cm X 1014)

TELAL	NAME	M11	M12	M13	M ₂₂	M ₂₃	M33	MISO
11501	11	. 98	.04672	.5132	11.81	.2492	14.49	12.76
36601	121	. б	.8632	23.68	110.9	4.184	310.4	180.9
CIF	9	.787	1.587	2.935	10.16	1.160	16.93	12.23
С1Н	7	.226	1.763	1.032	5.799	1.449	8.253	6.611
C1N	9	.337	4.796	3.063	9.380	3.130	11.68	16.13
C10	5	. 551	4.554	.4050	4,769	.3540	3.078	3.463
C211	33	.55	2.562	.0579	32.36	1.933	71,35	45.75
C3N	7	.207	2.014	6.635	13.71	3.876	17.08	10.91

with the slow HS Green's functions, HS115, and the other with the fast HS Green's functions, HS366. The HS115 Green's functions were used for the majority of the synthetic data inversions in the previous section. When comparing the real data inversions of this section with the synthetic data inversions of the previous section note there is a difference in the number of points calculated in the frequency domain. The observational data inversions have 256 time points (1.28 seconds) and 128 frequency points. The synthetic data inversion have 128 time points (.64 seconds) and 64 points in the frequency spectra.

The results of the HS115 inversion are shown in Figure 4.12. The moment rate tensor and its integral, the moment tensor are shown in 4.12a and 4.12b with the modulus of the M'_{11} and M'_{12} elements shown in 4.12c. Refer to Figure 4.1 for labels of the moment tensor elements. 1.28 seconds of data are plotted in the moment rate and moment time series.

The dashed curves in 4.12 are the variances as discussed in Section 4.C.2. The standard deviation is 5 times lower than the moment rate estimate between 4 and 40 Hz. A similar measurement from the synthetic inversion with 1 % noise limited the frequency band of interpretable data to 1.5 - 50 Hz. Based on these variance estimates there are less high frequencies available for interpretation than predicted by the synthetic models.

The LPL of the M'₁₁ component in Figure 4.12c is 1.4 X 10^{15} dyne-cm compared to 1.0 X 10^{15} dyne-cm for synthetic



Figure 4.12. Observational inversion 115C1 using CART 1 input velocity and HS115 Green's functions (a)moment rate (b)moment (c)amplitude spectra. Refer to Figure 4.1 for labels.

inversion 115BIC1N1. The similarity of these two inversions confirms the accuracy of the peaks predicted by the forward velocity models in Chapter 3. With similar observations and same Green's functions, the moment is similar. Time domain comparisons from table 11 show spherical symmetry in the source when the HS115 Green's functions are used. The M'11 and M'22 peaks are within 3% of each other and the off diagonal components have amplitudes of less than 1% of the isotropic amplitude. Similarly the synthetic inversion with HS115 Green's functions resulted in off diagonal components with peaks of only .1% of the isotropic component.

The Results of the HS366 inversion are shown in figure 4.13. The moment rate estimates in figure 4.13c are 5 times larger than the variance between 4 and 40 Hz. The LPL of the M'_{11} component in Figure 4.13c is difficult to pick because it is not flat between 4 and 40 Hz. The peak at 7 Hz has a LPL of 7.6 X 10¹⁵ dyne-cm. This difference in LPL between this inversion and the HS115 inversion is due to velocity differences between the two half-space Green's functions. The faster velocity in model HS115 results in smaller peak amplitudes in the Green's functions (see Figure 4.2). The inversions attempt to make up for the smaller amplitude by putting more energy into the source.

The difference in Poisson's ration between the two models results in a difference in overshoot in the M'₁₁ spectra. Model HS115 with a high Poisson's ratio of .45 results in an increase in source strength between 4.5 and 40



Figure 4.13. Observational inversion 366C1 using CART 1 input velocity and HS366 Green's functions (a)moment rate (b)moment (c)amplitude spectra. Refer to Figure 4.1 for labels.
Hz. Model HS366 with a lower Poisson's ratio of .29 results in a decrease in source strength between 4 and 40 Hz. This phenomenon was predicted by the Mueller-Murphy source models in Figure 3.2d.

The previous two inversions emphasize the influence that This is test medium velocities have on inversion results. even more clearly seen in the comparison of the time domain peaks in table 11. M_{ISO(366)} is 4 times larger than M_{ISO(115)}. Comparing the M'11, M'22 and M'33 components of the HS366 inversion note that they are not equalized as they were for HS115 inversi h. For the HS366 inversion the M'33 component is three times larger than the M'_{11} and M'_{22} components. The symmetry of the moment tensors has been changed by the Green's functions. In particular the symmetry has been changed by changing the velocity of the test medium. It is worth noting that similar results were obtained in the synthetic inversion, HS366BIC1X, in which Green's functions with too fast a shear velocity were used.

The HS366 Green's functions also affect the relative strength of the deviatoric moment rate relative to the isotropic moment. While the isotropic moment rate is 88 times greater than the deviatoric for HS115, the isotropic is only 3 times greater than the deviatoric for HS366. In summary the inversion with the HS366 Green's functions results in less spherical symmetry, and increase in M'33 relative to M'11 and M'22 and an increase in LPL by a factor of 5.4.

2. Layered Halfspace Inversions

This section describes the results of CART 1 source inversions. Green's functions corresponding to LHS models F, H, N and O listed in table 7 are the path models. Peak moment rates are shown in table 11.

The first comparison is between inversion C1F and C1H. As shown in table 7, models F and H are the same model with the exception of the shear velocity in the most shallow layer. Model F has a β_1 of 120 m/s and model H has a β_1 of 80 m/s. The Green's functions for both models were calculated by specifying a source depth of 3 meters- just below the interface between layer one and layer two. Comparison of these two inversions allows an isolation of the effect that overburden shear velocity has on the moments. Faster shear velocity results in smaller time domain peaks. This was illustrated by the Green's functions in Figure 4.2. When the time domain peak is smaller, the inversion compensates by increasing the source peak. In table 11 the inversion using faster shear velocity (F) has larger time domain amplitude than the inversion using the slower shear velocity (H). $M_{ISO(F)} = 4.155 \times 10^{16} \text{ dyne-cm/s}$ and $M_{ISO(H)} = 1.705 \times 10^{-16}$ dyne-cm/s. Here the difference in shear velocity is 40 m/s and the isotropic components differ by a factor of 2.5.

Another difference between the two inversions can be observed in the separation of the deviatoric and isotropic components.

$$D_{ij(F)} = 0.93 \times 10^{15} \begin{bmatrix} -1.0 & -.24 & -.84 \\ .80 & .46 \\ -1.8 \end{bmatrix} dyne-cm/s$$
$$D_{ij(H)} = 0.68 \times 10^{15} \begin{bmatrix} -1.0 & -.64 & -1.8 \\ .20 & -1.1 \\ -1.2 \end{bmatrix} dyne-cm/s$$

While the isotropic moment rate of inversion C1F is 3 times larger than that of C1H, the deviatoric moment rate is only 1.4 times larger. The relative strength of the deviatoric source components is larger when model H is used than when model F is used to account for the path. Decreasing the shear velocity in the upper layer of model H is responsible for this difference.

The source time functions and amplitude spectra of inversion CIF and CIH are shown in Figure 4.14 and Figure 4.15. The M'₁₁ estimates in CIF are 5 times larger than the variance between 4 and 40 Hz. Similarly, the M'₁₁ estimates in CIH are 5 times larger than the variance between 4 and 40 Hz. An estimate of the LPL of CIF is 3.0 X 10^{15} dyne-cm compared to 1.2 X 10^{15} dyne-cm for CIH. These values are rather subjective because the source spectra are not flat between 4 - 40 Hz. These were taken from the spectral peaks.

Inversions C1N and C1O address the problem of source coupling differences. This is possible because the velocity and attenuation parameters in models N and O are identical. The only difference in computation of the Green's functions is the placement of the source. Model N places the source at



Figure 4.14. Observational inversion C1F using CART 1 input velocity and LHS F Green's functions (a)moment rate (b)moment (c)amplitude spectra. Refer to Figure 4.1 for labels.



Figure 4.15. Observational inversion ClH using CART 1 input velocity and LHS H Green's functions (a)moment rate (b)moment (c)amplitude spectra. Refer to Figure 4.1 for labels.

3 meters- just below the first interface. The velocities at source depth are 670 m/s and 230 m/s for P and S velocities respectively with Poisson's ratio equal to .43. Model O places the source at 3 meters- this time just above the interface. The velocities at source depth are 270 m/s and 120 m/s with a Poisson's ratio of .38.

The isotropic moment rate peak for inversion ClN is 2.769×10^{16} dyne-cm/s and for ClO it is $.8019 \ 10^{16}$ dyne-cm/s. There is over a factor of 3 decrease in isotropic moment when the velocity at source depth is decreased. The deviatoric components of ClN are larger than those of ClO relative to their isotropic components. Increasing Pojsson's ratio at shot depth increases the contribution of deviatoric relative to isotropic source components.

Figures 4.16 and 4.17 compare the source time functions and spectra for the C1N and C1O inversions. LPL measured from the M'₁₁ spectrum is 2 X 10^{15} dyne-cm with the N path model and .6 X 10^{15} dyne-cm for model O. Model N, with the faster velocity at source depth results in LPL of moment that is 3.3 times greater than that of model O. The above two comparisons show how changes in the Green's functions relate to large differences in the resulting moment tensor estimates.

3. Condition Numbers

Condition number as a function of frequency for 4 of the observational inversions are plotted in Figure 4.18. The





Figure 4.16. Observational inversion C1N using CART 1 input velocity and LHS N Green's functions (a)moment rate (b)moment (c)amplitude spectra. Refer to Figure 4.1 for labels.



Figure 4.17. Observational inversion C10 using CART 1 input velocity and LHS O Green's functions (a)moment rate (b)moment (c)amplitude spectra. Refer to Figure 4.1 for labels.



Figure 4.18. Condition numbers versus frequency for 4 observational inversions..

condition numbers for inversions C1F, C1H, C1N, C1O and all have average values of 10. Only C1N is plotted in Figure 4.18. All but 115C1 are have similar shape and values of around 10 beyond 10 Hz.

CIALPHA has a peak of 300 at 40 Hz corresponding to a spectral hole in the Green's functions. A similar peak occurred in the synthetic inversion, ALPHAN1, when the same Green's functions were used and the input velocities were limited to one range.

The condition numbers associated with inversion 115C1 are larger than all others with the exception of the peak in CIALPHA. As was discussed in Section 4.C.5, the inversions with the slowest shear velocities produce the largest condition numbers.

4. Time Domain Fits

Correlation coefficients for the 9 CART 1 observational data inversions are listed in table 12. The input seismograms are compared to the calculated seismograms in Figures 4.19 - 4.20. Comparisons are made at the three ranges representative of the CART 1 data set: 13.5, 27.0 and 40.6 meters. In each pair, the top trace is the input velocity record and the bottom trace is the velocity record calculated from the input Green's functions and the inverted moment rate tensor.

Figure 4.19 shows the time domain fits to the CART 1 data using the slow path model, HS115. Figure 4.20 shows the

CORRELATION COEFFICIENTS FOR CART I OBSERVATIONAL SOURCE INVERSIONS

RANGE (m)	13.5	13.5	13.5	27.0	27.0	40.6	40.6					
AZIMUTH	90	270	0	180	35	215	325					
TRIAL NAME												
115C1	.8399	.8742	.9365	.7130	.6064	.6889	.7355	(R)				
	.1720	.3665	.2727	0388	.4888	.5647	.2253	(T)				
	.2189	.7611	.6304	.2027	.0591	.6573	.7717	(Z)				
366C1	.9112	.9118	.7123	.8855	.7330	.9104	.8410	(R)				
	.4866	1501	.5584	0897	2005	.5791	.4078	(T)				
	.6928	.5851	.6205	.8615	.7260	.8113	.7602	(Z)				
ClF	.9550	.9657	.8729	.9408	.7780	.8974	.9162	(R)				
	.3111	.4154	.6921	.2074	.2636	.6850	.1269	(T)				
	.5852	.6993	.6688	.6827	.6066	.6636	.4747	(Z)				
СІН	.9263	.9489	.8740	.8089	.8599	.6700	.6427	(R.)				
	.4333	1449	.5746	.2112	.0696	.2491	.1180	(T)				
	.3729	.5396	.4495	.4961	.1807	.1745	.1622	(2)				
CIN	.9584	.9501	.7800	.6364	.5430	.8132	.8418	(R)				
	.5016	.6531	- .1258	.0644	.7026	1943	0248	(T)				
	.4801	.5897	.5689	.0639	0403	.4550	.4195	(2)				
C10	.9715	.9726	.7788	.8014	.7574	.6196	.6510	(R)				
	.5577	.6457	.0817	.3276	.6716	0894	.1748	(T)				
	.4294	.5201	.4345	0109	1275	.2404	.3998	(2)				
CIGAMMA	.9581	.9647	.6508	.8525	.7379			(R)				
	.5849	.6773	1847	.1932	.7040			(T)				
	.4449	.5629	.4818	.1983	.2239			(Z)				
CIALPHA	.9920	.9924	.9967					(R)				
	.8630	.9396	.7981					(T)				
	.9684	.9801	.9567					(Z)				
CIOMEGA	1.0000	1.0000						(K)				
	1 .0000	1.0000						(1)				
	1.0000	1.0000						(2)				



TIME (s)

Figure 4.19. Observational inversion 115C1. Comparisons are made at three ranges for radial (R), transverse (T) and vertical components. In each pair, the top trace in the input velocity record and the bottom trace is the calculated velocity record.



TIME (s)

Figure 4.20. Observational inversion 366C1. Comparisons are made at three ranges for radial (R), transverse (T) and vertical components. In each pair, the top trace in the input velocity record and the bottom trace is the calculated velocity record.



TIME (s)

Figure 4.21. Observational inversion CDN. Comparisons are made at three ranges for redual (R. transverse (T) and vertical components. In each pair, the top trace in the input velocity record and the bottom trace is the calculated velocity record.

fits when the fast HS model, HS366 is used. The peak amplitudes of the input seismograms are matched better by the HS366 inversion than the HS115 inversions. The HS366 inversion also does a better job of matching the surface waves.

As a representative of the LHS fits, inversion ClN velocities are plotted in Figure 4.21. At 13.5 meters the radial peak is matched but the vertical peak is underestimated. At 27.0 and 40.6 meters the radial peaks are underestimated while the vertical peaks are better matched.

CHAPTER 5

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

The CART/ART tests have been useful in demonstrating a method of experimental seismology to constrain source characteristics for small explosions. One advantage to this approach is that physical parameters, such as velocities of the source medium, can be measured in the field to enhance modeling procedures. Trade-offs in the source and path effects are unavoidable even on the small scale. This study has attempted to quantify these trade-offs as they relate to uncertainties in the McCormick Ranch site model. Conclusions from this study fall into three main categories: increased knowledge of the path effects, increased knowledge of the source physics and recommendations for future tests.

A. McCormick Ranch Geological Model

Low velocities, low Q-values, and high Poisson's ratio of the McCormick Ranch test site are factors that contribute to some unique problems in the source models. The best model for the site was given in Table 3. P-velocities are believed to be reliable as are depths to interfaces. Upper layer Q values are very low (5-10).

The hardest parameter to define is shear velocity. Because there was in ufficient data to resolve the shear

velocities, a range of shear values was carried into Chapter 3 on forward modeling and Chapter 4 on inverse modeling. Uncertainty in shear velocity strongly affects the relative amplitudes of the path functions and thus influences the symmetry and strength of the source functions. As an example, inversions C1F and C1H illustrate the importance of overburden shear velocity. Decreasing the top layer shear velocity from 80 to 120 m/s had the effect of decreasing the source strength from 3 X 10¹⁵ dyne-cm to 1.2 X 10¹⁵ dyne-cm.

B. Source Physics

An iterative process of refining the proportionality constants in the 1971 Mueller-Murphy forward models produced a range of possible CART source interpretaions. These constants can be used as a starting point for future studies in which dry alluvium is the source medium.

The best forward model (BASIC) was obtained by using the following constants: a compaction factor $(k_1 \text{ in equation} 3.7)$ of 0.4, an elastic radius factor $(k_2 \text{ in equation } 3.8)$ of 417; a cavity radius factor $(k_3$, Equation 2.9) of 28.5 and decay constant factor $(k_4$, Equation 3.10) of 1.5. Errors in cavity radius were shown to be of particular importance because of the relation between Cavity radius and the long-period-level of the moment rate spectrum which is interpreted directly as source strength.

Errors in the Green's function can lead to changes in the symmetry of the source. The inverted source functions

word piedominantly spherical when the slow HS Green's functions were used. When fast HS Green's functions were used, the deviatoric source components increased in size relative to the isotropic source. In particular synthetic tests with the wrong Green's functions resulted in diagonal components of the moment tensor with the M₃₃ increased in amplitude by a factor of almost 3. There was also a factor of 4 error in source strength.

This study serves as an investigation into methods of determining yield scaled source models for small sources. Although absolute measurements of source strength are dependent on accurate velocity models, a site-specific scaling model is obtainable using the experimental method outlined in this study. The next step would be to repeat the study in the same source medium at similar scaled ranges but with incrementally larger yields. In this way a yieldscaling would be developed for alluvium. The same series of tests would then be conducted in other rock types.

E. Recommendations

Site parameterization should be done before explosion tests. Because of their importance in determining the longperiod-level of the isotropic source, it is essential to constrain velocities of the source medium. In addition, preliminary site characterization could help avoid placing the source near an interface.

Forward modeling can be done after the site is characterized and before the explosions.

When alluvium is the source medium, Poisson's ratio can be high. The result is that the Green's functions have very large amplitudes with respect to the shear components. The method may not be so sensitive to shear velocities errors when a medium with lower Poisson's ratio is used.

Slightly larger sources should be used so the burial depth for containment is deeper. This should reduce the problems of the near-surface inhomogeneities.

CART I design is recommended because it has the best range coverage and azimuthal coverage. Designs can be tested through inversion of synthetic data. The condition numbers indicate whether the design is particularly sensitive to noise in the data.

To compare contained and uncontained shots, stations should be placed in the same relative locations so the same Green's functions can be used for the two different sets of inversions. This will improve bias of comparisons. Even if the Green's functions are not known with more certainty at least the error will be systematic allowing direct comparison of source functions.

Finally, the development of two additional field techniques would be useful: an improved method of obtaining shear velocities and empirical measurements of the final cavity radius. Both of these measurements could help determine the source strength in an absolute sense.

APPENDIX A

DATA CORRECTIONS

Data corrections refer to those steps taken to convert the observed accelerograms to velocity and displacement records. The processing steps (PS) are listed, discussed and illustrated below. In order to maintain continuity in illustrating the processing steps, some figures are presented that are not referred to in the text.

Deglitch
Rescale
Integrate to velocity
Remove slopes
Hi-pass filter
Integrate to displacement
Window

PS 1.0 Deglitch. Instrument glitches were removed using a maximum threshold amplitude with all values in the series above the maximum replaced by an arithmetic mean of surrounding data points. Six channels out of sixty were deglitched.

PS 2.0 Rescale. Each point in the acceleration time series was multiplied by a scale factor to convert digital counts to cm/s^2 . The peak accelerations for each channel of data are listed in Appendix C.

PS 3.0 Integrate. Observed accelerations were integrated in the time domain using the trapezoid rule. Integration had the effect of boosting the long-period end of the spectrum. Because slopes and long-period noise made the signal look noncausal, corrections were necessary to return the records to realistic velocity records. Long-period noise estimates are not available at the time of this writing.

PS 3.1 Remove slopes. Slopes were subtracted using cursors on a graphics terminal with an interactive plotting routing. Slope removal was the most time consuming of the processing step, because several attempts were made on each channel of data before the proficiency was acquired to do this step in a consistent manner.

The observed slopes are grouped into the six different types listed in table 13. Also given in the table are the percentages of occurrence of each type. Discussion of each type follows.

Type 1 is just a constant slope in velocity. An example is given in Figure A.1b (file 2D3). A constant DC offset in acceleration causes this type of slope. To illustrate this point the bC offset (1.2 cm/s²) in acceleration was removed before integration. The resulting uncorrected velocity (Figure A.1e) did not exhibit the ramp as in Figure A.1b. The spectra in Figures A.1b, 1c and 1e show great similarity between 3 and 76 Hz. Below 3 Hz the effect of the ramp is been as a rise in long-period energy.

Although removing a DC term in acceleration or removing a ramp in velocity are equivalent processing steps, several tests such as the one described above lead to the conclusion that it is preferable to remove the slope after integration. The reasoning behind the preference is that in calculating the DC offset, only the first 30 points are used whereas slope removal in velocity uses more points for the average.

Type 2 was the most commonly observed slope. An example is given in Figure A.2 (file 2A3). The step was identified and located by drawing one line through the points before the onset of the signal one line through the points after the signal han the sed. Location of the step is coincident with the first peak of the signal in each case. The slopes before and after the step are equal for half of the channels with this slope type suggesting that the step is superimposed on the type 1 slope. In other words, if the DC offset were removed before integration, type 2 would not have a slope but rather a step in uncorrected velocity. Note that the step occurs at the time for signal arrival (types 2 and 5) in 16 of 20 channels on the radial component (see table 13).

One explanation for the step is that it is related to a sampling problem. If the recording system failed to reproduce all the high frequency components of the signal, the error would be largest on the first cycle of the accelerogram for a dispersive wave. In other wirds, the area under the curve for the first two cycles is not balanced.

TABLE 13

TYPES OF OBSERVED SLOPES WITH PEPCENTAGES

		R	I.	Z	Total %
(1)	Constant	5	2	4	18.3
(2)	Step	7	3	14	40.0
(3)	Two Ramps	C	2	C	3.0
(4)	Three Pamps	2	1.0	U	20.0
(5)	Step and Ramp	5	2	2	15.0
(E)	Other	J	1	0	3.3

A test of this hypothesis was to reproduce a step in a file that did not exhibit a step in uncorrected velocity (see Figure A.1e). A 4-pole low-pass Butterworth filter with the corner at 50 Hz was applied to the DC-corrected acceleration data of file 2D3 (Figure A.1a). The file was then integrated to yield uncorrected velocity. The results were marginal in reproducing a step.

Continuing the test, a similar filter with corner at 30 Hz was applied to acceleration. In addition, a filter at 60 Hz with a 12-pole roll-off was applied to the DC-corrected acceleration. Steps in uncorrected velocity resulting from these filter tests are negligible compared with those observed for the type 2 slope.

The above tests failed to reproduce steps because the high frequencies were reduced throughout the signal time window. In order to explain the location of the step at the first arrival, the high frequency depletion should affect only the first cycle.

In a different test to replicate the steps, the amplitude of only the first positive peak was reduced. As illustrated in Figures A.3a and A.3b, the first peak was reduced from 1505 cm/s² to 1305 cm/s² (13.3%) by editing the acceleration file. As shown in Figure A.3c, this procedure has replicated the slope observed in Figure A.2b where the step is 5 \times of the maximum velocity. Comparison of spectra in Figures A.1b and A.3c shows similarity above 3 Hz.

Now, comparing Figures A.3d and lf, the slope-correction process is validated. Figure A.1t represents the original file which had no step in uncorrected velocity and in Figure A.3d an artificial step has been successfully removed. The same test was repeated with a 90 % reduction in peak amplitude (see Figure A.4). Again the correction process is validated comparing Figure A.4c with Figure A.1f. Note that the spectra in Figures A.1f, A.3d and A.4c are almost identical below 40 Hz.

The conclusion is that loss of energy above the antialias filter corner frequency (70 Hz) may have affected the representation of the signal but that due to dispersion, this effect is only important in the first cycle. While the slope correction procedure cannot restore high frequencies, it does improve the representation of the signal by increasing the amplitude of the first arrival by an appropriate amount.

Slope types 3 and 4 are similar to the type 1 ramp in uncorrected velocity with the addition of slope changes at various times throughout the signal. An example of slope type 3 is given in Figure A.5b (file 2G2). Note that the slopes in Figure A.3b could be redrawn with 3 instead of 2 slopes. That would have made file 2G2 an example of the type 4 slope with three ramps, one occurring at the arrival of the signal.

Type 3 and 4 slopes may be related to tilt of the accelerometer. If this is the case, the changes in slope should occur on both horizontal components at the same point.

in time. A comparison should be made with files 2G2 and 2G3 (Figures A.5b and A.5c) for verification. Otherwise, if the changes do not occur at the same time, then the tilt was with respect to only one axis. The lesson learned by comparing Figures A.5b (transverse component) and 5c (radial component) is that a better interpretation is made when all three components are corrected simultaneously.

Peak amplitudes in acceleration, velocity and displacement are given in Appendix C. Peak acceleration amplitude of the transverse component is an average of 25% of the radial. One explanation for the apparent slope changes on the transverse components is that tilt is more obvious due to smaller transverse amplitudes. The instrument tilt required to cause the change in slope in Figure A.5b is 0.06 mm. The calculation was made for an instrument box 18 inches (460 mm) in length. Tilts of this magnitude could be caused by shifting of the instrument box in the dry alluvium after the signal has passed.

Type 4 slope is similar to type 3 except that two changes in slope occur. The first change is coincident with signal arrival and the second change is after the signal has passed. Half of the transverse components required the removal of slope type 4.

Slope types 3 and 4 are difficult to remove consistently because of the placement of the change in slope. In attempts to repeat the corrections, it was noted that the placement of the change in slope affects the appearance of the long-period

noise in the slope-corrected velocity (Figure A.5d). However, the high-pass filter applied in the next processing step (PS 3.2) does a good job of removing the long-period oscillations before and during the signal (FigureA.5e). After repeating the entire processing sequence for a file such as 3A2 the corrected velocity records look the same even if the slope corrections were slightly different

Types 5 and 6 are combinations of types 1-4. Type 5 slope is a step followed by a ramp. Type 6 slopes are similar to the others but with an extra change in slope. In one case (file 1A2) the change in slope occurred before signal arrival. In another case (file 2B1) the uncorrected velocity was similar to type 5 except that the step at the signal arrival was very large and there was an extra slope change after passage of the signal. Both of these changels are excluded from analysis because of their unusual characteristics.

PS 3.2 High-pass filter. In the discussion of slope type 3, the long-period noise resulting from the integration and slope removal was pointed out. The best filter design was determined by finding the corner that would eliminate most of the long-period noise and retain the broadest frequency band possible. The optimal corner was found to be 3.5 Hz as illustrated in Figure A.1.

During early work with the data different 4-pole filters were designed for each file. Later, it was determined that the 4-pole filter had too steep a coll-stf and introduced

significant acausal arrivals. This effect is illustrated by comparing Figures A.6 (4-pole) with Figure A.2d (2-pole).

The final filter design is a 2-pole high-pass Butterworth filter with corner at 3.5 Hz. Every channel of data was passed through this same filter after slope removal. The non-zero phase characteristics of this filter are compensated in the inversions.

PS 4.0 Integrate to displacement. The corrected velocity records are integrated a second time to yield displacement. Figures A.7a and A.7b illustrate the problems with the long-period noise if the filter in PS 3.2 is not applied before the second integration. When the filter is applied before the second integration, no further corrections are necessary.

PS 5.0 Window. The corrected velocity records ar windowed from 600 points to 256 points with 25 points before the signal arrival and 231 points after the signal arrival.



Figure A.1a. Observed acceleration scaled to cm/s^2 . File 2D3 is the radial component observed at the 5 meter range. Peak amplitude is 1.56 g. PS2.0



Figure A.1b. Example of slope type 1, a constant slope in uncorrected velocity. Record obtained by integration of Figure A.1a. PD3.0



Figure A.1c. Slope subtracted from Figure A.1b. PS3.1







Figure A.le. Uncorrected velocity. Record obtained by removing a DC offset from Figure A.la before integrating. Compare to Figure A.lb. where the DC term was not removed before integration. Removing DC in acceleration is equivalent to removing a slope from velocity.



Figure A.1f. Corrected velocity. Compare to Figure A.1d. Figures A.1d and A.1f are almost identical a.d support the statement that removing DC in acceleration is equivalent to removing a slope from velocity.



Figure A.Da. Observed acceleration scaled to crutch. FileCAN In the radial component observed at the 5 setem radie. Feak anguitude collige:

2A3SCV.INT



Figure A.Po. Example of slope type 2, a step in uncorrected velocity. Record obtained by integration of Former A.Pa. The step is 4% of the peak velocity. If 3.9


Figure A.2c. Clope (cype 2) subtracted form Figure A.2b. FD 3.1







Figure A.3a. Observed acceleration with DC removed. Compare to Figure 1% with no DC removed.

 $*10^{2}$ 2D3DCTST2.ACL 13.05 Accel (c/s/s) -12.85 13. T 0.00 0.75 1.50 2.25 3.00 Time (seconds) Amplitude 10° 10-1 10-1 10⁰ 10^{2} Frequency (Hz)

Figure A.3b. File 2D3 with first peak in acceleration reduced by 13.34. This is a test to replicate the ty = 2 slope as illustrated in file 2A3, Figure A.2d.







Figure A.3d. Corrected velocity. The corrected velocity is almost identical to that of Figure A.1d even though there had been a step induced in the uncorrected velocity by reducing the amplitude of the first peak of the original a celeration record.



Figure A.4a. File 2D3 with first peak in acceleration reduced by 90% (from 1505 to 150 cm/s²). This is a test to replicate the type 2 stope as illustrated in file 2A3. Sawe as Figure A.3b but with a greater reduction in amplitude.



Figure A.40. Uncorrected velocity obtained by integration of Figure A.4a. The 90% reduction in peak acceleration resulted in a step that is 33.2% of the peak velocity.



Figure A.4c. Corrected velocity. The corrected velocity is almost identical to that of Figure A.1d even though there had been a step induced in the uncorrected velocity by reducing the amplitude of the first peak of the original acceleration record.



Figure A.5a. Observed acceleration scaled to cm/s^2 . File 2G2 is the transverse component observed at the 13.5 meter range. Reak acceleration is 0.13g.



Figure A.5b. Example of slope type 3, two ramps in uncorrected velocity. The change in slope, indicated by the arrow, occurs after the signal has passed.



Figure A.5c. Uncorrected velocity. File 2G3 is the radial component corresponding to file 2G2. If the change in slope (arrow) is taken into account, then the tilt interpretation will be consistent with file 2G2.



Figure A.5d. Velocity record obtained by subtracting the two slopes from Figure A.5b. The departure from the zero line shows up as a peak in the amplitude spectrum below 1 Hz. This boost in long period noise is a result of integration.







Figure A.6. Filter test. The 4-pole filter design was rejected because of the significant acausal arrivals induced by the filter. Compare to Figure A.2d where the high-pass filter in PS 3.2 has a 2-pole roll-off.



Figure A.7a. Corrected displacement. Record obtained by integration of Figure 5d. The displacement signal is affected by long-period noise remaining in the corrected velocity.

2G2SCP.DPL



Figure 7b. Displacement record obtained by integration of Figure A.5d. The poor quality of this displacement record illustrates the importance of the Mig' pass filter in FC 4.4.

APPENDIX B

COMPLETE EXPLOSION DATA SET





CART 1A: 90 DEGREES AT 13.5 METERS









.)



CART 1D: 180 DEGREES AT 27.0 METERS







CART 1F: 215 DEGREES AT 40.6 METERS



CART 1G: 325 DEGREES AT 40.6 METERS



PLAN VIEW OF CART2 SOURCE AND RECEIVER LOCATIONS











CART 2C: 270 DEGREES AT 5.0 METERS







CART 2E: 90 DEGREES AT 13.5 METERS









PLAN VIEW OF CART3 SOURCE AND RECEIVER LOCATIONS








CART 3B: 180 DEGREES AT 9.7 METERS



CART 3C: 180 DEGREES AT 13.5 METERS





CART 3E: 180 DEGREES AT 27.0 METERS









0 NORTH



ART 1: 0 DEGREES AT 10 METERS



ART 1: 60 DEGREES AT 10 METERS







ART 1: 180 DEGREES AT 10 METERS







ART 1: 300 DEGREES AT 10 METERS





ART 2: 0 DEGREES AT 20 METERS







ART 2: 144 DEGREES AT 20 METERS



ART 2: 180 DEGREES AT 20 METERS





ê



ART 2: 288 DEGREES AT 20 METERS









ART 3: 60 DEGREES AT 30 METERS



ART 3: 120 DEGREES AT 30 METERS













								BSHOT LOCATION	CRECENER LOCATIONS
· · · · ·	Ð	[] 10 m			0	0	0	[] 60 m	

PLAN VIEW OF ART LINE SOURCE AND RECEIVER LOCATIONS

0 NORTH







ART LINE TEST: 15 METERS























ART LINE TEST: 45 METERS






ART LINE TEST: 55 METERS





APPENDIX C

4

.

CART PEAK AMPLITUDES

File Name	Range (m/kt ^{1/3})	Range (m)	Peak Accel. (cm/s ²)	Peak Vel. (cm/s)	Peak Displ (cm)	Slope Type
1A1 1A2 1A3	1019.0	13.5	373 130 342	2.44 .52 1.89	1.6 .4 3.5	4 6 1
1B1 1E2 1B3	1019.0	13.5	598 113 441	2.22 .50 2.01	1.9 .8 3.1	1 4 5
1C1 1C2 1C3	1019.0	13.5	404 99 344	2.08 .25 1.86	1.5 .4 3.2	1 5 2
1D1 1D2 1D3	2001.9	27.0	122 31 186	.58 .11 1.41	.7 .2 1.8	2 2 2
1E1 1E2 1E3	2001.0	27.0	115 46 184	.48 .26 1.33	.6 .4 1.7	5 4 2
1F1 1F2 1F3	2999.5	40.6	62 37 136	.26 .15 .73	.6 .2 1.0	2 2 1
1G1 1G2 1G3	2999.5	40.6	75 52 95	.38 .18 .47	.6 .1 .9	2 1 2
2A1 2A2 2A3	429.6	5.0	2156 273 1387	10.46 .77 13.57	9.3 .4 28.9	5 4 2
2B1 2B2 2B3	429.6	5.0	2342 144 1401	8.71 1.2 13.47	10.4 1.8 27.8	6 4 2
2C1 2C2 2C3	429.6	5.0	2950 366 965	13.15 2.24 9.88	10.5 3.6 21.6	4 2 2

File	Range	Range	Peak Accel.	Peak Vel.	Peak Displ	Slope
Name	$(m/kt^{1/3})$	(m)	(cm/s ²)	(cm/s)	(Cm)	Туре
2D1 2D2 2D3	429.6	5.0	2479 271 1506	9.87 2.94 14.50	10.5 3.6 21.6	1 5 1
2E1 2E2 2E3	1019.0	13.5	390 38 536	1.52 .14 2.68	10.5 4.0 29.2	2 4 2
2F1 2F2 2F3	1019.0	13.5	494 153 562	2.28 .73 4.15	1.8 .4 4.4	1 4 2
2G1 2G2 2G3	1019.0	13.5	440 127 331	1.45 .32 2.08	1.5 .3 3.5	1 3 2
3A1 3A2 3A3	429.6	5.0	1875 263 1581	9.54 1.88 16.59	8.2 2.6 31.4	5 4 2
3B1 3B2 3B3	747.8	9.7	1209 153 596	4.18 .40 3.70	2.2 .3 5.6	5 4 2
3C1 3C2 3C3	1019.6	13,5	554 127 493	2.85 .50 2.97	1.6 .3 3.4	2 3 5
3D1 3D2 3D3	1511.9	20.3	138 113 392	.88 .41 2.01	1.1 .2 2.6	2 4 2
3E1 3E2 3E3	2001.9	27.0	189 63 219	.56 .24 1.61	.8 .2 1.5	2 4 1
3F1 3F2 3F3	2999.5	40.6	53 43 72	.24 .19 .45	.6 .2 .9	5 1 2

а . .

APPENDIX D

ART PEAK AMPLITUDES

File Name	Azimuth. Degrees	Range (m)	Range (m/kt ^{1/3})	Peak Accel (cm/s ²)	Peak Vel. (cm/s)	Peak Displ (cm)
ART1	0	10.0	742.26	637 105 745	2.94 .46 7.28	2.5 .6 11.1
ART1	60	10.0		563 96 632	2.33 .51 5.39	2.2 .8 5.8
ART1	120	10.0		831 148 764	2.99 .37 7.38	2.6 .5 7.8
ART1	180	10.0		960 96 515	4.81 .66 4.78	2.9 7.9 5.3
ART1	240	10.0		752 113 594	1.70 .37 5.09	1.0 .7 4.5
ART1	300	10.0		642 113 506	1.27 .37 4.66	.9 .7 5.2
ART2	0	20.0	1476.4	221 67 191	1.14 .29 1.72	1.0 .19 1.8
ART2	90	20.0		204 59 402	1.03 .18 2.52	.9 .3 2.4
ART2	144	20.0		225 86 228	1.15 .39 2.56	1.3 .3 3.3
ART2	180	20.0		131 50 221	.93 .16 2.05	

File Name	Azimuth. Degrees	Range (m)	Range (m/kt ^{1/3})	Peak Accel (cm/s ²)	Peak Vel. (cm/s)	Peak Displ (cm)
ART	216	20.0		167 71 315	.81 .28 1.36	1.1 .2 2.0
ART2	288	20.0		127 43 280	.71 .29 2.18	1.1 .2 2.4
ART3	0	30.0	2212.2	116 77 149	.46 .25 .98	.5 .1 1.2
ART3	60	30.0		55 34 122	.45 .13 1.00	.6 .1 1.5
ART3	120	30.0		80 33 179	.47 .15 1.10	.5 .09 1.2
art3	180	30.0		116 58 113	.52 .19 .69	.6 .2 1.4
ART3	240	30.0		109 89 192	.58 .40 1.31	.7 .3 1.4
art3	300	30.0		88 49 153	.55 .19 .89	.6 .3 1.2
ART 1	LINE	10.0	742.3	510 199 575	2.70 1.21 5.31	
ART :	LINE	15.0	1108.8	338 74 462	1.28 .39 2.90	
ART :	LINE	20.0	1476.4	233 65 333	.96 .23 1.81	
ART	LINE	25.0	1844.2	141 50 309	.66 .21 1.66	

File	Azimuth.	Range	Scaled	Peak Accel	Peak Vel.	Peak Disp
Name	Degrees	(m)	Range	(cm/s ²)	(ciu/s)	(cm)
ART L	INE	30.0	2212.2	88 77 136	.36 .24 1.04	
ART L	INE	35.0	2580.4	65 76 64	.33 .25 .64	
ART L	INE	40.0	2948.6	64 61 102	.21 .19 .60	
ART L	INE	45.0	3316.8	61 39 104	.18 .12 .42	
ART L	INE	50.0	3685.1	46 43 66	.24 .13 .43	
ART L	INE	55.0	4053.2	29 29 45	.21 .10 .32	
ART L	INE	60.0	4421.6	25 37 64	.20 .10 .36	

REFERENCES

- Bache, T. C., Estimating the Yield of Underground Nuclear Explosions, <u>Bull. Seism. Soc. Am.</u>, Vol.72, 131-168, 1982.
- Blake, F. G., Spherical Wave Propagation in Solid Media, <u>J.</u> Acoust. Soc. Am., Vol. 24, 211, 1952.
- Burdick, I. J. and D. V. Helmberger, Time Functions Appropriate for Nuclear Explosions, <u>Bull. Seism. Soc.</u> <u>Am.</u>, Vol. 67, 957-973, 1973.
- Burger, R. W., T. Lay, and L. J. Burdick, Average Q Yield Estimates from the Pahute Mesa Test Site, <u>Bull. Seism.</u> <u>Soc. Am.</u>, Vol. 77, 1274-1294, 1987.
- Day, S. M., N. Rimer and J. T. Cherry, pface Waves from Underground Explosions with Spall, malysis of Elastic and Nonlinear Source Models, <u>Bull. Jeism. Soc. Am.</u>, Vol. 73, 247-264, 1983.
- Dobrin, M. B., R. F. Simon and Lawrence, Rayleigh Waves from Small Explosions, <u>Trans. Am. Geoph. Union</u>. Vol. 32, 822-832, 1951.
- Flynn, E., Effects of Source Depth on Near Source Seismograms, <u>M.S. Thesis</u>, Southern Methodist University, 104, 1988.
- Fuchs, K. and G. Muller, Computation of Synthetic Seismograms with the Reflectivity Method and Comparison with Observations, <u>Geophys. J. R. Astr. Soc</u>. Vol.23, 417-433, 1971.
- Gilbert, F., Derivation of Source Parameters from Low-Frequency Spectra, Phil. Trans. Roy. Soc. London, Ser. A 274, 251-255, 1973.
- Gupta, I.N. and C. Kisslinger, Radiation of Body Waves from Near-Surface Explosive Sources, <u>Geophysics</u>, Vol. 31, 1057, 1966.
- Haskell, N. A., Analytic Approximation for the Elastic Radiation from a Contained Underground Explosion, J. <u>Geophys. Res</u>., Vol. 72, 2585-2587, 1967.

- Helmberger, D.V., and D.M. Hadley, Seismic Source Functions and Attenuation from Local and Teleseismic Observations of NTS Events Jorum and Handley, <u>Bull. Seism. Soc. Am.</u>, Vol. 71, 51-68, 1981.
- Latter, A.L., R.E. LeLevier, and W.G. McMillan, A Method of Concealing Underground Explosions, <u>J. Geophysics Res.</u>, Vol. 66, 943-48, 1961.
- Lay T., T.C. Wallace, and D.V. Helmberger, The Effects of Tectonic Release on Short-Period P Waves from NTS Explosives, <u>Bull. Seis. Soc. Am.</u>, Vol. 74, 819-842, 1984.
- Masse, R.P., Review of Seismic Source Models for Underground Nuclear Explosions, <u>Bull. Seism. Soc. Am.</u>, Vol. 71, 1249-1268, 1981.
- Minster, J. B., 25 Years of Source Theory, <u>The Vela Program:</u> <u>A 25 Year Review of F sic Research</u>, A. U. Kerr, Editors, Dianne L. Carlson, 964 pp 1985.
- Mooney, H. M. and B. A. Bolt, Dispersive Characteristics of the First Three Rayleigh Modes for a Single Surface Layer, <u>Bull. Seism. Soc. Am.</u>, Vol.56, 43-67, 1966.
- Mueller, R. A. and J. R. Murphy, Seismic Characteristics of Underground Nuclear Detonations Part I. Seismic Spectrum Scaling, <u>Bull. Seism. Soc. Am.</u>, Vol. 61, 1675-1692, 1971.
- Murphy, J. R., Seismic Source Functions and Magnitude Determinations for Underground Nuclear Detonations, <u>Bull. Seism. Soc. Amer.</u>, Vol.67, 135-158, 1977.
- Perret, W. R. and R. C. Bass, Free-field Ground Motion Induced by Underground Explosions, <u>SAND74-0252</u>, Sandia Corporation, 121 pp., 1975.
- Peinke, P. E. and B. W. Stump, Stochastic Geologic Effects on Near-field Gr. und Motions in Alluvium, <u>Bull. Seis. Soc.</u> <u>Am.</u>, 1037-1059, 1988.
- Sharpe, J. A., The Production of Elastic Waves by Explosion Pressures. I. Theory and Empirical Field Observations, <u>Geophysics</u>, Vol. 7, 144-154, 1942.
- Stump, B.W., Investigation of Seismic Sources by the Linear Inversion of Seismograms, PhD. Theols, University of California, Berkeley, 1979.

- Stump, B.W., Constraints on Explosive Sources with Spall from Near-Source Waveforms, <u>Bull. Seis. Soc. Am.</u>, Vol. 75, 361-377, 1985.
- Stump, B.W., Mathematical Representation and Physical Interpretation of a Continued Chemical Explosion in Alluvium, <u>Bull. Seis. Soc. Am.</u>, Vol. 77, 1312-1325, 1987.
- Stump, B. W. and L. R. Johnson, The Determination of Source Properties by the linear Inversion of Seismograms, <u>Bull.</u> <u>Seismol. Soc. Amel.</u>, Vol. 67, 1489-1502, 1977.
- Stump, B. W., Resolution of Complex Explosive Source Functions in the Frequency Domain, <u>Geophys. J. R. astr.</u> <u>Soc.</u>, 1987.
- Stump, B.W. and R.E. Reinke, Experimental Seismology: In Situ Source Experiments, <u>Bull. Seis. Soc. Am.</u>, Vol.77, 1295-1311, 1987.
- U. S. Congress, Office of Technology Assessment, <u>Seismic</u> <u>Verification of Nuclear Testing Treaties</u>, OTA-ISC-361, Washington, DC: U.S. Government Pinting Office, 1988.
- Von Seggern, D. H. and R. R. Blanford Source Time Functions and Spectra for Underground Nuclear Explosions, <u>Geophys</u>. <u>J. R. Astr. Soc.</u>, Vol.31, 83-97, 1972.
- Werth, G. C. and R. F. Herbst, Comparison of Amplitudes of Seismic Waves from Nuclear Explosions in Four Mediums, <u>J. Geophys. Res. 68</u>, 1463-1475, 1963.

This shows that QC is independent of the data sets and the data reduction procedure used. The QC value for the present data set has a strong frequency dependence: QC increases with frequency proportional to f, where n was found to be 0.25. This n value is nearly the same as that estimated for the active continents and is probably representative of the active island arcs.

9:45

.

4

CHARACTERISTICS OF SCATTERING AND ATTENUATION STRUCTURE IN

CHAINGTERISTICS OF SCATTERING AND ATTENDATION STRUCTOR. IN NORTHEASTERN JAPAN MATSUROTO, S. and HASEGAWA, A. Observation Center for Prediction of Eastinguakes and Volcanic Eruptions, Faculty of Science, Tohuky University Sendar, Japan Based on th

Based on the single scattering model, back scattering Coefficient (g) and coder value (or) Based on the single scattering model, back scattering coefficient (g) and coda-Q value (Qc) are estimated for several frequency bands from the amplitude ratio of coda-to S-wave and from the time decay of the ratio. The estimated g-value at each station ranges from 10^{-1} to 10^{-3} at 4-24Hz. The Qc value shows a regional variation and frequency decendence of the form Qc or f^o, where n is found to be 0.7-1.0.

found to be 0.7-1.0. A method to estimate 'wo dimensional QC structure is developed to see the regional variation of the QC. The QC value at each grid point spatially distributed was estimated by averaging the QC values of many event-station pairs with adequate weighting factor. The weighting factor at each grid point was calculated by using the distance from each grid to the station and the source. The obtained two dimensional QC structure shows its relation to S-wave velocity structure; the low-QC region corresponds to the low velocity region, and the high-QC region, to the high velocity region. region to the high velocity region.

10:00

WARTATION OF CODA C DURING AN EXPERIOUAVE SEQNEDCE MANG, J.H., TENJ, T.L., and MA, K.F., Institute of Earth Sciences, Academia Sinica, P.G. Box 23-59, Taipes, Taiman, 10044, P.G.C

The May 26, 1955 Hualies earthquare sequence occurred in the northeedtern Taiwan. The MeS.5 main shorr was followed by a large number of shallow and classly-clustered afterstory with the largest being a MeS.5 event. Aftershores formed two clusters centered at, respectively, 5 we amilt we depth. One militor TWO of the TL-An leteretered Seismic Network is located in the milit of these two clusters and divel weelent. There results on the entire earthquare sequence. There results on the shore of fore mouse sequence. There results on the shore of fore mouse sequence. This same source area offer a unit peroportunity in the study of spatial and temporal variation of coda Q in a tegrin of attive Surdout S H2, we have found that i. The answert roda Q near an active subduction result care may now study. There is a significant drop of cods is intered to day after the main shore. This drop lasted about two days while the two difference of code of first sources originating from the two difference after those originating from the two difference after those originating from the two difference after base originating from the two difference after those originating from the two difference and the shore the main shore. Afternious guister. Be gignig Coda y is tourn before the main shock.

10:15

LG-WAVE ATTENIATION AND SITE EFFECTS OF TAIWAN APEA Tzay-Chyn Shin, Central Weather Bureau, Taipei, Taiwan, TZay R.UC.

Digital setsnograns of 55 earthaquakes recorded by Contral Weather Bureau Setslic Setwork (SWSSN) are used to study the characteristics of Dg-wave in taiwan area. All earthquakes are uniformly distributed in three main tectoric regions of

characteristics of log-wave in taiwan area. All earthquakes are uniformly distributed in three main tectomic regions of Taiwan. Nevertheless, the averaged group velocity 3.2-3.5 Morses and consorrouss wave trains show that the propagation of Lg-wave is not apparently affected by the structural variation. From spectral analysis, Lg-wave attenuation is of the form of 100f - in the frequency range of 0.7 to 0.82. Comparing to the Coda-O obtained from the wave attenuation is of the form of 100f - in the frequency range of 0.7 to 0.82. Comparing to the Coda-O obtained from the wave area. 1 Hz Lg-V is comparible to 1 Hz Coda-V, but coda-wave attenuates fast at high frequency. The residual, ratio of observed spectral amplitude to theoretical value, is found to be independent of epicentral distance and arimuta. These regults imply that the variation of spectral amplitude is not caused by the variation of spectral amplitude is not caused by the scitation of spectral multiple on 0.7 to 6 Hz the scitation of spectral amplitude is not caused by the scitation of science. Thus, station site indifferent the site amplification of stations at undifferent the site amplification of stations at weights with the site amplification of stations at weights with analysis, results from the band 0.7 to 6 Hz indep are that the site amplification of stations at weights with analysis, results from the fourtion of stations at weights with the large by a factor of 2 to 3 relative to the average station, here sites at fault zone exists decreasing amplification with respect to increasing frequency, while the hard frequency is the observed reversely. the bard free sites behave reversely.

10:30 SCATTERING AND INTRINSIC ABSORPTION IN THE LITHOSPHERE BENEATH NORTHERN AUSTRALIA KORN, M., Research School of Earth Sciences, Australian National University, Canberra, ACT 2601, Australia.

I have studied the P code of Indonesian earthquakes recorded at the Warramunga Array (WRA) in central Australia for a broad raige of source depits. An increase of coda energy relative to the direct arrivals is observed when source depth decreases. Cohereascy measurements by means of when source depth decreases. Cohereascy measurements by means of semblance-enhancent stacks exhibit that the code of shellower events as mostly incoherent across the array, while the code of shellower events contains a certain amount of coherent accrety. The coherent arrivals are produced by reflections from plane layering and possibly by larger-scale heterogeneities in the deeper lithosphere. Small-scale heterogeneities close to heterogenetities in the deeper introsphere. Steal-scale heterogeneties close to the heterogeneties, however, are responsive our intergeneration of the inducement part of the coda. To further study the small-scale fluctuations of the sensitiv parameters I have computed the time decay of the power spectral density of the P coda of deep-focus events. An emergy-flux model which assumes multiple scattering and allows for the independent deterministics of intrinsic Q multiple scattering and allows for the independent determination of infirmult. Q and scattering Q has been fitted to the data. The results show an almost licear increase of infirmult: Q with frequency Q is about 300 at 1 Hz. The frequency dependence of scattering Q is somewhat less pronounced with a value of about 340 at 1 Hz and an exponent of 0.85. A comparison of this frequency dependence with results from single scattering theory imply a correlation length of about 5.5 km and a raws velocity fluctuation of 5% for the scattering medium.

A5 TIC AND STOCHASTIC EFFECTS STUMP, B.W., BOGAARDS, M.A., Department of Geological Science

Southern Methodist University, Datlas, Texas 25275; REINKE, R.E., AFML/MTESC, Kittland AFB, NM 871.7-6008

Geologic structures can be divided into stochastic and deterministic Geologic structures can be divided into stochasti, and deterministic components. From the pull of view of sensite wave proparation the deterministic component often involves a model in which velocities change in the vertical direction. The stochastic model is classified as a distribution of inhomogenetices and is characterized in censs of inhomogeneity size and velocity contrast. The separation of these geologic properties have implications on ground motion prediction and the activities of seismic information. A set of site characterization procedures were designed and implemented for the resolution of such projections of the designed and implementation of the resolution of such properties. The field technique involves the reflected of full wave seismograms at closely spared sites along eight radials emanating from a central source. The goal of this particular experiment was the characterization of the top 20m at the size which resulted in 21m spreads at 1m increments. Treating the wight observations at each Take is an ensemble, frequency domain reak and variance estimates were made. The weak normalized variance, coeffirms of variance A_1 , is then used as a measure of lateral variation in waveforms. At issues are small (*.*) reflecting little spatial variation in the wavefield. As frequency or range increases. the CV exponentially approaches 1 indicative of strong lateral varia-tions in the wavefield. This information is utilized in constraining the stochastic site model. In order to focus on the separation of wave types and constrain velocities each one dimensional arm of the the stochastic site model array is used in frequency-wavenumber(FrY) estimates. A finite number of Y values are assumed leading to a Burg model for the Y spectra. These estimates are used in constraining the deterministic mulej.

11:00

AN EXPERIMENTAL EVALUATION OF STOCHASTIC GEOLOGIC EFFECTS ON NEAR-FIELD GROUND MOTION

FILLO WROAD HOLLON BELING, R.R. AND FFLICE, C.W., Avy Force Veabons Laboratory, Kicriand AFR NEL 871. Solids, STURP, B.W., Deprod Geovyccal Sciences, Southern Mothodist University, Values TC 2020 A high explosive explement was designed to quantity the effects of random geologic inhom-generices upon the small-scale variability in ground motion and to betermine the relative importance of the deterministic and scornastic components of the gradient ware wave field. The experiment involved the detonation of small (100 lb) explosive charges upon a rest bed where the subsurface goology has been characcerized in a high resolution manner. The explosively induced ground motions were recorded by accelerometers placed at six Azimuths ar rolges of 10, 20, and 30 mecers. The subsurface sire characterization effort included high regolution serves survey, and closely spaced cone penetrometer tests as well as drolling and sampling. The site characterization process was designed to yield a good statistical characterizarijn of the geological variability bresent in the test bed subsurface . This statistical characterization will be incorporated into stochastic models of the observed ground motion field

11:15

BION STRESS ATTENUATION HEASUREMENTS AND WAVE FORM BODELLING ANDERSON, P. F. and FEINY', F.E., All Force Heapons Laboratory. Firtland AFB-04 - 87117-6908

A linear viscoelastic, constant G model was used to model emplosively A linear visconlastic, construct G model was used to model espisituely induced high stress ground motions in allocume. Data sets from two high expositive teams conducted as separate sizes were modeled using this technique. Our team consisted of a 20-or spectral intromethate construction and using an adoption of 20 meters, the other, also conducted in allocume as a designed as a obel root vield static version of the larger team. Our team choice transmeters are other from the product of the spectra of the spectra of the spectra of the design cost. Our product should be been used as a obel insteam of the larger team. Our spectra choice transmeter and the functions for the spectra of the spectra of the spectra of the spectra functions for the constant between the souther and dualistative using this technique. The y is required to one show a good match for the

This shows that QC is independent of the data This shows that we is independent of the data sets and the data reduction procedure used. The Qc value for the present data set has a strong frequency dependence; Qc increases with frequency proportional to f, where n was found to be 0.95. This n value is nearly the same as that estimated for the active continents and is probably representative of the active island arcs.

9:45

CHARACTERISTICS OF SCATTERING AND ATTENUATION STRUCTURE IN NORTHEASTERN JAPAN

MATSUNOTO, S. and HASEGAWA, A. Observation Center for Predi Observation Center for Prediction of Eaithquakes and Volcanic Eruptions, Faculty of Science, Tohuku University, Sendar, Japan

Sendar, Japan Based on the single scattering model, back scattering Coefficient (g) and coda-Q value (Qc) are estimated for several frequency bands from the amplitude ratio of coda-to S-wave and from the time decay of the latio. The estimated g-value at each station ranges from 10^{-1} to 10^{-2} at 4-24Hz. The Qc value shows a regional variation and frequency dependence of the form Qc uc (^{*}), where n is found to be 0.7.10 to be 0.7-1.0

found to be 0.7-1.0. A method to estimate two dimensional QC structure is A method to estimate two dimensional QC structure is developed to see the regional variation of the QC. The QC value at each grid point spatially distributed was estimated by averaging the QC values of many event-station pairs with adequate weighting factor. The weighting factor at each grid point was calculated by using the distance from each grid to the station and the source. The obtained two dimensional QC structure shows its relation to S-wave velocity structure; the low-QC region corresponds to the low velocity region, and the high-QC region to the hish velocity region. region to the high velocity region.

10:00

VARIATION OF CODA © DUPING AN EAPTHQUAKE SEQUENCE WANG, J.H., TENG, T.L., and MA, K.F., Institute of Earth Sciences, Academia Sinica, P.O. Box 23-59, Teiper, Taiwan, 10764, P.C.C.

The May 20, 1996 Hualish earthquake sequence occurred in The May 20, 1985 Hualish earthquake sequence occurred in the northeastern Taiwan. The M=5.5 main shock was followed by a large number of shallow and closely-clustered attactorors with the largest being a M=5.5 event. Afternhors formed two clusters centered attrieghtlively, I we and 15 km depth. One itslow Two of the Taiwah Telemetered Seismic Network is located in the middle of three two clusters and gives excellent close in recordings plus thism of foreshocks occurred in the source area offer a unique poportunity in the There rectings plus chief of foreshocks occurred in the same source area offer a unique opportunity in the study of spatial and temporal variation of coda Q in a region of active subduction. From recordings of a peak responde band centered about 5 Hz, we have found that: 1. The ambient coda Q near an active subduction region can be as low as 100. P. There is a significant drop of coda Q immediately after the main shock. This drop latted about two days petter returning to the ambient level 3. There is a noticeable difference of coda Q for sources originating from the two different attentions clusters. No significant decrease in coda Q is found before the main shock. coda Q is found before the main shock.

10:15

8.0.0

LG-WAVE ATTENUATION AND SITE EFFECTS OF TAIWAN AREA Tzay-Chyn Shin, Central Weat, tr Bureau, Taipri, Taiwan,

seismograms of 55 earthaquakes recorded by Central Digital

Digital mismograms of 55 earthaquakes recorded by Central Weather Bureau Seismic Network(CWBSN) are used to study the characteristics of Lq-wave in talwan area. All earthquakes are uniformly distributed in three main tectonic regions of Talwan. Nevertheless, the averaged group velocity 1.2-3.5 km/sec and conspicuous wave trains show that the propagation of Lq-wave is not apparently affected by the structural variation. From spectral analysis, Lg-wave attenuation is of the form of 100f in the frequency range of 0.7 to 5 Hz. Comparing to the Coda-Q obtained from the same area. 1 Hz Lg-0 is compatible to 1 Hz Coda-Q, but coda-wave attenuates fast at high frequency. The residual, ratio of observed spectral amplitude to theoretical variation. These results imply that the variation of spectral amplitude is not caused by the variation of source. Thus, station site amplification analysis, results from the band 0.7 to 5 Hz indicate that the site amplification depends at on y rediment with a larger by a factor of 2 to 3 relative to the average and frequency. The applification frequency is larger by a factor of 2 to 3 relative to the average analysis, results from the band 0.7 to 5 the average by the site amplification with emplification analysis, results from the band 0.7 to 5 Hz indicate that the site amplification depends at conging and frequency. The applification frequency is the average analysis, results from the band 0.7 to 5 Hz indicate that the site amplification depends at conging a site of the average analysis, results from the band 0.7 to 5 Hz indicate that the site amplification depends at one prime with the average analysis, results from the band 0.7 to 5 Hz indicate that the site amplification depends at one prime with the average by a factor of 2 to 3 relative to the average between the band for the result decreasing the hard rock sites behave reversely. the hard rock sites behave reversely.

10.30

- J.30 SCATTERING AND INTRINSIC ABSORPTION IN THE LITHOSPHERE BENEATH NORTHERN AUSTRALIA KORN, M., Research School of Earth Sciences, Awaralian National University, Canberra, ACT 2601, Australia.

I have studied the P coda of Indonesian earthquakes recorded at the Warramunga Array (WRA) in central Australia for a broad range of source depths. An increase of coda energy relative to the direct arrivals is observed deptins. An increase of GOOd energy relative to the direct arrivals is observed when source depth decreases. Coherency measurements by means of semblance-enhanced stacks exhibit that the coda of deep-focus events mostly incoherent across the array, while the coda of shallower event contains a certain amount of coherent energy. The coherent arrivals are produced by reflections from plane layering and possibly by herger-scale heterogenetics in the deeper lithosphere. Small-scale heterogenetics close to heterogenetites in the deeper lithophere. Small-scale heterogeneties close to the receiver, however, are responsione ror me generation of the anotherent part of the coda. To further study the small-scale fluctuations of the semine-part of the coda. To further study the small-scale fluctuations of the semine parameters I have computed the time decay of the power spectral density of the P coda of deep-focus events. An energy-flux model which assumes multiple scattering and allows for the independent determination of intrinsic Q and scattering Q has been fitted to the data. The results show an almost linear increase of intrinsic Q with frequency. Q is about 300 at Hz. The frequency dependence of scattering Q is somewhat less propounced with a value of about 340 at 1 Hz and an exponent of 0.85 A comparison of this frequency dependence with results from single scattering theory imply a correlation tength of about 5.5 km and a rms velocity fluctuation of 5% for the scattering medium. the scattering medium.

10:45 MEAR SURFACE CEOLOGIC SITE CHARACTERIZATION - SEPARATION OF DETERMINIS-TIC AND STOCHASTIC EFFECTS STURP, B.W., BOGAARDS, M.A., Department of Geological Sciences

Southern Methodist University, D., Jas, Texas 75275; REINKE, R.E., AFVL/MTESG, Kirtland AFB, NM 87112-6008

components, From the point of view of seismic wave propagation the deterministic component often involves a model in which velocities change in the vertical direction. The stochastic model is classified as a distribution of infomogenetics and is characterized in terms of inhomogeneity size and velocity contrast. The separation of these geologic properties have implications on ground motion prediction as if the utilization of setefic infomotion. A set of size characterization procedures were designed and implemented for the resolution of such properties. The field technique involves the terrieval of full wave seismograms at closely spaced sites along eight radials emanative from setsmograms at closely spaced sites along eight radials emanating from a central source. The woal of this pirticular experience was the characterization of the rop for on the site which resulted in 750 spreads at in increments. Treating the which observations are aren range as an ensemble, frequency domain mean and variance estimates were made. The mean normalized variance, coefficent of variacion (CV), is then used as a measure of lateral variation in usyeforms. At low frequencies (GD H2) the CV values are small (1.4) reflecting little spatial variation in the usyefield. As frequency of targe increases, the CV exponentially approaches i indicative nit strong lateral varia-tions in the usyefield. This introduction is willight on constraintion tions in the wavefield. This intormation is utilized in constraining the stochastic site model. In order to page on the separation of wave types and constrain velocities each one dimensional are of the array is used in frequency-wavecommer(F+); estimates. A finite comber of K values are assumed leading to a Borg modil for the K spectra. These estimates are used in constraining the deterministic model.

11:00

AN EXPERIMENTAL EVALUATION OF STOCHASTIC GEOLOGIC EFFECTS ON NEAR-FIELD GROUND MOTION

Relation the transmission of statistic consists a statistic field (SQUNG MOTION) RELD (ROUND MOTION) RELEVER, R.E. AND FELSE, C.W., Air Force Viabons Laboratory, Mirrland AFB Nº 8/112-6608 STUMP, B.W., Dept of Geological Sciences, Southerin Retinnic of the strip instance of the randor geologic inhomogeneities upon he small scale variability in ground motion and to determine the relative functions of the deterministic and scorbastic components of the ground motion wave field. The experiment involved the detonation of small floo lbs explosive charges upon a test bed where the subsultare geology had been characterized in a high resolution gener. The explosivel induced ground motions were recorded by accelerometers placed at six azimuths at ranges of 10, 20, and 30 meters. The subsurface succe characterization effort included high resplation seturizes succe closely spaced cone penerometer tests as well as drilling and closely spaced cone penerometer tests was drasigned to wield students spaces none primerometer test as only as drilling and sampline. The site characterization of the geological samathin's openetry in the test bed subsurface. This statistical characterization will be theorografied into secondstic models of the observed ground. motion (ield

11:15

HEAR STREAS ATTENNATION REASUREMENTS AND WAVE FORM MODELLIN FOR SECTION REFERENCES IN TRADUCTION AND MARK FURTHOUSLEING AND PRODUCTING AND P

linear inscortists , constant Q model was used to model explosively induced him intress ground motions to aljuvium. Data sets from two high explosive rests conducted at separate sites were modeled using high explosive rests conducted at separate sizes were modeled using this technique. One text consisted of a 20 cmm spherical micromethalm charge devices the constraint of 20 metrics, the other, also conducted in allowing ways, 256 th TML sphere defaulted at a depth of 5 metric. The shall be used as a desired as a ruled control of a depth of 5 metrics. The shall be the standard as a ruled control of states the factor of the control of the factor of the factor of the sphere devices the rule source at the shall be the states of the factor of th

EFFECTS OF SOURCE DEPTH ON NEAR-SOURCE SEISMOGRAMS

Elizabeth C. Flynn and Briin W. Stump

Department of Geological Sciences, Southern Methodist University Dallas, Texas

Abstract. Source depth effects are examined for five 115-kg trinitrotoluene (TNT) explosions buried at depths ranging from the optimum cratering depth of 1.8 m to the fully contained depth of 11.5 m. Data were recovered at near source ranges from 17 to 228 m. The waveforms are dominated by P and SV-Rayleigh energy. Deptn effects are evident in the increase of P to SV-Rayleigh amplitude ratios and in the twofold increase of high-frequency energy for the deeper sources. Theoretical propagation depth effects are modeled by Green's functions calculated for a velocity gradient which approximates the velocity structure of the experimental site. The effects of depth on the explosion source function are predicted using the scaling laws of Mueller and Murphy (1971). These models did not reproduce the observed twofold increase of high-frequency. energy. The discrepancy between the model and observations is attributed to increased coupling of high frequency P wave energy for fully contained sources. Energy calculations confirm that the shallowest event coupled 40% and the fully contained event 80% of the total seismic energy into the P wave. Source coupling efficiencies ranged from 0.7-1.0% for the near surface source to 1.5-2.9% for the fully contained explosion.

introduction

The object of this study is a quantitative and theoretical investigation of the physical processes which act as a function of source depth in producing near-source explosion waveforms. An understanding of these processes is essential to the problem of characterizing the depth of the seismic event. The ability to determine source depth is important to discrimination and yield studies, where estimates of yield are dependent on the burial depths of the source [Mueller and Murphy, 1971].

The problem of characterizing the depth of a seismic event is one which involves two broad aspects: propagation effects which act as a function of depth, and changes in the nature of the source function at its burial depth changes. A spherically symmetric explosion is a good source of compressional wave energy, while a cylindrically symmetric explosion, one that is close to the ince surface and only partially contained, is a richer source of SV and Rayleigh wave energy. Thus there is a relationship between the P and Rayleigh wave energy of an explosion.

Copyright 1988 by the American Geophysical Union.

Paper number 78,024. 0148-022778870078-5024\$05.00

,

that is diclated to some extent by the burial depth of the event.

The free surface contributes the most important propagation effects to the source depth problem. Rayleigh wave excitation is directly attributed to the presence of the free surface boundary. The source's proximity to this boundary affects its ability to excite surface wave energy. The dependence of Rayleigh amplitudes on earthquake source depths has been observed by many authors. [Eissler and Kanamori, 1956] estimated source depths of Hawaiian earthquakes from the ratios of body to surface wave amplitudes. On a smaller scale, [Dobrin et al., 1951] quantified the decay of Rayleign amplitudes for explosions buried from 20 to 300 ft. The Rayleigh decay is predominantly a function of the change in propagation path with depth, but for very shallow sources an increase in source coupling serves to increase the Rayleign amplitude with depth.

The interference of pP and other free surface reflections with the direct P arrival is another phenomenon dependent on the depth of the source. The free surface reflection creates interference phenomena that present difficulties in the frequency domain where spectral techniques are used to estimate various source parameters [Langston, 1978].

With both source and propagation effects contributing a depth dependence to the P and the surface wave, the relationship between these two arrivals can be a complicated function of source depth. This study is intended to quantitatively assess the effects of the depth of the source on P and Rayleigh arrivals, and to distinguish the effects of depth on the source function and the propagation terms.

This study is unique to those mentioned above. for two reasons. First, this investigation focuses on near-source observations for which the scale is much smaller, although the physical phenomena are the same. The near-source observations are dominated by upgoing rather than downgoing energy and are thus strongly influenced by the free surface and near-surface structure. Second, the experimental configuration is well controlled; the source depths and recording distances are accurately known, as is the velocity structure of the experimental site. The data set provides not only depth-dependent. observations, but also range-dependent observations which allow the characterization of spatial propagation effects.

The separation of source and propagation effects is attempted by matching observed depth effects with theoretical depth effects. Propagation effects are modeled by theoretical Green's function... Source effects for the fully contained events are calculated from the depth socials

OBSERVATIONAL DATA



Fig. 1. Schematic of the experimental configuration. Sources were buried at 1.84, 3.16, 3.96, 5.64, and 11.5 m. Data were recorded at ranges of 17.4, 37.5, 73.2, and 228.6 m.

proposed by [Mueller and Murphy, 1971]. The increase in source coupling with increased containment is quantified by the calculation of total seismic energy as a function of burial depth.

Observational Data

Range Effects

The data set was generated by five 115 kg chemical explosions fired in dry alluvium and buried from 1.8 to 11.5 m below the free surface. Ine explosions ranged from partially contained, 1.8 m being the optimum cratering depth, to a fully contained event at a depth of 11.5 m. Radial (to the source) and vertical acceleration was recorded at 17, 37, 73, and 228 m from each of the five events. The data were sampled at 2000 samples/s. The recording ranges and source depths are summarized in Figure 1. The velocity waveforms for one range (73 m) are shown in Figure 2, which displays the radial and vertical components for each explosion. The complete data set is displayed in the work by [Flynn, 1986].

The waveforms are dominated by a P phase and an SV-Rayleign phase. The SV and Rayleigh arrivals are treated as one because at the closest ranges their arrival times are separated by only a few hundredths of a second, while the SV-Rayleign pulse width is of the order of 0.2 s. In Figure 2 the SV-Rayleigh pulse is distinguished by a large amplitude and a shift to longer periods relative to the P arrival. Propagation effects at the farthest range (228 m) have separated the P and SV-Rayleigh phases by some intermediate mulcipathed arrivals, but as close as 37 and 73 m the waveforms consist almost entirely of the P and the SV-Rayleign phases (Figure 4a). At the closest range (17 m), even the P and SV-Rayleign phases are not completely separated.

The dominance of P and SV-Rayleigh motion is verified by particle motion diagrams. In Figure

3 the 228-m radial and vertical components are plotted with particle motions for the indicated P and SV-Rayleigh windows. Particle motion in the P window is rectilinear, with the radial and vertical motions roughly equal. In the indicated SV-Rayleigh window, the radial and vertical components have fallen out of phase and particle motion has become retrograde, representing surface wave motion.

The effect of range in separating the body and surface wave phases is illustrated in Figure 4 by the particle motions of a single event. At 17 m the P wave motion is not strongly linear, nor is it sharply distinguished from the onset of the SV-Rayleigh wave. The separation of body and surface waves becomes more distinct with the evolution of strongly linear and retrograde motions observed at more distant ranges.

The effect of propagation distance is evident in the decay of P and SV-Rayleigh amplitudes. In Figure 5, decay rates of the phases are estimated by a linear least squares fit to the log of the amplitude versus the log of the range. The P and SV-Rayleigh waves display faster decay rates than are expected for spherical and cylindrical wave fronts, respectively. Radial P decays as $r^{1.6}$, vertical P as $r^{-1.3}$, radial Rayleigh as $r^{-1.6}$, and vertical Rayleigh as $r^{-0.9}$. These decay rates include the effects of geometrical spreading, complex structural interactions, scattering, and intrinsic attenuation.

VELOCITY WAVEFORMS observed at 73 meters



Fig. 2. Observed velocity waveforms. Radial and vertical components are shown for each source depth at the 73 m range. H indicates source burial depth.

60-

P Wave

6-

ອູ Rayleigh Wave

H1.84 RADIAL and VERTICAL VELOCITY 22 at 223 meters ē.-H3.16 VERTICAL AMP (m/s <10⁻¹) 2-AMPLITUDE (m/s) H5 64 0.00 1 50 TIME (s) - 07 07 _ rep al RADIAL AMP (M/S X10-1) ____ vertical

Fig. 3a

Fig. 35

- 69

63

- Velocity wavefunds and connesponding P and SV-Bayleign particle motions Fig. 3. observed at 228 m. (a) Hadial (spiriline) and ventical (dashed line) velocity wave forms. It indicates source burial depth. Bans indicate P and SV-Hayingh time window for which particle motions are plotted. (b) Particle motions for the P and S/-Mayleign time windows.

Deptn Effects

Time domain. In the time domain the P and SV-Rayleign arrivals were identified by particle motion diagnams. The vertical P wave amplitude increases by twofold to sixfold (depending on range) from a source depth of 1.4 m to a depth of 11.5 m (Figure 6). The radial P wave amplitude snows a less pronouncet depth dependence, increasing by 1.5-fold to threefold over the mange of sounde depths. The SV-Rayleigh waves display very little depth dependence, decrealing by 20-40% over the range of source depths. The natios of F to SV-Rayleign amp itudes plotted in Figure 7 are largely a reflection of the depth dependence of P wave amplitudes.

Frequency domain. The displacement spectra for each event ap recorded at 73 m are given in Figure 8a. The signal is above background mass in the 2- to 60-Hz band (Figure 80). Indispla ement spectra at each range and la fac terized by a long period level and a conner frequency that were estimated from an overlay of a four-pole Butterworth filter. Te do Table 1 it to seen that an average the or BHR increase in conner frequency ac opposes the increase of sounder deputy from the to this mail us enclude of increase is subject to error, as the difference

PARTICLE VELOCITY for 5.64m event



Fig. 4a

Fig. 4b



in conner frequency between the radial and vertical component at the same range on the difference between two different ranges is comparable to the 2- to $3-4\pi$ variation. Corner frequency variations for this data set are small, of the order of 20% a most. No appreciable increase on decrease in the long period level of the spectra occurs with changing source depth.

A companison in Figure 9 of the spectra of the deepest and the st llowest events illustrates the change in spectral shape that coincides with an increase of source burial depth. The higher corner frequency of the deeper event is reflected in the increase of high-frequency spectral amplitudes. At the long periods the two spectra converge for the depths and ranges studied.

Spectral ratios of the deepest to the shallowest sources were \leftarrow iculated in the frequency domain and smoothed by a five-point running mean (Figure 10). The increase in high-frequency spectral amplitude for the deeper event is represented by a spectral ratio greater than 1. At low frequencies (<10 Hz the spectral ratios are not consistently Smaller or greater than 1, but at high frequencies (10-4 Hz) the deepest event has a factor of 2 increase in spectral amplitude. Time domain winlows of the P and SV-Rayleign Waveform, and Fourier tha yous identifies the 10to 40-Hz bar's at the P contribution and the 4- to 10-Hz band as the SV-Rayleign contribution [Flynn, 1986]. The increase of 10- to 40-Hz spectral amplitudes that accompanies an increase of source depth agrees with the time domain P amplitudes in suggesting a larger contribution of P wave energy for the deeper events. The low-frequency band of 4-10 Hz lacks a consistent increase or decrease of spectral amplitudes with depth, suggesting that for the events under study the amount of SV-Rayleigh energy produced is not a strong function of source depth.

Modeling of Source and Propagation Effects

The depth effects that have been outlined in the time and frequency domains contain both source and propagation depth effects. The observations can be expressed in general terms as a convolution of the source function with propagation path effects, or in the frequency domain as

$$U(f) = G(f) S(f) \tag{1}$$

where U are the observations, S the source function, and G the Green's function or impulse response of the medium.

RADIAL AMPLITUDE vs RANGE





Fig. 5. Spatial decay of P and SV-Rayleigh velocity amplitudes. Amplitude decay is approximated by a least squares line on each plot. (a) Radial P and SV-Rayleigh amplitudes. (b) Vertical P and SV-Rayleign amplitudes.

Source Effects

In an attempt to create a reference against which the data can be judged, the [Mueller and Murphy, 1971] source model was used to predict source effects for soulce depths between 1.8 and 11.5 m. This model is for fully contained sources and acts as a standard against which the cratering explosions can be compared. Snown in Figure 11 are the predicted effects of source depth on the far-field source potential. From 1.8- to 11.5-m source depth, the corner frequency of the source is predicted to increase by approximately a factor of 2, a much larger increase tran observed in the data. The long period level of the spectra drop by a factor of 2 from the 1.8- to 11.5-m source. The observations show no consistent decrease in the long period level (Table 1). The spectral ratio of the 1.8to 11.5-m sources has a twofold increase in highfrequency amplitudes (Figure 12) and is comparable to the observed amplitude ratios (Figure 10). The observations appear to demonstrate some of the predicted source depth effects, but they lack other of the predicted source effects, amely, the drop in long period level.

Propagation Effects

The contribution of propagation effects to the depth-dependent observations can be tested with synthetic waveforms generated by idealized propagation models. The velocity model which best fit the test site [Stump and Reinke, 1982] consisted of compressional velocity, shear velocity, and density which increased smoothly from surface values of 375 m/s, 244 m/s, and 1.67 g/cm³, respectively to values of 1128 m/s, 610 m/s, and 2.1 g/cm³ in the half-space at 25-m depth (Figure 13). The depths and P velocities at the site are well constrained, while the shear velocities are not as well known. The P and S Qs in this initial model were assumed to be 100 and 44, respectively.

Green's functions were calculated by a modified reflectivity method and convolved with the theoretical source function for the 11.5-m depth. This convolution was completed so that direct comparisons with the band-limited observational data could be made. The resulting waveforms are given in Figure 14. The P amplitude can be seen to increase with source depth relative to the SV-Rayleign amplitude. The model produces a factor



Fig. Da

Fig. 6b

Fig. 6. Pland SV-Relieign amplitudes as a function of source depth. (a) Radial Pland SV-Rayleign amplitude versus source depth. (b) Vertical Pland SV-Rayleign amplitude versus source depth.

of 1.7-4.0 increase in P amplitude with source depth, which is comparable to the increase of observed P amplitudes (2-6). The SV-Rayleigh amplitude decreases by a factor of 3-5, which is more pronounced than the 20-40% decrease that was observed.

Comparison of the spatial decay of the Green's functions can be made with the data. For the 1.84-m synthetic source the vertical P wave decays as r^{-1+2} and the Rayleign wave decays as r^{-0+6} . The observed decay values for this source depth. (Figure 5b) are r^{-1+2} and r^{-1+6} , respectively. The radial synthetics for the 1.84-m source give P and Rayleign decay rates of r^{-1+6} and r^{-1+1} (Figure 5a). For the 11.5-m source the vertical synthetics (P and Rayleign) decay as r^{-6+6} and r^{-1+1} (Figure 5a). For the 11.5-m source the vertical synthetics (P and Rayleign) decay as r^{-6+6} and r^{-6+6} . The radial synthetic values of r^{-1+6} and r^{-1+2} and r^{-6+6} . The radial synthetic values of r^{-1+2} and r^{-6+6} . The radial synthetic baserved values of r^{-1+2} and r^{-6+6} . The radial synthetic values for the dependence are r^{-6+9} and r^{-6+7} . Both the synthetics and the observations show reduced decay rates at the source depth increases

and the effects of the shallow low-velocity layers are reduced. Although the synthetics more closely replicate the observed spatial decay than a simple elastic half-space, the observational data in most cases decay faster than the synthetics. This observation indicates that effects such as intrinsic attenuation and scattering could be underestimated in this model.

In the frequency domain the corner frequency decreases by approximately 2 Hz, which is unlike the shift to higher frequencies observed in the data. The long period level displays a slight increase with source depth.

In summary, the Green's functions can account for an increased P wave amplitude with depth, but they cannot account for an increasing corner frequency or a nondecaying long period level, and they produce an SV-Rayleign wave that is too strongly depth dependent.

Commined Source/Propagation Effects

Predicted source depth effects were combined with theoretical propagation depth effects by

P:R RATIO vs SOURCE DEPTH



Fig. 7. Ratio of P to SV-Hayleigh amplitude as a function of source depth, for both the radial and vertical components.

the Green's functions convolving with the appropriate Mueller-Murphy source function derived for each source depth. The Mueller-Murphy predictions are strictly for fully contained sources, The spectral ratios resulting from these combined source and propagation effects are given in Figure 15. The shift of source energy to high-frequencies is roughly balanced by the decrease in nigh-frequency energy for the deep r propagation path. At long periods the spectral ratio is slightly greater than 1, particularly at the 228-m range.

Comparing the observed (Figure 10) and calcu-.ated (Figure 15) spectral ratios, it is evident that the observations contain depth effects beyond those that can be accounted for by the Mueller-Murphy source model and the layered Green's functions. The depth effect that is not satisfactorily modeled is the two to one spectral ratio at high frequencies (10-40 Hz).

The physical depth effect that is addressed by neither the Green's functions non-the Mueller-Murphy source scaling laws is the effect of moving from a partially contained to a fully contained burial depth. Based upon the modeling exercise, it is concluded that the fully contained source generates more high-frequency energy as a result of an increase in coupling over the near-surface source. In order to experimentally quantify the increased coupling efficiency with increased burial depth, the total seismic energy in the observed waveforms is calculated as a function of source depth.

DISPLACEMENT SPECTRA OBSERVED at 73m



Fig. 8a. Displacement spectra for all events recorded at 73 m. Here 2048 time points were windowed by a 10% cosine taper applied to the displacement waveforms.





Fig. 8b. Acceleration and noise spectra for a typical event, illustrating the effective bandwidth of 2-50 Hz.

Energy Calculations

Attenuation and Q

Energy as a function of depth is best quantified after spatial dependencies have been removed from the data. The data set lends itself to an empirical determination of range-dependent propagation effects which are represented as the spatial decay of P and SV-Rayleigh energy. The P and SV-Rayleign energy displays a range dependence which , greater than simple geometrical spreading. Since the goal of this part of the investigation was the quantification of coupled energy in the wave field, an empirical spatial decay was determined. The total decay could then be used to quantify the energy in the wave field at any observational range. The apparent attenuation can be represented as a decaying function of range

$$A = A_0 \exp(-\alpha r)$$
 (2)

where α is the apparent attenuation and γ is the range. The apparent attenuation is a combination

TABLE 1a. Conner Prequencies of Observed Displacement Spectra

	Source Deptn, m						
Range, m	1.84	3.16	3.96	5.64	11.5		
		Radia	1				
17	10.0	10.5	11.0	10.5			
37	10.0	11.0	12.0	15.0			
73	10.0	10.5	10.5	11.5	12.5		
228	10.0	10.0	10.5	10.5	11.5		
		Ventica	al				
17	12.0	12.0	15.0	15.0			
37	11.0	11.0	14.0	15.0			
73	10.0	16.5	11.0	12.0	12.9		
225	9.0	9.5	19.5	10.5	11.5		

TABLE 15. Levels of Observed Displacement Spectra, x10*

		Sourc	e Depth,	ħ	
Range, m	1.84	3.16	3.96	5,64	11.5
		Radia.	1		
17	3.20	3.20	3.00	6.00	
37	1.00	1.00	0.70	0.80	
73	0.70	0.70	0.50	0.40	1.20
228	0.22	0.40	0.28	0.31	0. 40
		Vertic	al		
17	1.10	0.90	0.80	1.20	
37	0.70	0.75	0.55	0.90	
73	0.48	0.60	0.40	C.42	0.72
228	0.28	0.37	0.30	0.38	0.4û

of mechanisms such as scattering, intrinsic attenuation, and wave propagation phenomena as illustrated in the synthetic calculations. Apparent attenuation is estimated from the seismic energies which are calculated from observational velocity records.

Calculation of seismic energy begins with the energy flux [Wu, 1966; Perret, 1973]:

$$F = \rho c \left[v(t) \right]^2 dt \qquad (3)$$

where F is energy flux in ergs per square centrmeter, p is density (g/cm^3) , c is propagation velocity (cm/s), and v(t) is recorded particle velocity (cm/s).

The energy flux, F, was calculated for both P and SV-Rayleigh arrivals. Th- P arrival corresponds to the time duration over which the particle motion was linear; the SV-Rayleigh arrival was marked by the onset of retrograde motion (Figures 3 and 4).

Using Parseval's theorem, the energy flux was calculated in the frequency domain

$$\int [V(t)]^2 dt = 1/(2\pi) \int [V(\omega)]^2 d\omega \qquad (4)$$

where $V(\omega)$ is the Fourier transform of v(t).

The advantage of calculating the energy flux in the frequency domain is that the apparent spatial attenuation can be derived for each of the two frequency bands considered, a P band and the SV-Rayleign band, where the apparent attenuation is assumed to be frequency independent within each of these bands.

The P and SV-Rayleigh time windows were tapered and transformed, padding to 256 points for the P window and 512 points for the SV-Rayleign window. The function $[V(\omega)]$ is plotted in Figure 16 for the P and SV-Rayleigh windows. The P wave energy is peaked in the 10- to 40-Hz band and the SV-Rayleigh energy is in the 4- to 10-Hz band. The amplitude of the P wave spectrum has failen off by neurity a factor of 10 at 40 Hz, which means that $[V(\omega)]^2$ has failen off by a factor of 100.



Fig. 9a

Fig. 9. Comparison of displacement spectra of the deepest and shallowest events. The shallowest event (solid line) is the 1.8-m event. The deepest event (dashed line) reconded at 17 and 37 m is the 5.6-m event; the deepest event recorded at 73- and 228-mis the 11,5-m event. (a) Displacement spectra for the 17- and 37-m ranges. (b) Displacement spectra for the 73- and 228-m ranges.

the sum of the energies contributed by frequencies between 8 and 40 Hz. The SV-Rayleigh energy is determined by summing energy in the 4- to 12-Hz band. Inclusion of a wider frequency band changes the energy estimates by no more than 5%. The total energy in a spherical wave front becomes

 $E = 4\pi R^2 F$ (5)



Spectral ratio of the deepest to the shallowest events. Dashed lines Fig. 10. represent a spectral ratio of 1. (a) Spectral ratios for the 17- and 37-m ranges. (b) Spectral ratios for the 73- and 228-m ranges.

EFFECTS OF DEPTH ON MUELLER-MURPHY SOURCE POTENTIAL



Fig. 11. Predicted effects of depth on the farfield source potential of [Mueller and Murphy, 1971]. Theoretical source spectra are shown for the 1.8-, 5.6-, and 11.5-m source depths.

where E is energy in ergs and R is range in centimeters. For cylindrical waves the total energy becomes

$$E = 2\pi RhF$$
(6)

where n is depth of cylindrical wave front and is derived for Rayleigh waves in the appendix.

The total spherical (P) and cylindrical (SV-Rayleigh) energy as determined from the observational data is plotted in Figure 17. The decay of energy with range is called the apparent attenuation. The lin an slope of the log energy plot is the decay constant, a, in (2) and represents the combination of all remaining mechanisms of spatial attenuation. The energy values represent a variety of frequencies. Since these measurements were utilized in the attenuation determinations, the decay coefficient α is estimated in the θ - to 40-Hz band for the P wave and the 4- to 12-Hz band for the SV-Rayleigh wave. Baset upon this analysis technique, it is difficult to constrain any frequency dependence in a. Table 2 lists the least squares values of the energy decay rates and their correlation coefficients. Interpreting the spatial attenuation in terms of \mathbb{Q}_{1} one must assume a frequency dependence. Values in the literature for regional data range from for6 to firi[Priestley and Chavez, 1987; Butler et al., 1987]. For simplicity, Q is assumed linear in frequency:

 $A = A_0 \exp(-\alpha r) = A_0 \exp(-\omega r/2cQ)$ (7)

$$Q = \omega/2c\alpha \tag{8}$$

The Q values calculated from the P and SV-Rayleign attenuation rates are given in Table 3. For the radial component, Q ranged from 5 (5 Hz) to 25 (40 Hz) for P and 16 (4 Hz) to 30 (12 Hz) for SV-Rayleign. For the ventical component, Q ranged from 15 (8 Hz) to 90 (40 Hz) for P and 18 (4 Hz) to 54 (12 Hz) for SV-Rayleign. These

differences in radial and vertical decay rates may be partially attributed to the different propagation path effects that were synthetically modeled earlier.

Energy as a Function of Depth

The a values are used to correct for the final range dependence in the energy calculations. The range-corrected P and SV-Rayleigh energies are plotted as a function of source donth in Figure 18. The range corrections are particularly effective for the radial component where the energies calculated at each range for a given depth differ at most by a factor of 3. The vertical P wave energies still contain some scatter for the different ranges, with energies differing by nearly a factor of 10 at a given depth. Some improvement in these estimates may be obtained by allowing a in the decay estimates to become frequency dependent.

Normalizing the P and SV-Rayleigh energies to the sum total of P plus SV-Rayleigh energy, it can be seen from Figure 19 that the shift in energy distribution from the shallowest to the deepest source is a shift from SV-Rayleigh to P energy. The average recording of the shallowest event contains 40% P wave and 60% SV-Rayleigh enersy. The average recording of the 3.9- and ents contained 72% and 83% P wave 11.5 The percentage P wave ener. espectively. energ/ increases rapidly from 1.8- to 3.9-m source depth, and more slowly to the final depth of 11.5 m.

The increase in P wave energy from 40% to 83% of the total seismic energy confirms that the fully contained source is a more efficient generator of P wave energy than the near-surface source. The absolute energy increases from an average of 8 x 10^{12} ergs for the shallowest event to an average of 22 x $^{\circ}0^{12}$ ergs for the fully contained event. Since all events were of the same size, with a yield of 10^{15} ergs [Meyer, 1981], the increase in total seismic energy

MUELLER-MURPHY SOURCE RATIO



Fig. 12. Spectral natio of the deepest to shallowest Muellen-Mumphy sources.





Fig. 13. Grathest velocity charactere. Compressional and shear velocity and density increase steadily through 25 m (replicated by 13 layers). The P and S wave Qs are taken to the 10 last 45 tonings of the model.

corrections to an increase on source coupling effortency from 0.7% to 1.3% for the rear-surface source to between 1.5% and 1.3% for the follow contained event (1.3%). For notice follow expressions on allowing, (Pernet, 1975, Oltained section courties efficiency, 1975, Oltained sections courties efficiency, 1975, Oltained sectories coupling efficiency, 1975, 1975, 1975, determined coupling efficiency, 1975, 19

coupling efficiency of 6.1%. In this study a tonectuld to fourtult increase in coupling from the cratering to the fully contained explosion war determined.

Constant in .

Figure effects fail under two broad categories: source depth effects and propagation depth effects. The separation of the source and propagation depth effects har beel completed with



GEADLENT SYNHELICS

(4) The second s second secon second sec

GRADIENT SPECTRAL RATIOS



Fig. 1. Spectral ratios of gradient spectra with source effects included.

the help of theory cloal source and propagation models. The data and to which this analysis was applied is unique for two reasons: the small scale of the experiments, configuration and the control of source depths and recording ranges.

Observations at several distances allowed the wave field to be quantified in terms of its spatial characteristics, namely the dominance of P and SV-Rayleigh motion, the amplitude decay of the two arrivals, and their spatial attenuation rates. The source depths spanned the range from partially to fully contained, corresponding to source symmetries which vary from cylindrical to spherical. The dominance of P and surface wave motions is therefore important to this investigation because the relationship tetween the spherical P and the cylindrical SV-Rayleigh arrivals is in part a measure of the changing symmetry of the source with increasing overburden. The P and SV-Rayleign arrivals were

WINDOWED VELOCITY SPECTRA H1.84m, R228m



Fig. 14. Fig. 2V-Repleting amplitude spectra. Fiwave amplitude falls off by a factor of 10 from 5 to 40 Hz, SV-Rayleign amplitudes fail off by a factor of 10 from 4 to 12 Hz.

ENERGY vs RANGE



Fig. 17. Decay of P and SV-Rayleign energy with range for the radial and vertical components.

shown to consist of individual frequency bands, 4.10 Hz for the SV-Rayleign wave and 10.40 Hz for the P wave. Together, these annivals comprise the bandwidth of the data. Thus the P and SV-Rayleign annivals were also used as a measure of the relative coupling of high to low frequencies as a function of source depth.

The observed depth effects included a twofold to fivefold increase in P wave amplitude and a

TABLE 2.	Apparent	Spatial Att	enuátion,	Least
Squar	res Energy	^r Decay Rate	s and Line	ear
Corre	elation Čo	efficients	(LCC), x10)- '

Deptn, m	Radial	LCC	Vertical	rcc
	I'	Snengy	و. همین و ^{ر رو} م می م ^ر و می او م	
1.8"	-5.0 -	0.90		
3.16	-ć.1	6.93	-1.2	0.31
3.96	-5.9	0.98	-2.0	0.42
5.1,4	-5.8	6.91	-1.2	0.34
Average	-5.7		-1.5*	-
	Ray.e	nga Laes	Êj	
1.24	-4.7	0.99	-2.7	0.42
3.16	-3.5	0.35	-1,4	0.37
3. 11.	-3.7	2.31	-1.8	0.74
5.1.4	- 2.8	0.35	·2.6	0.61
Average	-3.9		-2.3	

*Decay nates and blow for the vertical P wave and commutation coefficients and poor, langely because P wave energy at the 75 m mange in anomalously low. 1.5-fold decrease in the SV-Rayleigh amplitude over the range of source depths, and a shift to higher frequencies with increasing depth.

The increase in P amplitude relative to SV-Hayleigh amplitude with depth was modeled as a theoretical propagation effect. The gradient velocity model accounted for observed increases in P amplitudes but was unable to match the slow decay of surface wave amplitude with increasing source depth.

The Muellen-Murphy source model predicts a decrease in long period spectral level with increased source depth while exhluting an increase in corner frequency and high-frequency content. The propagation path effects gave a decrease in corner frequency with increasing

TABLE	3.	C	Valuet	100	i'	and	SV-Rayleign	Waves
-------	----	---	--------	-----	----	-----	-------------	-------

	Enequency	<pre>(≤f / ca)</pre>
Radial P wave, a = 5.7 x 10-* engn/cm,	6-5	4 <i>5-2's</i>
e + 920 m/s Radial SV-Bayleign Wave, a + 3.9 x 10-*	10-4	37-12
e = 320 m/s Ventacal P wave, a = 1.5 x 10-1	tv.~8	90 90
e = 925 m/s Vesti n. SV-kayleign wive. a = 7.3 x 15-3	1 1 - 4	54.57
t ≠ 3,0 m/s		



Fig. 18. P and SV-Rayleign energy as a function of source depth for the radial and vertical components.

source depth. The combined source and propagation effects thus gave no increase in high frequency energy unlike the observational data. The increase of the 10- to 40-Hz P wave energy from 40% to 80% of the total seismic energy quantifies the observed shift to higher frequencies and identifies the shift as one from surface wave energy to P wave energy as source depth increases. Based upon the modeling, this

P and RAYLEIGH PERCENT OF TOTAL ENERGY vs DEPTH



,

Fig. 19. Percentage Plant GV Rayleign energy of the total second energy.

increase in high-frequency energy is attributed to the difference between the shallow partially contained cylindrical source and the deeper fully contained spherical contained source. These conclusions could only be made after accounting for propagation effects at the test site. The source coupling efficency increased from 0.7-1.0% for the near-surface explosion to 1.5-2.9% for the fully contained.

This investigation has quantified the depth dependence of P and SV-Rayleigh arrivals from small explosions at near-source distances. Such depth effects might be observable at regional distances, but a set of controlled experiments to quantify these effects is not available. Regional data used to study depth effects usually include a variety of source types (explosions, carthquakes, quarry blasts). In addition, local structural variations may mask the source effects [Suteau-Henson et al., 1987). The apparent sensitivity of R_g to source depth may be the regional equivalent of the SV-Rayleigh observa-

TABLE 4. Total Seismin Energy x1013

		Rang	·, n	
Depth, m	17	37	73	213
1.8	1.03	0.79	0.17	0,55
3.2	1.20	1,10	0.91	1.05
1.9	6.35	0.94	0	0.35
.*	1.79	1.30	0.85	1. 1.
			1.45	· · · ·

Total fail tel energy is 1013 erg a

tions made in this study [Kafka, 1987]. As this small-scale study illustrates, such conclusions cannot be made quantitatively until both the source and propagation depth effects are carefully isolated.

Appendix

Rayleigh amplitude A_{r} is assumed to be a decaying function of depth, Z:

$$A_r = A \exp(iksz)$$

where $s = (C^2/\beta^2 - 1)^{\circ \cdot s}$, k is the wave number, $2\pi/\lambda$, and A is a constant. Wavelength $\lambda = cT$, where c is phase velocity and T is period.

The Rayleigh wave front is approximated by a cylinder of height h. For a particular observation of SV-Rayleigh amplitude, A,

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} A_{r} dz = An$$

where h is some depth given by

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} A_{r} dz = \int_{0}^{\infty} A \exp(iksz) dz$$
$$= A/iks \exp(iksz) \Big|_{0}^{\infty}$$

■ -A/iks

Acknowledgments. The data for this study were made available by the Air Force Weapons Laboratory Civil Engineering Division. The work was supported under grant AFOSR-84-0016. Thanks to E. Herrin, J. Forguson, R. Phillips, R. Reinke, and T. Sereno for reviews of the work.

References

- Butler, R., C. S. McCreery, L. N. Frazer, and D. A. Walker, High frequency seismic attenuation of oceanic P and S waves in the western Pacific, J. Geophys. Res., 92, 1383-1396, 1987.
- Pacific, J. Geophys. Res., 92, 1383-1396, 1987. Dobrin, M. B., R. F. Simon and P. L. Lawrence, Rayleigh waves from small explosions, Eos. Trans. AGU, 32, 822-832, 1951.
- Eissler, H. K., and H. Kanamori, Depth estimates of large earthquakes on the island of Hawaii since 1948, J. Geophys. Res., 91, 2063-2076, 1986.

- Flynn, E. C., Effects of source depth on near source seismograms, M.S. thesis, S. Methodist Univ., Dallas, Tex., 1986.
- Kafka, A. L., R_g waves as a depth discriminant for earthquakes and explosions in New England, paper presented at the 9th Annual DARPA/AFGi Seismic Research Symposium, Air Force Geophys. Lab, Nantucket, MA, June 15-18, 1987.
- Langston, C. A., Moments, corner frequencies, and the free surface, <u>J. Ceophys. Res.</u>, <u>83</u>, 3422-3426, 1978.
- Meyer, R., <u>Explosives</u>, 2nd ed., Verlag Chemie, Weinheim, Federal Republic of Germany, 1981.
- Mueller, R. A., and J. R. Murphy, Seismic characteristics of underground nuclear detonations, <u>Bull. Seismol. Soc. Am.</u>, <u>61</u>, 1675-1692, 1971.
- Perret, W. R., Seismic source energies of underground nuclear explosions, <u>Bull. Seismol. Soc.</u> <u>Am., 62</u>, 763-774, 1972.
- Perret, W. R., Seismic source energies of four explosions in a salt dome, <u>J. Geophys. Res.</u>, <u>78</u>, 7717-7726, 1973.
- Priestley, K. F., and D. E. Cha-∋z, Apparent Q of Pg and Lg in the great basin, paper presented at the 9th Annual DARPA/AFGL Seismic Research Symposium, Air Force Cambridge Res. Lab, Nantucket, MA, June 15-18, 1987.
- Stump, B. W., and R. E. Reinke, Spall-like waveforms observed in high-explosive testing in alluvium, AFWL-TR-82-15, Air Force Weapons Laboratory, Kirtland Air Force Base, N.M., 1982.
- Suteau-Henson, A., T. Sereno, and T. Bacne, Spectral characteristics and attenuation of regional phases recorded at Norcess, paper presented at the 9th Annual DARPA/AFGL Seismic Research Symposium. Air Force Geophys. Lab., Nantucket, MA, June 15-18, 1987.
- Wu, F. T., Part I, Lower limit of the total energy of earthquakes and partitioning of energy among seismic waves; Part II, Reflected waves and crustal structures, Ph.D. thesis, Calif. Inst. of Technol., Pasadena, 1966.

E. C. Flynn and B. W. Stump, Department of Geological Sciences, Southern Methodist University, Dallas, TX 75275.

> (Received January 26, 1987; revised September 10, 1987; accepted September 22, 1987.)

Bulletin of the Seismological Society of America

Vol. 78

June 1988

No. 3

STOCHASTIC GEOLOGIC EFFECTS ON NEAR-FIELD GROUND MOTIONS IN ALLUVIUM

BY ROBERT E. REINKE AND BRIAN W. STUMP

ABSTRACT

Analysis of accelerograms recorded at the 20 m range from a buried 5-lb detonation in alluvium revealed wide (as large as 20 dB in the amplitude modulus of the Fourier transform) variations in response for frequencies above 35 Hz. Additional experiments were performed which ruled out source asymmetry or instrumental irregularity as the cause of these variations. The observations suggest that scattering by geologic inhomogeneity is responsible for the frequency-dependent spatial variability in ground motion. A thorough understanding of the physical processes responsible for this variability requires that a quantitative relationship be established between the subsurface material property information and the observed ground motion characteristics. An attempt was made to do this using available standard penetration test data from the test bed where the initial experiment was detonated. Autoccrrelations of the blow count data from the standard penetration test were computed and compared with theoretical exponential and Gaussian distributions. The exponential distribution with a scale length between 2.0 and 3.0 m best matches the data. Assuming the Born approximation, a scale length of 2.0 to 3.0 m implies that significant scattering should occur above 10 Hz. The recorded ground motions are, however, coherent out to about 35 Hz, suggesting a scale length on the order of 0.5 to 1.0 m, which is beyond the resolution of the standard penetration test technique. This scale length is, however, not unreasonable in light of the general geologic characteristics of the test area.

INTRODUCTION

Several recent studies have found a surprising lack of coherence between ground motion waveforms recorded at stations separated by only a few tens of meters. McLaughlin *et al.* (1983) discuss the station-to-station waveform coherence for near-field explosion accelerograms recorded on a nine-station array at Pahute Mesa, Nevada Test Site. For this array, at a range of 6 km from a 5.6 M_L underground explosion with an interstation spacing of 100 m, strong incoherent signals were found above 5 Hz on all components. This incoherence was attributed to scattering. Vernon *et al.* (1985) discuss earthquake seismogram coherence for a nine-station array with an interstation spacing of 50 m. This temporary array was located near the Pinon Flat observatory in California. Several events with magnitudes between 3.0 and 4.2 and hypocentral distances raing from 10 to 50 km were analyzed. For this data set, *P* waves were found to be coherent up to the 25 to 30 Hz region, with *S* waves up to about 15 Hz. This variability in ground motion over such short distances raises questions about the appropriateness of using single-station point measurements of the ground motion field for the inversion of source functions as well as the use of the peak ground acceleration statistic based on single-point measurements.

Smith *et al.* (1982) analyzed the near-field motions from the 1979 Imperial Valley earthquake. This data set was obtained from a closely spaced array of five stations. This study confirmed that incoherence of higher frequency ground motions could, because of averaging effects, reduce the high-frequency input to buildings with foundations of large areal extent. Analysis of this particular data set suggested that base-averaging reduction factors of 10 to 30 per cent would have occurred for foundations 50 m in diameter for frequencies above 20 Hz. No significant reduction would have occurred for frequencies below 5 Hz.

This frequency-dependent spatial variability in ground motion has also been observed on some small-scale, high-explosive tests conducted in dry alluvium. An array of six triaxial accelerometers spaced at six azimuths at the 20 m range from a buried 5-lb detonation rielded waveforms which were incoherent above 30 to 35 Hz. In an effort to determine whether these variations were induced by instrumentation, source asymmetry, or scattering due to geologic variability, a series of small-scale, high-explosive experiments were performed. This paper describes the results of these experiments and the physical interpretation of the data.

THE INITIAL EXPERIMENT—THE ART 2 TEST

The Array Test Series (ARTS) was a series of single and multiple 5-lb explosive tests conducted in dry alluvium. The ARTS was formulated, designed, and implemented to investigate the quantitative effects of finite explosive sources upon observed motion fields. The single-burst tests in the series were intended to thoroughly characterize the single-burst ground motion environment (Stump and Reinke, 1987). One of these tests, ART 2 (Table 1), was intended to determine the degree of azimuthal variation in ground motion levels resulting from a singlecharge event. The experimental layout for this test is shown in Figure 1. Six triaxial servoaccelerometers were placed at the 20 m range at six different azimuths. These accelerometers were recorded by three-channel digital event recorders at a rate of 200 samplers/sec, with a 5-pole low-pass Butterworth filter at 70 Hz. The original accelerograms, along with low-pass (30 Hz corner) and high-pass (40 Hz corner) filtered versions, are shown in Figures 2 and 3. Fourier acceleration spectra for the waveforms are shown in Figure 4. Examination of the acceleration traces and the spectra in these figures reveals considerable similarity in the various waveforms below 30 Hz, while large azimuthal amplitude variations are observed for frequencies above 30 to 35 Hz. The accelerograms show that the high-frequency energy arrives after the initial coherent low-frequency response with a great variability in wave shape as well as amplitude. The vertical and radial spectral shapes (Figure 4) are similar between 5 and 35 Hz, while variations up to 15 to 20 dB occur above 35 Hz.

EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN

Three possible source: for the observed azimuthal variations in waveforms have been identified: (1: no un formity in instrumentation response; (2) asymmetry in the explosive source; at i (3) geologic inhomogeneity. In order to experimentally investigate the first poss ality—instrumental irregularity—the ART 19 test (Table 1), also called the huddletest, was performed. In this test, all 7 three-component accelerometers were precedin a closely spaced group at the 20

	DESCRIPTION OF EXPERIMENTS
Experiment	Description
ART 2	Single 5-lb charge buried at 1 m. Recording array showed 6 triaxial accelerometers at different azimuths at the 20 m range.
ART 19	"Huddle test." Single 5-lb charge buried at 1 m recorded by 6 triaxial accelerometers in a closely spaced group at the 20 m range.
ART II	The "pit shots." Series of five 5-lb buried charges all fired at the same ground zero and recorded by 6 triaxial accelerometers spaced at equal azimuths at the 20 m range. The initial charge was detonated <i>in situ</i> ; subsequent charges were fired in a sand-filled pit.
ART 111-2	Single 5-lb buried charge recorded by 6 accelerometers at the 10 m range and 6 accelerometers at the 30 m range Accelerometers were spaced at equal azimuths.



FIG. 1 Experimental layout for the ART 2 test event

m range (Figure 5) from a 5-lb charge detonated at a depth of 1 m. Individual vertical and radial spectra from this test are compared in Figure 6. The resulting spectral scatter, as observed in these figures, is at most 2 to 4 dB over the band from 5 to 70 Hz, much less than that observed for the azimuthal data. In fact, the higher frequency scatter (40 to 70 Hz region) shown in these figures may not reflect true instrumental irregularity, since, as seen by examination of Figures 5 and 6, the accelerometers which are physically closest in the field do possess the greatest degree of similarity in spectral shape.



Fig. 2. Filtered vertical acceleration records from ART 2. Record length is 0.5 sec.

An additional set of experiments, the ART II series (Table 1), was designed to determine whether azimuthal irregularities in ground motion result primarily from propagation path variations and scattering by geologic inhomogeneity or explosive source asymmetry. The test bed layout for the ART II tests is shown in Figure 7. Ground motions were recorded by triaxial servoaccelerometers and three-channel digital event recorders at six equally spaced azimuths at a range of 20 m. The ART II series of tests consisted of . ve separate 5-lb detonations all fired at the same test bed with the accelerometers remaining in the same position from shot to shot. The initial detonation was fired at a depth of 1 m in situ. The resulting crater was then excavated and a new 5-lb charge emplaced in the resulting pit with uniform sand rained around the charge. This process was repeated a total of four times. Thus, the ART II series of tests consisted of five shots, one *in situ* and four pit shots—all using the same test bed and an identical recording array.

The goal of the ART II tests was to determine whether source asymmetry or geologic factors were the dominant cause of the observed scatter. By repeating the experiment five times at the same location, five sets of triaxial accelerograms and spectra were obtained for each azimuth. If the observed data scatter were produced by geologic inhomogeneity, then one would expect very similar acceleration waveforms, as well as amplitude spectra, to be observed from shot to shot



Fig. 3. Liftered radial acceleration records from ARU2. Record length is 0.7 sec.

ROBERT E. REINKE AND BRIAN W. STUMP



Fig. 4. Vertical and radial Fourier acceleration spectra for ART 2.



RECORDING STATIONS



STOCHASTIC GEOLOGIC EFFECTS IN ALLUVIUM











1044

at the same recording station. The detonation of a 5-lb charge is, of course, not strictly a repeatable phenomenon, since the initial *in situ* detonation destroys a portion of the test bed by formation of the crater. Excavation of the severely disturbed material comprising the crater and subsequent emplacement of the charge within the pit was intended to make the experiment as repeatable as possible. The transition from the *in situ* test to the pit sequence was the most severe. The *in situ* shot produced a crater roughly 2.2 m in diameter. The crater was excavated, producing a pit about 3 m in diameter and 1.3 m deep. The dimensions of both crater and pit increased slightly with each shot. The final pit was about 3.5 m in diameter and the final crater about the same diameter.

While the ART 2 and the ART Phase II (the pit shots) experiments investigated azimuthal ground motion variations at the 20 m range, the ART III-1 experiment (Table 1) was designed to investigate the influence of range upon the observed azimuthal variations. If scattering by geologic inhomogeneity is the dominant factor producing the azimuthal variation, then one might expect the degree of variation to increase with range of the receiver array. The ART III-1 test consisted of a 5-lb cylindrical charge detonated *in situ* at a depth of 1 m. The ground motions were recorded at a total of 12 locations using triaxial servoaccelerometers and three-channel digital event recorders. Six recording stations were placed at equal azimuths at the 10 m range, and the remaining six were placed at equal azimuths at the 30 m range.

STOCHASTIC DETERMINISTIC CLASSIFICATION TOOLS AND DATA ANALYSIS

One approach to quantify the observed variation in the data sets is to compute the coherency between station pairs in a manner analogous to that employed by McLaughlin et al. (1983). The coherency is defined by

$$\gamma_{xy}(\omega) = \frac{|\phi_{xy}(\omega)|}{(\phi_{xx}(\omega) + \phi_{yy}(\omega))^{1/2}}$$

where $\hat{\Phi}_{xx}(\omega)$ is the cross-power spectrum. $\hat{\Phi}_{xx}(\omega)$, $\hat{\Phi}_{yx}(\omega)$ are the power spectra of the two time series, and ω is the circular frequency. As is well known, smoothing must be applied to the spectra prior to estimation of the coherency in order to minimize variances at each frequency. For the coherency estimates computed here, a 4-point lag window was applied to the spectra prior to estimation of the coherency factors.

Coherencies were computed between the 0° data and each of the other recording stations. The time windows used were 128 samples or 0.64 sec in length. This length window encompasses all of the wave train. At this relatively short range, it is effectively impossible to separate the various components of the waveform.

The computed coherencies for the station pairs are shown in Figure 8. The coherence factors for the vertical and radial components arc higher than might be intuitively expected after examination of the spectral plots in Figure 4. However, as Smith *et al.* (1982) point out, the coherency will be unity when the signals at two stations are related by any linear transfer function, so the coherence function is not a direct estimator of the variation of amplitude across an array.

Based upon the results of the coherency analysis, an alternate approach for analysis of the data was taken. The set of amplitude spectra of the azimuthal observations was treated as a statistical ensemble. An example of this technique applied to the ART 2 data is shown in Figure 9. The mean and variance of the spectral ensemble were calculated as shown assuming a log-normal distribution. These figures illustrate μ (the mean) and $\mu \pm \sigma$ (the mean ± 1 s.d.) for the vertical, radial, and transverse data from ART 2. The vertical and radial data show small standard deviations between 5 and 30 Hz. Beyond 35 Hz, the width of the deviation band increases until at 40 Hz the expected scatter in the Fourier modulus is 8 dB or greater. The transverse motions, on the other hand, show at least 8 dB scatter throughout the entire frequency band; although the overall mean amplitude is reduced about 10 dB from the radial and vertical amplitude levels.

The lack of coherence below 5 Hz on all components has several possible sources. This effect was first thought to be due to signal-induced tilts in the accelerometers. Integration of the acceleration traces and subsequent attempts to correct the resulting velocity and displacement records did not significantly change the estimates. It is likely that aliasing and or noise is the cause of this low-frequency incoherence. The amplitude level in this region is very low relative to the higher frequencies. Even a sm⁻¹ amount of aliased energy would significantly affect the apparent coherence — this region which is well below the corner frequency of the 5-th source. At higher frequencies, the — hased energy level is insignificant relative to the amplitude of the direct source energy.

Another measure of the data scatter in the frequency domain is the coefficient of variation (CV) (Bethea *et al.*, 1985). The CV is the ratio of the standard de-

viation to the mean ($CV=\frac{\sigma}{\mu}$) . CVs for the ART 2 spectra are given in Figure

10. For ART 2, the CV on the radial and vertical components increases with frequency (CV < 0.5 from 5 to 39 Hz), the transverse component CV remains
COHERENCE WITH O" DATA



FIG. 8. Computed coherencies for ART 2.

approximately constant at a relatively high level (>0.5) across all frequencies, suggesting that the transverse component is uncorrelated at all frequencies. By way of contrast, Figure 11 shows the very low values of the CV between 5 and 60 Hz for the radial and vertical components of the Huddle (ART 19) test. The advantage of the CV as an estimator of the data scatter across the array is that all stations in the array may be used in the single estimate as opposed to only a pair of stations in the coherence estimate.

Amplitude spectra of the vertical acceleration waveforms recorded at the 0^{\circ} azimuth for all five of the ART II pit shots are compared in Figure 12. The sets of spectra recorded at the other azimuths and the other components are similar in character to the 0^{\circ} vertical test. The four pit shot spectra are quite similar in shape and amplitude, while the *in situ* shot spectrum exhibits a shape which is



Fig. 9. The mean μ) solid line) and the mean \pm -1 s d, (μ \pm) σ) (dotted lines) -1047









FIG. 11. Spectral CV curves for the vertical and radial components of the Huddle test.



VERTICAL

FIG. 12. Comparison of vertical acceleration spectra for the five shots of the ART II series.

similar to that of the pit shot spectra, but higher in amplitude for almost all frequencies. Two of the pit shots are almost identical in the frequency domain: pit shots 3 and 4 also group closely together over most of the frequency band. The greatest change in amplitude from shot to shot occurs in the 30 to 35 Hz region. This area of the spectrum is fairly flat for the *in situ* shot; however, a spectral hole develops for the pit shots which deepens with each successive pit shot. Even though the shape of the source spectrum may change from shot to



IG. 13 Comparison of 10 and 30 m CV curves for ART III-2 1050 shot, which is to be expected since introduction of the backfilled cavity results in more energy lost in cratering, greater attenuation and a larger cavity, the CV should change very little if the source remains cylindrically symmetric for all shots. Figure 10 shows the azimuthal CV plotted as a function of frequency for the vertical, radial, and transverse components, respectively, for all five shots. The normalized standard deviation curves are very similar for all five shots out to the system antialias filter at 70 Hz. The CV curves from ART 2, which was conducted near the pit shot site but on a different test bed, are also plotted in this figure. The change in the CV curves between the two sites is much larger than the variation from shot to shot for the pit shot sequence. The relatively small scatter in the CV curves for the five events of the pit shot sequence (the *in situ* shot plus the four pit shots) suggests that source asyningetry plays an unimportant role in the development of the azimuthal variation in ground motion response.

The ART III-2 (Table 1) shot was designed to determine the degree to which azimuthal variation increases with range from the source. In this test, ground motions were recorded by circular arrays at both the 10 and 30 m ranges. CV plots for the vertical, radial, and transverse spectra for both the 10 and 30 m ranges are given in Figure 13. These results support the contention that the CV increases with range.

RELATION OF OBSERVED AZIMUTHAL VARIABILITY TO TEST SITE GEOLOGY

The tests discussed in this paper were conducted at the same test site in the Rio Grande Valley south of Albuquerque, New Mexico. The subsurface geology consists of dry alluvium down to the water table at a depth of approximately 75 m. The site lies in a small shallow basin which in earlier times contained a playa. In general, the site is underlain by unconsolidated eolian sands, alluvium, and lacustrine deposits 15 to 30 m thick. Beneath this material are the tertiary Santa Fe and Galisteo formations, 180 to 300 m thick (Bedsun, 1983). A typical near-surface *P*-wave velocity section is shown in Figure 14 (Stump and Reinke, 1982).



FIG. 14. Generalized geologic cross-section of McCormick Ranch.

Near-surface deposits are fairly variable with intermittent caliche beds present. Trenching at other test sites in the area has revealed discontinuous subsurface caliche beds typically on the order of 0.5 to 1.0 m in thickness (Stump and Reinke, 1982). In an effort to quantify the nature of the subsurface variability at the ART 2 test site, 18 boreholes were drilled within the confines of the test bed (as shown in Figure 15). Each borehole was drilled to depth of 6.1 m. Standard penetration tests were performed in each hole. The standard penetration test involves determining the number of hammer blows required to drive a sampling tube a unit distance. This blow count is related to the *in situ* density and compressive strength of the subsurface material (Terzaghi and Peck, 1967). Figure 16 displays the blow counts per meter for each borehole down to the 6 m depth. Figure 15 contains isopach maps showing the lateral distribution of the areas of similar blow counts as a function of depth.

A thorough understanding of the physical processes responsible for the observed azimuthal variability in the ART 2 test requires that a quantitative relationship be established between the subsurface material property information and the observed ground motion characteristics. Aki and Richards (1980) present such a relationship. Following Chernov (1960), they characterize the statistical nature of geologic media by the autocorrelation of the velocity fluctuation.

PENETRATION TEST - ARTS



Fig. 15. Layout of boreholes within the ART 2 test bed and isopach map of blow counts

STOCHASTIC GEOLOGIC EFFECTS IN ALLUVIUM



DEPTH (METERS)

FIG. 16. Plots of blow counts versus depth (data points from all 18 boreholes are included.)

For $\mu = -\delta C C_0$, where C_0 = velocity, the normalized autocorrelation function is defined by

$$N(r) = \langle \mu(r') \cdot \mu(r' + r) \rangle / \langle \mu^2 \rangle$$

where r denotes position.

Two statistical distributions are considered

- 1. the exponential distribution: $N(r) = e^{-r a}$
- 2. the Gaussian distribution: $N(r) = e^{-r^2 \cdot a^2}$.

The quantity a is the measure of scale length of the medium inhomogeneity called the correlation distance.

Once a medium is described statistically in terms of N(r), then the Born scattering approximation may be used to determine the strength of the scattering as a function of frequency for the medium. The Born approximation assumes that the primary waves are unchanged by propagation through a scattering medium so that energy conservation is violated. Only single scattering is considered. Following Aki and Richards (1980), the ratio of scattered energy to total energy is given as follows

$$\delta I/I = 8\langle \mu^2 \rangle \cdot k^4 \cdot a^3 \cdot L$$
 for $ka < 1$, and
 $\delta I/I = 2\langle \mu^2 \rangle \cdot k^2 \cdot a \cdot L$ for $ka > 1$

where $\delta I/I$ is the ratio of scattered energy to the total energy carried by the wave, $\langle \mu^2 \rangle$ is the average of the square of the velocity pertubation, k is the wavenumber, a is the scale length or correlation distance of the medium, and L is the length of the travel path.

Making the assumption that there is a linear correlation between the blow count value at a particular point and the *P*-wave velocity at the same point, we shall attempt to relate the observed azimuthal variability in the ART 2 data with the blow count data using the scattering theory discussed previously. The mean was computed for the set of blow count data for all of the holes. This yields a mean value of 50 blows/0.30 m. This value was treated as C_0 in the scattering equations. The autocorrelation function was then computed of the following ratio: $(BC_i - \overline{BC})/\overline{BC}$, where BC_i is the individual blow count value, and \overline{BC} is the mean value of all blow counts. The autocorrelation functions were computed separately for each hole.

Values of the autocorrelation functions of the blow count data for all of the holes are plotted in Figure 17. Also plotted in Figure 17 are several theoretical autocorrelation functions for different values of the correlation length a, for both the Gaussian and exponential distributions. Based on examination of these plots, the theoretical distribution function which best fits the data is apparently an exponential function with a scale length between 2.0 and 3.0 m. This scale length applies, of course, only to the vertical distribution of inhomogeneities. The horizontal inhomogeneity scale length could well be different in character. The horizontal spacing of the boreholes (≈ 6.7 m) is much too wide to allow any sort of reasonable estimate of the horizontal scale length. (This spacing yields a Nyquist wavelength of 13.4 m.)

Using the Born equations, the ratio of scattered energy to total energy $(\delta I \cdot I_i)$ was computed for the ART 2 test bed using several values of the inhomogeneity scale length as shown in the plots in Figure 18. The $ka \ll 1$ case is appropriate for most of the frequency-scale length combinations under consideration here. The $ka \ge 1$ case is appropriate for scale lengths greater than 2 m in the higher frequency region (>20 Hz). Both curves indicate that, for scale lengths of 2.0 to 3.0 m, significant ($\delta I T > 0.10$) scattering begins near 10 Hz. Significant scattering in the ART z test data occurs above 30 to 35 Hz (Figure 4). There are several possibilities for this apparent poor correlation: (1) the Born approximation is valid only for small values of scattered energy; (2) the autocorrelation function which was derived pertains only to the vertical distribution of inhomogeneity and thus the scale length which is appropriate for the overall propagation medium could be considerably different from 2.0 to 3.0 m; (3) a finer spatial sampling of the near surface blow count values might well yield a smaller scale length; and (4) the assumed correlation between blow count data and P-wave velocity may be incorrect.

To determine the effect of varying the scale length upon the theoretical scattered energy, $\delta I/I$ as a function of frequency was computed for correlation lengths of 1.0, 0.5, and 0.25 m (Figure 18). For these scale lengths, the frequency at which scattering becomes significant is in the 25 to 30 Hz region. This result, particularly the 0.5 curve, correlates much better with the observed threshold of amplitude fluctuation in the ART 2 test. A correlation scale length in the neighborhood of 0.5 to 1.0 m is also not unreasonable in light of the results of the "Huddle" test (ART 19) in which all of the instrumentation was placed in a group approximately 1 m in width (Figure 5). Examination of the spectra from this test



2

0.000

0



4



DEPTH (METERS)

Fig. 17. Experimental autocorrelation function compared with Gaussian and exponential auto-correlation functions. The lines on the plot are the theoretical autocorrelation functions. The exper-imental autocorrelation functions from all holes are represented by data points, spt = standard mental autocorrelation functions. penetration test.

1055



e



Fig. 18 Plot of scattered energy as a function of frequency for different scale lengths.

in Figure 6 reveals that the spectra of the endmost instruments separated by a distance of approximately 1 m begin to diverge, whereas the spectra from instruments spaced more closely correlate very well. Shallow trenching in the general test site area suggests that a typical caliche bed thickness is on the order of 0.5 to 1.0 m, although a typical lateral extent may be slightly greater (Stump and Reinke, 1982).

This simple forward model indicates that the azimuthal variability in the ART 2 data can be explained with a scattering model based upon the Born approximation. The implication is that the particular standard penetration test array did not properly characterize the appropriate scale length due to inadequate horizontal or vertical spatial sampling, since blow count values were obtained by counting the number of blows required to drive the sampling tube a distance of 0.6 m. This sample interval yields a Nyquist wavelength of 1.2 m.

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

The results of the ART experiments have shown, at least for this particular alluvial test site, that the predominant cause of azimuthal variation in ground motion response is inhomogeneity in near-surface geologic material rather than very near-source asymmetry. Considering that this particular site in general is thought to have a fairly uniform near-surface geologic composition, the degree of azimuthal variation observed from these small tests is fairly remarkable. Experiments of this type should be performed at several sites to further constrain the relationship between the spectral CV and the variation in the geologic structure. Such surveys will aid greatly in the interpretation and understanding of ground motion data from small-scale field tests. It is clear that, for a small-scale test performed at the ART 2 site, deterministic interpretations of the data cannot be made above the 30 to 35 Hz region. CV surveys could also place limitations upon the interpretation of near-source, regional, and teleseismic measurements of earthquakes and explosions made at a single point. These surveys may be useful in explaining the lack of coherence between individual station pairs in small seismic arrays, such as the Pinon Flat array (Vernon et al., 1985).

In this study, an initial attempt was made at relating the available subsurface information at the ART 2 site with the observed waveform variation in the test. This attempt was not very successful, probably due to insufficient spatial resolution of the subsurface sampling performed. Forward modeling argues that the scale lengths which are present in the ART 2 test bed are perhaps on the order of 0.5 to 1.0 m rather than 2.0 to 3.0 m, as determined from the autocorrelation of the standard penetration test blow count data. Use of other sampling techniques, such as the seismic cone penetrometer test (in which the force necessary to drive a rod into the ground is measured and a geophone in the rod tip is used to perform a velocity sur ey), could enable much finer spatial resolution to be obtained both horizontally and vertically, allowing a greatly improved characterization of the random properties of the medium.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Funding for these experiments was provided by the Air Force Weapons Laboratory Independent Research Program under Projects ILIR8207 and ILIR8414. Additional support was provided by The Air Force Office of Scientific Research through Grant AFOSR-84-0016 to Southern Methodist University.

ROBERT E. REINKE AND BRIAN W. STUMP

REFERENCES

Aki, K. and P. Richards (1980). Quantitative Seismology: Theory and Methods, W. H. Freeman and Company, San Francisco, California, 2 volumes, 932 pp.

Bedsun, D. (1983). Summary of geotechnical testing and material models for subsurface soil conditions at McCormick Ranch, Kirtland AFB, New Mexico, Letter Report, NMERI 7.11-TA7-20.

Bethea, R., B. Duran, and T. Boullian (1985). Statistical Methods for Engineers and Scientists, Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, 698 pp.

Chernov, L. (1960). Wave Fropagation in a Random Medium, McGraw-Hill, New York, 168 pp

McLaughlin, K., L. Johnson, and T. McEvilly (1983). Two-dimensional array measurements of nearsource ground accelerations, Bull. Seism. Soc. Am. 73, 349-376.

Smith, S. W., J. Ehrenberg, and E. Hernandez (1982). Analysis of the El Centro differential array for the 1979 Imperial Valley Earthquake, Bull. Seism. Soc. Am. 72, 237-258.

Stump, B. and R. Reinke (1982). Spall-like waveforms observed in high explosive testing in alluvium, AFWL TR-82-15, Air Force Weapons Laboratory, Kirtland Air Force Base, New Mexico, 122 pp.

Stump, B. and R. Reinke (1982). Spall-like waveforms observed in high explosive testing in alluvium, AFWL TR-82-15. Air Force Weapons Laboratory, Kirtland Air Force Base, New Mexico, 122 pp.

Stump, B. and R. Reinke (1987) Experimental confirmation of superposition from small-scale explosions, Bull. Seism. Soc. Am. 78, 1059-1073.

Terzaghi, K. and R. Peck (1967). Soil Mechanics in Engineering Practice, John Wiley and Sons, New York, 729 pp.

Vernon, F., J. Fletcher, L. Haar, T. Bolswick, E. Sembera, and J. Brune (1985). Spatial coherence of body waves from local earthquakes recorded on a small aperture array (abstract), EOS, Trans. Am. Geophys. Union 66, 954.

AIR FORCE WEAPONS LABORATORY NTESG KIRTLAND AIR FORCE BASE, NEW MEXICO 87117-6008 (R.E.R.)

Manuscript received 4 February 1987

SOUTHERN METHODIST UNIVERSITY DEPARTMENT OF GEOLOGICAL SCIENCES DALLAS, TEXAS 75275 (B.W.S.)

EXPERIMENTAL CONFIRMATION OF SUPERPOSITION FROM SMALL-SCALE EXPLOSIONS

By BRIAN W. STUMP AND ROBERT E. REINKE

ABSTRACT

An *in situ* experimental program in alluvium is implemented and analyzed to test linear superposition. After separating stochastic and deterministic propagation path effects, direct superposition is experimentally validated at 20 m for two 5-lb charges spaced as close as 2 m in alluvium. The charges are separated by the scaled range of 147 m/kt¹⁻³ and observed at the scaled range of 1470 m/kt¹⁻³. Finite-spatial source effects are observed and simulated in the plane passing through two charges separated by 2 to 10 m. The deterministic single-burst waveforms are used to model the multiple-burst data. The effects observed and simulated include direct superposition below the corner frequency, shift to lower corner frequency with increasing charge separation, and spectral scalloping. For charges closely spaced (up to 4 m, observed at 20 and 24 m), the primary effect on the waveforms. For charges spaced by 10 m (observed at 20 and 30 m), the effects of propagation path differences must be included. These effects result in smoothed spectra.

INTRODUCTION

The effect of finite sources on radiated wave fields has received considerable attention from the earthquake source community. Such work has increased the understanding of source phenomenology while improving the ability to estimate ground motions from broad classes of earthquake sources. Finite-explosive ar ay effects have received far less attention within the seismological literature.

The primary focus of this study is the investigation of finite-spatial source effects from chemical explosions. In particular, the interaction of determinist rand stochastic wave propagations with the source characterization problem wilbe discussed. Evidence supporting linear superposition will be shown. The assumption of linear superposition leads to a predictive capability.

Spatial arrays of chemical explosions are used in a number of different fields. The mining industry uses arrays of explosives in both open-pit and subsurface excavation. The spatial distribution of charges and timing of their detonation are used to control the extent of material excavated, the size of the rubble, and the far-field ground motion levels (Bergman *et al.*, 1974; Hagan and Just, 1974; Winzer, 1978). The majority of work in this area has dealt with laboratory and field data, resulting in the development of practical relationships for explosive array design (Winzer and Ritter, 1980; Winzer *et al.*, 1981; Anderson *et al.*, 1982). Little theoretical work or numerical modeling of these effects has been completed. This type of investigation has not been necessary, since the properly scaled experiments in the materials of interest can be conducted.

The second area where arrays of explosives are employed is in the simulation of ground motions from earthquakes (Bleisweis, 1973; Higgins *et al.*, 1978). Although data from natural events are available, the recurrence interval of great earthquakes has retarded the development of adequate natural data sets. Where site-specific data are required and the historical data base is absent, explosive simulation of earthquake environments may help refine loads on engineering structures.

Since the onset of the above ground test ban treaty, the utilization of high explosive arrays in simulating ground motion environments from nuclear explosions has been the only way to exercise engineering structures (Cooper, 1970). These studies have focused upon regions where the stress-strain relations are apparently nonlinear. The spatial and temporal dimensions of the source are adjusted to produce motion environments with prescribed amplitudes and pulse widths.

In each of the three previous applications of explosive arrays, the focus has been upon the near-source wave field. The radiated energy from these explosive arrays in the far-field is of interest to the community responsible for discriminating earthquakes from explosions. In the advent of a comprehensive test ban treaty, one would have to be able to discriminate between a mining blast which might be as large as several hundred thousand pounds of explosives and a lowyield nuclear explosion. Quantification of the effects of arrays of chemical explosions may aid in this discrimination. Preliminary work in this area has been completed by Greenhalgh (1980). A complete understanding of the problem relies upon relating the near-source models and data to the far-field environment.

The investigation of superposition from *in situ* experiments is of interest as it relates to the intermediate stress level response of the media. The distance at which the transition from linear to nonlinear response occurs has been questioned by a number of investigators (Trulio, 1978; Larson, 1982; Minster and Day, 1986). Larson (1982) reports that linear superposition holds in the plane of symmetry from two small charges in salt in the laboratory (range of 168 m/kt^{1/3}).

The approach to finite-explosive arrays reported here relies on a characterization of the single-burst ground motion. The specific quantification used is from Reinke and Stump (1987), referred to as Paper I. In that work, the single burst is experimentally quantified, with consideration given to source symmetry, propagation path, and scattering. The wave field is experimentally divided into a deterministic and stochastic component, with the deterministic component utilized in predictions. Practically, the single-burst quantification is completed in both the time and frequency domains, yielding mean and variance estimates.

The single-burst source quantification is used to test for linear superposition with multiple-burst experimental data. This model is used to explore finite-spatial source effects in the observational data base.

EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN AND IMPLEMENTATION

The experiments are summarized in Figure 1. The 5-lb charges were placed in 1.22 m holes with a diameter of 0.15 m. Charges were placed at the bottom of the hole. The holes were then backfilled with sand.

Force-balance accelerometers were used as sensors. The three components (housed in a single case) were oriented in the radial (positive away), transverse (positive clockwise), and vertical (positive up) directions with respect to the source. The case was buried in the alluvium so that its top was flush with the free surface. Paper I reports the good coherence between 1 and 70 Hz observed when all instruments were placed side-by-side in a Huddle test. The accelerometer outputs were passed through a 12-bit analog to digital converter in the field and recorded on cassette tape with a sample rate of 200 samples sec. A fivepole antialias filter was placed at 70 Hz.

EXPERIMENTAL LAYOUT





The test site was chosen for its apparent homogeneity and consisted of dry alluvium. Further discussion of its properties are given in Paper I.

As reported in Paper I, a number of single-burst experiments were conducted to characterize the source and media with offsets between 10 and 30 m. The finitesource data focused upon the two explosion cases, since this data can be used to constrain the basic characteristics of source interaction. As Figure 1 illustrates, charge separation was varied between 2 and 10 m at 2 m increments. The proximity of the charges to the free surface (1.22 m) resulted in significant venting to the free surface at detonation and the formation of craters. Ground motion from the airblast arrival was not perceptible in the data due to the 1.22 m source burial depth. Crater diameters are given as the solid lines bounding the charge locations in Figure 1 and were typically near 2 m. ARTS 3 produced a single, elongated crater since the lateral charge separation was only 2 m.

Gauge arrays for the two explosion tests can be separated into two categories. The first set of gauges (primary or center) were placed at right angles to the plane passing through the charges. These gauge lines intersected either the midpoint between the two charges (center) or one of the charges (primary) and were emplaced to check direct superposition. The second set of gauges (secondary) were placed in the plane of the charges, and thus the effects of source finiteness were

BRIAN W. STUMP AND ROBERT E REINKE

maximized by the travel path and time differences between the two sources (Figure 1).

SUMMARY OF SINGLE-BURST CHARACTERIZATION

In order to check linear superposition and quantify the effects of spatial finiteness, the single explosion source and wave propagation to a variety of distances must be quantified. ARTS 2 in Figure 1 is one such test designed to quantify the single source and propagation. A complete discussion of the single source is given in Paper I. The time-domain records from ARTS 2 are given in Figure 2. When the records are low-pass filtered at 30 Hz, they appear identical to one another. The high-pass filtered records show significant variation above 40 Hz. A variety of tests were conducted and reported in Paper I to quantify the cause of these high-frequency amplitude variations. Strong evidence supported scattering within the geological media as the cause of this variation.

This realization led to the calculation of mean and variance estimates for the waveforms from a single explosion. Figure 3 is the mean ± 1 s.d. spectra for the 20 m range from the single burst. Figure 4 is a similar representation, but in the time domain.

ARTS 2 VERTICAL (ACC)



Fig. 2. The vertical acceleration records from ARTS 2. All gauges are at 20 m, and azimuths range from 0 to 288° Unfiltered, low-pass filtered (30 Hz), and high-pass filtered (40 Hz) accelerograms are given





Fig. 3. The mean (dark line) and mean ± 1 s.d. (dotted line) spectral estimate from the 20 m records of ARTS 2. The vertical (a), radial (b), and transverse (c) acceleration spectra are given.



ARTS 2



Fig. 4. The mean (solid line) and mean \pm 1 s.d. (dotted line) time-domain estimates for ARTS 2.

The ensemble estimates for the spectra show small variances between 3 and 35 Hz for the 20 m range. Beyond this "coherent frequency," the scatter with azimuth in the data becomes large as exemplified in the bandpass seismograms of Figure 2. The 20 m data exhibit 8 dB scatter at 40 Hz.

As reported in Paper I, a series of tests were conducted to separate the effects of gauges, gauge placement, source asymmetry, and propagation path on the high-frequency data. The variation in the data was attributed to the geological media. Therefore, the deterministic part of the wave field is defined as the azimuthally symmetric data below 35 Hz.

SUPERPOSITION

The single-burst ensemble spectral estimates are used to check the applicability of linear superposition by direct comparison to the multiple-burst data from ARTS 3 and 7 (Figure 1). The first quantification of these effects considers the case where each source is equidistant from the charge; thus, time delays between the two sources are nonexistent. The primary and center gauge lines are used to check for superposition. Comparisons between the ensemble estimates and the data will be reported only for the 20 m range. Similar conclusions follow from the analysis of data at the 30 m range.

Based upon the 3 to 35 Hz coherent bandwidth from the 20 m ensemble estimates, this frequency band is chosen to check superposition. For completeness, all frequencies between 1 and 100 Hz are displayed in the plots. The criterion chosen to test for superposition is that the multiple-burst data fall within ± 1 s.d. of the ensemble estimate of the multiple-burst environment. Since the stochastic component of the wave field leads to large variances beyond 35 Hz, the criterion is not robust beyond this frequency. Within the coherent bandwidth, the ± 1 s d. bounds are 3 to 4 dB for the Z component and 4 to 5 dB for the R component. The variability in the geological structure limits checks on superposition to within these bounds when *in situ* measurements are made.

The 20 m ensemble estimate of the superposed spectra with variances is compared to the primary and center gauges for ARTS 3 and 7 in Figure 5. The vertical observational data compare well with the superposed spectra between 3 to 35 Hz. Comparison of the predicted spectra with the observations from ARTS 4 (Figure 1) led to similar conclusions. Each test bed was displaced approximately 30 m from the previous test so that between ARTS 2 (used to make single-source ensemble estimates) and ARTS 7, the test bed was displaced by 150 m. Subtle changes in the geology over these scale lengths may explain the systematic changes in the multiple-burst spectra.

The conclusion to be drawn from this analysis is that, within the variance of the multiple-source estimate, superposition holds for 5-lb charges 20 m from the receiver over the frequency band of 3 to 35 Hz. This includes two charges spaced as close as 2 m where individual craters overlap. Larson (1982) reports superposition in laboratory salt validated for two charges separated by 168 m/kt^{1/3} from the observer. In these *in situ* results, superposition is validated within the data scatter (3 to 35 Hz) for two charges separated by 147 m/kt^{1/3} at an observation range of 1470 m/kt^{1/3}.

These results can be compared qualitatively with the reduced displacement potential predicted from the Mueller-Murphy (1971) scaling relation. Figure 6 gives the reduced displacement potential for 5- and 10-lb explosions, respectively.



Fig. 5 (a) Predicted and observed acceleration spectra for ARTS 3, with 5-lb charges separated by 2 m (b) Predicted and observed acceleration spectra for ARTS 7, with 5-lb charges separated by 10 m.

The source corner frequency is between 6 and 9 Hz, remarkably close to what one would estimate from the acceleration spectra (Figures 3 and 4). The model predicts that below the corner that a single charge of 10 lb will nearly match twice the 5-lb result. Above the corner frequency, the single 10-lb charge will not reach twice the 5-lb result. The critical region in the data for testing superposition falls between 10 and 35 Hz at the 20 m range. The exact location of this band is subject to some error, since the Mueller-Murphy (1971) scaling relations were developed for nuclear sources of much greater yields. The critical point is that the principle region of interest for checking superposition is beyond the source corner. The experimental results in Figure 5 support strict superposition well beyond the source corner.

1066

MUELLER - MURPHY SOURCE



FIG. 6. The displacement spectra from a Mueller-Murphy source model for 5 and 10 lb of explosives.

RESOLUTION OF SPATIAL FINITENESS

In an attempt to characterize the finite-spatial effects of the multi-burst environment, synthetics are compared to data recorded in the plane of the linear array of sources (Figure 1, secondary lines). The predictions are made using mean seismograms constructed from data such as that generated in the ARTS 2 experiment (Figure 4).

These mean seismograms are computed +y time aligning the direct P wave from each observation and then computing a mean. The 20 m seismogram from the ARTS 2 experiment along with its ± 1 s.d. bound is given in Figure 4. The mean radial and vertical accelerograms show little scatter, while the transverse component has standard deviations comparable to the mean. This observation is in agreement with the coherent nature of the radial and vertical motions between 3 and 35 Hz, and the large scatter for all frequencies of the transverse motion. Since the deterministic component of the wave field is of primary interest in the superposition study, the transverse motion will not be considered.

When two sources are displaced from a receiver at different distances, the following effects occur: (1) a change in arrival time of the radiated energy for one source relative to the other; and (2) a change in the waveform shape, since one contribution has traveled a greater distance than the other. If the receiver to charge separation is large relative to the spacing of the two charges, one may neglect the change in wave shape for the two charges. This case is investigated first by superposing the mean seismograms from Figure 4, with an appropriate delay time for charge separation. The delay time becomes

$$T_D = X_{12}/v$$

where X_{12} is the difference in length of the two propagation paths, and v is the velocity of the media. The material at the test site has typical near-surface velocities ranging from 244 to 366 m/sec. These values, coupled with charge sep-

BRIAN W. STUMP AND ROBERT E. REINKE

aration of 2 to 10 m, led to consideration of time delays of 5 to 40 msec. The timedomain results of this delay and sum procedure are given in Figure 7. Qualitative analysis of these results show constructive interference for the direct-arriving body waves for short delay times (5 msec), with destructive interference leading to complex waveforms for delays between 15 and 30 msec. For delay times greater than 30 msec, one can observe the individual body waves from the two sources. The surface waves (which arrive at 200 msec) show a gradual decay in amplitude over all delay times. The 40 msec delay yields a peak amplitude which is 60 per cent of the 5 msec delay. When the delay times between the two sources are small compared to the single-burst pulse width, constructive interference occurs while complex waveforms with reduced amplitudes are predicted for delay times comparable to the pulse width from the single source. Amplitude changes as a function of delay time for these synthetics are summarized in Figure 8.

The frequency-domain representation of the superposed waveforms more explicitly exhibits the constructive-destructive interference. The superposed acceleration spectra are compared against the single-burst mean observation in Figure 9. As quantified by Pilant and Knopoff (1964), spectral modulation is given by

$\cos(\omega T_D/2)$

where ω is the angular frequency of interest.

Four qualitative observations of the multi-burst spectra are made: (1) the low-



FIG. 7 Vertical accelerations from two explosions using the time-domain mean seismogram from ARTS 2 and summing with an identical record delayed in time between 5 and 40 msec.



Fig. 8. Peak acceleration amplitudes of the superposed seismograms given in Figure 7 plotted against delay time between the two sources. All amplitudes are relative to peak amplitude for the simulation with a 5 msec delay.

SUPERPOSITION 20m Z



Fig. 9. The spectral estimates of the superposed accelerations given in Figure 7.

frequency level of all spectra are identical, reflecting constructive superposition; (2) the point that the spectra diverge from the long-period level occurs at lower frequencies with increasing time delays; (3) large spectral holes are observed as predicted with the frequency-domain spacing decreasing with increasing time delay between sources; and (4) return to constructive interference occurs between holes.

These results assume no change in Green's functions or propagation path effects as the charge separation increases. The validity of this assumption can be checked against the multi-burst observational data (Figure 1). The secondary gauge lines in the plane of the charge array yield the necessary data.

The secondary gauge data for ARTS 4 and prediction utilizing the 20 m mean data (15 msec delay) is given in Figure 10. The prediction closely replicates the observational data, including the large spectral hole at 32 Hz. Although the observation and the superposition diverge above 35 Hz (the coherent bandwidth), the variation is small. Since the variation discussed in Paper I was attributed to intermittent caliche lenses, one might hypothesize that these lenses were not as prevalent near the ARTS 4 site. The 15 msec delay time represents a propagation velocity of 266 m/sec between the two closely spaced charges. This velocity is near the surface wave velocity, suggesting the surface wave contribution is dominant. Over these close ranges, Green's functions change slowly, and the primary effect on the superposed waveforms is a time delay.

For event 7, the 20 m secondary observation is 20 and 30 m from the two charges. The change in propagation path effects for the 20 and 30 m ranges were dramatic enough that successful prediction required the use of mean seismograms from single bursts observed at 20 and 30 m, respectively. The 30 m mean seismogram was calculated in the same manner as that for the 20 m given in Figure 4. Figure 11 displays the prediction and observation for event 7. The spectral nulls are more closely spaced than in the ARTS 4 data, representative of the 25 msec arrival time difference. Due to the change in propagation path between the two sources, the spectral nulls are not as pronounced as those observed when two identical waveforms are superposed.



FIG. 10. The predicted superposition spectra for two charges at 20 and 24 m (ARTS 4—secondary) compared to the data and superposition with no delay time (mean).

1071





There are three propagation effects which lead to the necessity of including mean seismograms from each of the two sources in ARTS 7: (1) a change in $t_s - t_p$ time; (2) geometrical spreading effects; and (3) attenuation. A simple analysis of these effects can explain the success of the ARTS 4 superposition using the 20 m mean seismograms and the failure of ARTS 7 utilizing only the 20 m waveforms. Taking the near-surface velocities as $V_p = 366$ m/sec, $V_s = 244$ m/sec (Stump and Reinke, 1982) the $t_s - t_p$ time differences are 0.005 sec for ARTS 4 and 0.014 sec for ARTS 7. The 0.005 sec change is one sample interval in the observational data and corresponds to a 31° phase shift at 17 Hz and a 63° phase shift at 35 Hz. For ARTS 7, the phase shift is 86° at 17 Hz and 176° at 35 Hz. The phase shifts for ARTS 7 are dramatic enough to jeopardize the single waveform superposition procedure. At higher frequencies, the ARTS 4 results should also deteriorate.

Geometrical spreading will lead to amplitude differences from the two sources which are not accounted for in the single seismogram superposition. Experimental determination of geometrical decay rates for this test site give $r^{-1.6}$ for the body waves and $r^{-0.5}$ for the surface waves (Stump, 1983). For ARTS 4, with charges at 20 and 24 m, the ratio of body wave amplitudes from the two ranges is predicted to be 0.75, while the ratio for the surface wave amplitudes is 0.93. Similar calculations for ARTS 7 give the body wave ratio as 0.54 and the surfacewave ratio as 0.82. These calculations indicate that, at least for the body waves, the single range superposition procedure for ARTS 7 is inadequate.

Finally, the effect of attenuation (Q) must be quantified. The range of Q values for the dry alluvium environment can be bounded between 10 and 40 (Flynn, 1986). The simple exponential Q model $e^{-2\pi ft \cdot Q}$, where f is the frequency and tis the shear arrival time, was developed to quantify these effects for the 3 to 35 Hz band. The 24 to 20 m ratios show only moderate Q effects even at the highest frequencies and smallest Q. The 30 to 20 m ratios give a value of 0.63 for Q =10 and f = 35 Hz. Although Q effects are less dramatic than the phase shifts and geometrical spreading terms, they may become significant for ARTS 7, if the Q value of 10 is tal.en.

CONCLUSIONS

The series of small-scale explosive experiments tested the applicability of linear superposition in the near-field. The study has shown that one must separate stochastic and deterministic propagation path effects from the single-burst wave field prior to testing for superposition. Once this process has been completed (Paper I), then superposition is verified as the two burst wave fields fall within \pm 1 s.d. of the ensemble estimate (3 to 35 Hz). Thus, superposition is supported for two, 5-lb charges spaced as close as 2 m (147 m/kt^{1/3}). Comparison with the Mueller-Murphy source function for 5 and 10 lb shows that superposition must be checked above the corner frequency.

Finite-spatial source effects are experimentally quantified by recording data in the plane of the two charges. These finite effects in the near-field include: (1) a rise in long-period spectral values that match direct superpositon; (2) lowering of corner frequency with increased source separation; and (3) spectral scalloping at high frequencies. Comparison of superposed ensemble spectra (time delayed) show that, when travel-time differences between the two sources are the primary effects in the observed wavefield, then the observed data are replicated, which include large interference holes in the spectra. As propagation path differences between the two charges result in waveform changes, the superposition procedure can be applied using separate ensemble estimates for each range. The resulting waveforms again match the observations. Interference holes that were so prevalent when only source delay time was present (RTS 4) are not as well defined when wave shape changes due to propagation are present in the superposition (ARTS 7). These propagation effects were quantified with the change in $t_s - t_p$ from the two charges leading to large phase shifts for ARTS 7. Differences in geometrical spreading and Q for the two charges in ARTS 7 were important, although not as strong.

Utilizing the principles of superposition as applied to the deterministic portion of the wave field, a procedure has been developed which can be used to predict waveforms from arrays of explosives. This procedure assumes that the singleburst environment has been characterized and may require the environment to be quantified at a number of ranges when arrival time differences, geometrical spreading differences, and attenuation differences are important. The effect of arrival time and attenuation differences with frequency.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This project was supported by the Air Force Office of Scientific Research through Grant AFOSR-84-0016 to Southern Methodist University. Funding for the experiments was provided by the Air Force Weapons Laboratory Independent Research Program under Projects ILIR8207 and ILIR8414.

REFERENCES

- Bergman, O. R., F. C. Wu, and J. W. Edl (1974) Model rock blasting measures effects of delays and hole pattern on rock fragmentation, *Eng. Mining J.* 175, 124-127.
- Bleisweis, S. R. (1973). Simulation of strong motion earthquake effects on structures using explosive blasts, *Nuclear Eng. Design* 25, 126-149.
- Cooper. H. F. (1970). On the simulation of ground motions produced by nuclear explosions, AFWL-WLC-TN-70-001, Air Force Weapons Laboratory, Kimband Air Force Base, New Mexico.

Flynn, E. C. (1986) Effects of source depth on near source seismograms, M.S. Thesis, Southern Methodist University, Dallas, Texas.

Greenhalgh. S. A. (1980). Effect of delay shooting on the nature of *P*-wave seismograms, *Bull. Seism.* Soc. Am 70, 2037-2050.

- Hagan, T. N. and G. D. Just (1974) Rock breakage by explosives: theory, practice, and optimization. Proc. Third Int. Soc. Rock Mecn. 2, 1349-1358.
- Higgins, C. J., R. L. Johnson, and G. E. Triandafilidis (1978). The simulation of earthquake-like ground motions with high explosives, Report CE-45 (78) NSF-507-1, Department of Civil Engineering, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, New Mexico
- Larson, D. B. (1982). Inelastic wave propagation in sodium chloride, Bull. Seism. Soc. Am. 72, 2107-2130.
- Minster, J. B. and S. M. Day (1986). Decay of wave fields near an explosive source due to high-strain nonlinear attenuation, J. Geophys. Res. 91, 2113-2122.
- Mueller, R. A. and J. R. Murphy (1971). Seismic characteristics of underground nuclear detonations. Part I. seismic scaling law of underground nuclear detonations, *Bull. Seism. Soc. Am.* 61, 1675–1692.
- Pilant, W. L. and L. Knopoff (1964). Observations of multiple seismic events, Bull. Seism. Soc. Am. 54, 19--39.
- Reinke, R. E. and B. W. Stump (1987) Stochastic geologic effects on near-field ground motions in alluvium. Bull. Seism. Soc. Am. 78, 1037-1058.
- Stump, B. W. (1983). Source characterization of bermed surface bursts, Bull. Seism. Soc. Am. 73, 979-1003.
- Stump, B. W. and R. E. Reinke (1982). Spall-like waveforms observed in high-explosive testing in alluvium, AFWL-TR-82-15, Air Force Weapons Laboratory, Kirtland Air Force Base, New Mexico.
- Trulio, J. G. (1978). Simple scaling and nuclear monitoring, Applied Theory, Inc., Report ATR-77-45-2, Los Angeles, California.
- Winzer, S. R. (1978). The firing times of ms delay blasting caps and their effect on blasting performance, Report to the National Science Foundation, Contract DAR-77-05171, Martin Marietta Laboratories, Baltimore, Maryland.
- Winzer, S. R. and A. Ritter (1980). The role of stress waves and discontinuities in rock fragmentation: a study of fragmentation in large limestone blocks, Proc. 21st U.S. Symposium on Rock Mechanics, University of Missouri, Rolla, Missouri, 362–370.
- Winzer, S. R., D. A. Anderson, and A. P. Ritter (1981). Application of fragmentation research to blast design: relationships between blast design for optimum fragmentation and frequency of resultant ground vibration. Proc. 22nd U.S. Symposium on Rock Mechanics, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, Massachusetts 237-241.

SOUTHERN METHODIST UNIVERSITY DEPARTMENT OF GEOLOGICAL SCIENCES DALLAS, TEXAS 75275 (B.W.S.) AIR FORCE WEAPONS LABORATORY NTESG KIRTLAND AIR FORCE BASE, NEW MEXICO 87117-6008 (R.E.R.)

Manuscript received 9 March 1987

